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COSH was first established in 1987. It is a statutory body vested
with functions, as set out in the “Hong Kong Council on Smoking
and Health Ordinance” (Cap. 389), to protect and improve the
health of the community by:

1. Informing and educating the public on the harm of smoking
and its adverse effects on health;

2. Conducting and coordinating research into the cause,
prevention and cure of tobacco dependence;

3. Advising the Government, community health organizations or
any public body on matters relating to smoking and health.

Under such a charter, COSH has taken up the role as an active
player and commentator on all issues relating to tobacco control.
We aim to act within our charter in response to the changing
local environment as it affects the promotion of tobacco and the
epidemic caused by smoking.
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Mr Antonio KWONG, a qualified solicitor, is a
businessman. He joined COSH in 2009 and was
appointed as COSH Chairman in 2014. He is the
Chairman of the Information & Research Committee and
Legislation Committee, Vice-chairman of the Executive
Committee and also a member of the Community
Liaison Committee and Education & Publicity Committee.

EﬂilﬁfVice-chairan h
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Ms Yolanda NG Yuen-ting, MH
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Ms Yolanda NG is a Councilor of Wan Chai District and
actively involved in public services. She joined COSH in
2008 and is the Chairman of the Executive Committee
and Community Liaison Committee and also a member
of the Education & Publicity Committee, Information &
Research Committee and Legislation Committee.
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Ms Ada HO is an entrepreneur, she
founded a social enterprise and non-
profit organization. She joined COSH
in 2014 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Dr Daniel HO is an associate professor
in the School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2017 and is a member of
the Education & Publicity Committee,
Community Liaison Committee and
Information & Research Committee.
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Ms HSU Siu-man is a registered
social worker in youth organization.
She joined COSH in 2014 and is a
member of the Education & Publicity
Committee.
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Dr Cindy LAl is the Deputy Director
of Department of Health from 2012-
2018. She joined COSH as an ex-
officio member in 2012 and is a
member of the Executive Committee.
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Dr George LAM is the Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Hong
Kong Cyberport Management Co
Ltd, a member of the Court of the
City University of Hong Kong and
President of Hong Kong—ASEAN
Economic Cooperation Foundation.
He joined COSH in 2015 and is a
member of the Community Liaison
Committee.
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Dr Susie LUM is the Immediate
Past President of The Hong Kong
Academy of Nursing. She joined
COSH in 2013 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Dr MAK Yiu-kwong is a secondary
school principal. He joined COSH
in 2012 and is a member of the
Community Liaison Committee,
Education & Publicity Committee,
Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee.
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Dr Christina MAW is the Chief
Manager (Primary & Community
Services) of Hospital Authority. She
joined COSH in 2015 and is a member
of the Information & Research
Committee.
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Ms Grace NG is the Assistant Director
of Information Services Department.
She joined COSH as an ex-officio
member in 2014 and is a member of
the Education & Publicity Committee.
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Ms Gigi PANG is the director of
Evergreen Education Foundation and
actively involved in public services,
especially in the development of
youth and sports. She joined COSH
in 2014 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Dr Joyce TANG is a doctor. She joined
COSH in 2012 and is a member of the
Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee.
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Mr Richard TSANG is the Chairman of
a public relations consultancy group.
He joined COSH in 2016 and is a
member of the Education & Publicity
Committee.
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Ms Sandy WONG is consultant solicitor at a
law firm and the Past President of Hong Kong
Federation of Women Lawyers. Ms Wong is
actively involved in public service such as
being a councilor and court member of the
Hong Kong Baptist University and the vice
chairman of Human Organ Transplant Board.
She joined COSH in 2017 and is a member
of the Education & Publicity Committee and
Legislation Committee.
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Prof Samuel WONG is a professor of
Faculty of Medicine of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2014 and is a member of the
Information & Research Committee.
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Mr Christopher YU
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Mr Christopher YU is a consultant.
He joined COSH in 2012 and is the
Chairman of the Education & Publicity
Committee and also a member of the
Executive Committee, Community
Liaison Committee and Legislation
Committee.

13




ZE N4 Members of COSH




Members of COSH

ZENH




16

WEE Secretariat P

RMEE
HE S8
B AR RE

HE BRKHE ;

THRERE
BB REE

HEEE

HEREEM
HERS

TEBNE

HEEEIBE

WEERTINIBERE Secretariat

REBRL
RERELE

PRES Z 1t (z 201852 A)
BB+ 00184 3 AER)
FEELL

ELBSE

CE:Z ke

NBEZ LT (201754 A)
EESE (=201799A)
BRFELZ L 017Fs BER)
IR 2t o175 10 AER)
BEREZL

ERETT

LS 2+

RERALZT

HEmrt

[AES 2t (=201748A)
PREAZR 20+

EfIRER 2+ (= 201842 A)
BEOKIE 224

Vienna LAl Wai-yin
# B E Executive Director

Executive Director

Senior Project
Manager

Project Manager

Executive Officer

Information
and Technology
Manager

Project Officer

Project Executive

Educator

Executive Assistant

Project Assistant

Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
Mr Lawrence CHU Wai-hong

Ms Annie NG Lai-ying

Ms Dorothy LAW Wing-yi

Ms Jacqueline LEUNG Ho-yan

Ms Cynthy TANG Sze-nga

Ms Faine CHAN Wai-fan (up to February 2018)
Ms Florence FUNG Hoi-ting (from March 2018)
Ms Jessica LEE Pik-wan

Mr Lancelot POON Chi-chung

Ms Christy HO Yin-wing

Ms June MAN Kwan-yi (up to April 2017)

Mr Jason HUNG Ho-wan (up to September 2017)
Ms Tracy WONG Chui-yee (from May 2017)
Ms Jasmine YIP Tsz-ching (from October 2017)
Ms Carmen TAM Nga-man

Ms Irene CHUNG Tsui-woon

Ms Susanna KWAN Yuen-fong

Ms NG Lai-ming

Ms Eilean SO Yee-lun

Ms CHAU Lai-man (up to August 2017)

Ms Charmaine CHAN Ming-chu

Ms Polly YAU Yi-chu (up to February 2018)

Ms Ella YIM Wing-sheung



FUE R Secretariat




fE¥R 5 Chairman’s Report P

ERAREHEEEZEEEREIOHE—EURER
BRREACHE BEFTEAREERSETRYEEEN
ERREE  WHBWMEALTHIE - 2017 FRT 2
EREEITGAERZEEERII0AE » K
REARE+EAFE  ERELABREEEHP—
BEENERE ZESHEMNE2017E2018F
EUZHBOBEEE | AEE BHT7T—ZF
BEE UWRBHEREANIE  —FEEER
BETER -

Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (“COSH"”) has
been striving to protect the public health in the past three
decades through enhancing the knowledge on tobacco
hazards among the citizens, as well as motivating smokers
to kick the habit via various channels. 2017 was one of
the key milestones for tobacco control in Hong Kong as
the year marked the 35 anniversary of tobacco control,
the 30" anniversary of COSH and also the decennial of the
indoor smoking ban in Hong Kong. COSH has organized
a series of activities under the theme of “Towards a
Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong”, in order to join hands
with every sector to develop the blueprint for a smoke-free
Hong Kong.

FF BEE MH
Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH
Chairman
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According to the Thematic Household Survey Report No. 64 of
the Census and Statistics Department, daily cigarette smokers
accounted for 10% of all persons aged 15 and over in 2017 in
Hong Kong, which is the lowest rate recorded since 1982. The
smoking prevalence of secondary school students also gradually
reduced to 2.5% in 2017. It is encouraging to see the remarkable
effectiveness of tobacco control work over the years, but there are
still over 615,000 daily smokers in Hong Kong. We must continue
to strengthen our efforts in curbing the tobacco epidemic so as
to achieve the goal of creating a smoke-free Hong Kong as soon
as possible.

COSH and the Department of Health jointly organized the
“Towards a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong” Conference
on 1 December 2017. The Conference was supported by 47
organizations, including medical and healthcare institutes,
academia, tobacco control groups and smoking cessation
service providers. Twelve distinguished local and overseas
speakers were invited to conduct plenary presentations under
the theme of “Successful measures curbing tobacco epidemic
and “Testing and regulating novel tobacco products” COSH also
held the Reception for the 35" Anniversary of Tobacco Control in
Hong Kong after the Conference which was attended by over a
hundred guests including government officials, local and overseas
academia, medical and healthcare professionals, tobacco control
working partners, smoking cessation service providers and non-
governmental organizations. In addition, a press conference was
held and a booklet was published to review the accomplishments
in tobacco control in Hong Kong and to prepare for future
challenges. We hope that the smoking prevalence in Hong
Kong will drop to 5% or below by 2027 and achieve the Tobacco
Endgame goal in the near future.
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Besides, COSH collaborated with Radio 1 of Radio Television Hong
Kong to produce a series of “Health Pedia” smoke-free promotion
videos by interviewing members from different sectors to spread
the smoke-free culture to every corner of the society. The guests
shared their views on living a smoke-free lifestyle and smoking
cessation. Meanwhile, a public forum “Making Hong Kong a
Smoke-free City” was organized to invite guests and the public
to discuss the effectiveness of tobacco control policies and
share their views on a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong. COSH
also launched an online poll on social media to invite the public
to vote for their most preferred tobacco control policy. We are
glad that the above activities were well received and enlisted
participation from all walks of life demonstrating that the general
public have longed for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

COSH has spared no effort in raising public awareness on tobacco
hazards, deterring citizens from smoking, and urging smokers to
wean themselves off tobacco through a wide variety of activities
and programmes. This year, COSH launched various promotional
activities under the theme of “Smoke-free Support Station” to
engage the community in promoting a smoke-free lifestyle, as
well as mobilize the public to encourage smokers to join the
"Smoke-free Family”. Over 130 companies, non-governmental
organizations, hospitals, smoking cessation service providers and
schools supported and promoted the programme by setting up
"Smoke-free Support Stations” across the territory which attracted
more than 3,000 people to join the “Smoke-free Family”and wrote
supportive messages for quitters.

COSH also tailored publicity programme for industry with high
smoking prevalence in order to enhance the smoke-free culture.
"Smoke-free Catering Force” programme, fully supported by
various industry associations and smoking cessation service
providers, was launched in 2017-2018 for practitioners of catering
industry. Around 100 restaurants and catering companies joined
as “Premier Smoke-free Restaurant’, benefiting over 12,700
employees.
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Health talks, smoking cessation service referrals and smoke-free
marketing collaterals were provided to assist restaurants and
companies of the industry in carrying out smoke-free measures.
A “Smoke-free Cooking Contest” was also organized under the
programme to invite the mass public to share menus equal to the
cost of a pack of cigarettes (around HKS$60), spreading smoke-free
messages and supporting smokers to kick the habit.

Apart from the business sector, community involvement is also
a key to the continuous good progress of tobacco control work.
Following the success in previous years, COSH organized the
8™ “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community Campaign with the
School of Nursing and School of Public Health of The University
of Hong Kong. The Campaign was again fully supported by the
18 District Councils and various district working partners. Over
100 recruitment and promotion activities were organized across
the territory. Together with the support from Hong Kong Jockey
Club, Link Asset Management Limited, companies and trade
associations from construction and transportation industry, the
Campaign successfully recruited more than 1,300 smokers to
quit smoking and spread smoke-free messages to about 45,000
members of public.

Delivering smoke-free messages to the next generation at an early
stage plays a significant role in turning Hong Kong into a smoke-
free city. COSH has launched a series of education programmes
that cater for the needs of children and teenagers at different
development stages to deter them from smoking. The “Smoke-
free Teens Programme 2017-2018" was organized by COSH and
co-organized by the Education Bureau to instill knowledge on
tobacco control and harms of smoking in youngsters, as well as
provide training on various skills. We are glad that the participants
made use of their creativity to hold innovative activities to get in
touch with citizens from different backgrounds and of all ages,
as well as utilized social media to call on the public to develop
smoke-free healthy living.
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Moreover, the “School Interactive Education Theatre Programme
2017-2018" was supported and co-organized by the Education
Bureau. A brand-new interactive drama titled “Where is Daddy”
was launched in collaboration with Chung Ying Theatre. Students
were equipped with skills to reject cigarettes and were invited
to be a “Smoke-free Pioneer” to urge their family members to
quit smoking. Over the years, the Programme has contributed
about 1,900 performances, reaching more than 520,000 students
and teachers. COSH also organizes “Smoke-free New Generation”
health talks in kindergartens, primary schools and secondary
schools. During the school year 2017 to 2018, more than 100 talks
were conducted and attended by over 16,000 students.

COSH pays close attention to the smoking prevalence among the
elderly. The “Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project 2017-
2018"was organized to clarify the misconceptions about smoking
cessation and encourage elder smokers to ditch the habit through
health talks, visits to elderly centres, TV promotions and sharing of
successful quit stories. The campaign has shared the smoke-free
messages with more than 2,000 elderly each year since its launch
in 2012.

Over the past decades, COSH has produced a series of
Announcements in the Public Interest (APIs) to raise public
awareness on the adverse effects of smoking on health which
received wide support. Two new APIs under the theme of “Tobacco
Harm” were produced this year, including an API titled “Smoking
Harms Your Children” which encouraged smokers to protect the
next generation from secondhand smoke and prevent them from
picking up the smoking habit by being a smoke-free role model
and quitting smoking. Another API titled “All Forms of Smoking
and Vaping are Harmful” aimed to alert the public about the
harmfulness of all forms of smoking and vaping.




FBHIEE TEEBE 35 FRNE AT - BUF
BIEKR o AT - EENFKTBERULIET -
BPARKEEESERB - BREERETEIA
BHAENF AR EIRE M) BIABIEIET(E
MR - BB ERSEFNERINETE
KNI ERGE R R RS - W KRRE -
It FEERRHEERENZEOTEBCE

MBI T VPEARRIEEHERGEEZ 2
EEE | FT TR KRR - Wl E & F e
TEBR R FEHE - BAANBEIRSK - BiBEL
BERNE  HDEME  FRERRRTEREE
ST » WHR2027F KA1 NEES%IHIAT -
ER2ERENEEZ -

WI7FRBRABEEIIEISAFREEGKTL
0FEF c AAELHBE  RURHEZEGET
TE BEREHNELE  BMAOTHEBRIIE
EEBHYR  CEREBEERINNLZEINE
B WREASZEEBLBAOARNEEENE
oA AAZRRRZESRFLBHZFNR
STREBTETIENBN R A LEE - BEE
B . BT AT HAE - R ARAS - PRI
RIERGHERE  ERENREATR - B#ME
REBEEYmEST  SRESHTR 5
BuesR BFEM  BREERS -

FEFERE Chairman’s Report

Hong Kong's tobacco control work has taken a big leap over the
past 35 years with fruitful results. However, we have not reached
our destination yet and need to prepare for the challenges ahead.
The tobacco industry has been trying every means possible to
obstruct the development of tobacco control and continuously
using different manoeuvres to attract the public to smoke by
introducing new products like electronic cigarettes and heat-not-
burn tobacco products. The Government should adopt long-term
and comprehensive policies to counter such moves.

Many countries have already set their Tobacco Endgame Plan with
defined schedules and implemented innovative tobacco control
policies and measures. With the united smoke-free power, we hope
that the smoking rate in Hong Kong can be lowered to a single
digit percentage as soon as possible and to achieve the Tobacco
Endgame goal in 2027 of 5% or below.

2017 marked the 35" anniversary of tobacco control in Hong
Kong and also the 30™ anniversary of COSH. | would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to the chairmen
of COSH including Dr Ronald LEUNG Ding-bong, the late Prof LEE
Shiu-hung and Prof Anthony Johnson HEDLEY, Dr Homer TSO Wei-
kwok and Ms Lisa LAU Man-man for their contributions, as well as
to the members of the Council for their devotion and invaluable
recommendations. On behalf of COSH, | would also like to thank the
Government and public organizations, healthcare organizations,
academia and research institutes, district organizations, tobacco
control associations, smoking cessation service providers,
media and the mass public for their support to tobacco control
throughout the years. We will continue our efforts and unite every
sector in the community to strive for a smoke-free Hong Kong.
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The 35" Anniversary of Tobacco Control in Hong Kong
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Thirty-five years ago, both indoor and outdoor places were
smoky and hazy in Hong Kong. Not only promotion on tobacco
products was easily found everywhere, many public events such
as sports tournaments, concerts and other cultural activities were
also title sponsored by tobacco brands. At that time, one in every
four adults was smoker. Thanks to the enactment of the Smoking
(Public Health) Ordinance in 1982 (Cap 371), as well as the great
efforts of the Government and different sectors of the community
in supporting and driving tobacco control work, the smoking
prevalence in Hong Kong has gradually reduced, and became
one of the lowest in the world. 2017 marked the 35" anniversary
of tobacco control, the decennial of the indoor smoking ban in
Hong Kong and also the 30" anniversary of COSH. Let's review
the achievements that have been made and prepare for the
challenges ahead.
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Monitor tobacco use and prevention policies

The smoking prevalence in Hong Kong has gradually reduced
from 23.3% in the early 1980s to 10% in 2017 under the concerted
efforts of the Government, healthcare sector, academia, non-
governmental organizations, different sectors of the community,
the general public and COSH over the years. A progressive and
multi-pronged approach on tobacco control has been adopted,
including legislation, taxation, publicity and education, law
enforcement and promotion of smoking cessation, which aligns
with the MPOWER measures suggested by the World Health
Organization (WHO).

The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) and
its guideline provide the foundation for countries to implement
and manage tobacco control. The MPOWER measures were
introduced according to FCTC in 2008 to reduce the demand for
tobacco. As of July 2018, FCTC has 181 parties covering more than
90% of the world population. China signed in 2003 and came to
effect in 2005. Its application was also extended to Hong Kong.

WHO REPORT ON THE GLOBAL TOBACCO EPIDEMIC, 2008
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Raise taxes on tobacco
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Monitor tobacco use and prevention policies

Monitoring is a critical tobacco control activity. Population-based
local and international monitoring data are essential for planning
and implementing tobacco control policies effectively. Since 1982,
the Census and Statistics Department has conducted Thematic
Household Survey regarding the smoking pattern in the Hong
Kong population regularly. The survey covers the overall smoking
prevalence in Hong Kong, smoking pattern by gender and age,
the daily consumption of cigarettes, etc.

7 EETERN LS AREALLE (1982-2017) W B
o 1 30.7% Percentage of daily cigarette smokers among all persons aged 15 and Male
40% above in Hong Kong (1982-2017) m ERpE

. 34.4% Overall
1 m zit
Female

30%
30% ] 28.5%

27.2%

25% - 23.3%

19.9%
20% ] 18.7%
17.4%  16.8%

15.7%

15% 14.9%

10% |

FAREANLEEZE(%)
Percentage of daily cigarette smokers

26.7% 27.1%

14.8% 15% 144% 149,

26.1%

18.6% 18.1%

111% 10.7%

10.5% 10%
11.8%

5% L 41% 3.8% 319

4%
29%  26% 2.7% 3.5% 36% "0

A

3.7%
36% "7 39, 31% 32% 579,

2.9%

-

0%

2014 2016 2017 EE{p
Year

1982 1984 1986 1988 1990 1992 1994 1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012

BRHR - EBFITREBNEZEMEFHRAEE 64 REE (20184F)
Source: Thematic Household Survey Report No. 64, The Census and Statistics Department, HKSAR(2018)

COSH has also conducted and coordinated a series of scientific
research and study on the cause, prevention and cure of tobacco
dependence in order to advise the Government, community
health organizations or any public body on matters relating to
smoking and health. Besides, COSH has carried out the Tobacco
Control Policy-related Survey on a regular basis since 2012 to
evaluate the effectiveness of tobacco control policies in Hong
Kong. The Survey covers a wide scope of topics related to
smoking and health, including pattern of smoking, secondhand
and third-hand smoke exposure, opinions towards existing and
future tobacco control measures, etc.
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Some of COSH researches and studies
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Research and study

The Youth Smoking and Health Survey

Public Opinion on Smoke-free Restaurants
Smoking and Passive Smoking in Children

Passive Smoking and Risks for Heart Disease
and Cancer in Hong Kong Catering Workers

Secondhand Smoking and Health Survey in
Children

“Quit to Win” Contest: Randomized
Controlled Trial Study on Smoking Cessation
Intervention

Smoking and Health Survey in Hong Kong
Women

Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
Realistic Estimation of Illicit Cigarette
Consumption in Hong Kong

Report on E-Cigarette Analytical Testing
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wwwsmokefree.hk
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Protect people from tobacco smoke

A study about the consequences of smoking and passive
smoking conducted by The University of Hong Kong revealed
that about 6,800 people died of tobacco annually in Hong Kong,
and 672 of them were non-smokers who were attributed to
exposure of secondhand smoke, resulting in a total of HK$5.58
billion economic cost in Hong Kong every year. To safeguard the
public against the harmful effect of secondhand and third-hand
smoke, the Government and different sectors in the society have
been advocating for an expansion of statutory no smoking areas
in the past 35 years and the results were encouraging.

Expansion of statutory no smoking areas

The expansion of statutory no smoking areas not only helps
protect the public from exposure to secondhand smoke, it also
creates a supportive atmosphere for smoking cessation. The
statutory no smoking areas have gradually expanded since the
enactment of the Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance (Cap 371)
in 1982 with several amendments subsequently. One of the
most significant progress made was the extension of smoking
ban to all indoor restaurants, workplaces and a number of public
areas in 2007.

&
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The progress of expansion of statutory no smoking areas in the past 35 years

Yok
Effective Year
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Statutory no smoking areas

Smoking ban implemented in public lifts and lower deck
of public transport land vehicles.

Smoking ban implemented in cinemas, theatres, concert
halls, amusement game centres and all public transport
carriers.

All indoor areas open to the public in a supermarket, bank,
department store or shopping mall were designated as no
smoking areas. The Airport Authority may designate any
area of the passenger terminal complex of the Airport as
no smoking area. All restaurants, schools, post-secondary
colleges, technical colleges could designate any area of
the premises as no smoking area.

Restaurants with more than 200 seats were required to
have not less than 1/3 no smoking area.

Smoking ban implemented at indoor areas of all restaurant
premises, indoor workplaces and many public places.
Complete smoking ban extended to the six types
of establishment including bars, clubs, nightclubs,
bathhouses, massage establishment and mahjong and
tin-kau premises. Also, 48 public transport facilities with
superstructures were designated as no smoking areas.
Smoking ban extended to 129 open-air public
transport facilities and two public transport facilities with
superstructures.

Smoking ban extended to eight bus interchanges at tunnel
portal areas, including the Lion Rock Tunnel, Cross-Harbour
Tunnel, Eastern Harbour Crossing, Shing Mun Tunnels, Tate's
Cairn Tunnel, Western Harbour Crossing, Tai Lam Tunnel and
Tsing Sha Highway.

Smoking ban extended to three bus interchanges,
including the Tuen Mun Road, Lantau Toll Plaza and
Aberdeen Tunnel.
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Tobacco Control Office, Department of Health enforces the
tobacco control legislation

To effectively coordinate and strengthen all tobacco measures
by the Government, the Department of Health established the
Tobacco Control Office (TCO) in 2001.TCO is responsible for health
promotion, enforcing the tobacco control legislation Smoking
(Public Health) Ordinance (Cap 371), as well as coordinating and
providing smoking cessation services.

The "Fixed Penalty (Smoking Offences) Ordinance” was
implemented on 1 September 2009 to enhance the efficiency
of the enforcement. Anyone who smokes or carries a lighted
cigarette, cigar or pipe in statutory no smoking areas or on public
transport carriers will be issued with a HK$1,500 fixed penalty
notice by the enforcement officers.

Offer help to quit tobacco use

According to the Thematic Household Survey Report No. 64 of
the Census and Statistics Department, there were around 615,000
daily cigarette smokers in Hong Kong in 2017 and over 60%
(63.5%) of them have not tried to and had no intention to quit
smoking. It is necessary to strengthen the publicity and promaotion
of smoking cessation. The quit rate can also be enhanced with
the assistance of appropriate smoking cessation services. In fact,
the Government and non-governmental organizations have been
actively introducing and continuously enhancing a wide range of
services to help smokers adopt a smoke-free lifestyle.
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Smoking cessation services in Hong Kong

Smoking cessation services in Hong Kong are mainly provided by

the Government and non-governmental organizations, including:

- Integrated Smoking Cessation Hotline of Department of Health
1833183

- Hospital Authority’s Smoking Counselling and Cessation Service

- Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre on Smoking
Cessation

- Pok Oi Hospital Free Smoking Cessation Service using
Traditional Chinese Medicine

- HKU Youth Quitline

- HKU Women Quit

- Smoking Cessation Program in Workplace by The Lok Sin Tong
Benevolent Society, Kowloon

- United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service Smoking
Cessation Project for Ethnic Minorities and New Immigrants

Promote smoking cessation

COSH has held a wide variety of publicity and promotion
programmes on smoking cessation which met the local trend
and were well received. Apart from producing Announcements in
the Public Interest (APIs) under different themes, COSH also works
closely with different groups and organizations to launch various
programmes, including “Quit to win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign which has been organized annually since 2009,
“Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project” and “Let’s join the
Smoke-free Family Programme’, as well as tailored programmes
for industries with high smoking prevalence such as “Smoke-free
Taxi’, "“Smoke-free Construction Force” and “Smoke-free Catering
Force’, to penetrate the smoke-free message across the territory
and different sectors in the community. COSH has successfully
created a supportive atmosphere for smoking cessation and
motivated non-smokers to help smokers kick the habit.
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Warn about the dangers of tobacco

Most of the citizens either underestimate or do not fully
understand the health risks of tobacco. Pictorial and written
health warnings printed on tobacco packet are the most direct
and effective admonition which not only warn smokers to think
twice before they smoke, but also encourage them to kick the
habit, as well as deter the youth from trying the first cigarette.

Bilingual health warnings have been required on all cigarette pack
sold in Hong Kong since 1983 to remind citizens on the smoking
hazards and have changed several times since then. They were
enhanced from text-only warnings at the early stage to the six
pictorial health warnings effective from 2007. The warning has
to be positioned on the top of the packet taking up more spaces
of the packet’s surface gradually. The amendment on Smoking
(Public Health) Ordinance was passed by the Legislative Council
in 2017 to enlarge the size of pictorial health warnings to 85% of
the cigarette pack area, increase the number of forms of warning
to twelve and add the quitline. The measure has come into full
operation from 21 June 2018.
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Development of Health Warnings
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Changes on health warnings

In all tobacco advertisements, including those
in the print and broadcasting media, the
message of "HK Government Health Warning:
Smoking harms your health” must be added.
Bilingual text health warnings required on all
cigarette packs.

The single health warning was replaced by
four stronger and more precise messages to be
used in rotation:

"SMOKING CAN KILL,

"SMOKING CAN CAUSE CANCER,

"SMOKING HARMS YOURSELF AND OTHERS”
and "SMOKING CAN CAUSE HEART DISEASE".

Cigarette packs must carry, in rotation, six
new text health warnings, with indication of
tar and nicotine yields. Health warning must
be at the top of pack, black lettering on white
background:

"SMOKING KILLS" “SMOKING CAUSES CANCER,
"SMOKING CAUSES HEART DISEASE’, “SMOKING
CAUSES LUNG CANCER’, "SMOKING CAUSES
RESPIRATORY DISEASES"and “SMOKING HARMS
YOUR CHILDREN"

Packets of tobacco products and retail
containers shall bear six pictorial health
warnings in rotation, tar and nicotine yields in
the prescribed form and manner. The pictorial
health warnings shall be of a size that covers
at least 50% of the surface area of the packet
or retail container. The use of misleading
information and wordings as “light”and “mild”is
also regulated.

The amendment was passed by the
Legislative Council to enlarge the size of
pictorial health warnings from 50% to 85% of
the cigarette pack area, increase the number
of forms of health warning from six to twelve
and add the quitline. The measure has come
into full operation from 21 June 2018.
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The implementation of plain packaging is a global trend of
tobacco control work and WHO has called for more countries to
adopt this measure. Australia was the first country to introduce
plain packaging in 2012 and has achieved a substantial
decrease in the smoking prevalence. Later, many countries also
implemented plain packaging including France, the United
Kingdom and Ireland while more countries are considering to
adopt. Plain packaging is also known as standardized packaging
which requires all forms of tobacco branding to be labeled with
standardized regulation. Trade marks, graphics and logos should
be detached. Brand name should be displayed in a standard font,
colour and location of the cigarette pack. COSH has urged the
Government to introduce plain packaging since 2012 and hoped
that it will be implemented as soon as possible in the next few
years.

COSH’s effort in promoting smoking hazards

COSH organizes a variety of programmes including health talks,
the School Interactive Education Theatre, “Smoke-free Teens
Programme” and roving exhibitions to promote smoking hazards
among citizens of different ages and disseminate the importance
of smoke-free lifestyle to the next generation at an early age.
Besides, COSH has introduced many impressive APIs on smoking
hazards which made a strong impact on the community.

nummt&
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Enforce bans on tobacco advertising,
promotion and sponsorship

The tobacco industry has invested tremendous resources on
massive promotion to gloss over the harmful effects of tobacco
and encourage smoking especially among teenagers and women.
Since the 1980s, Hong Kong has gradually implemented bans on
tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship. Throughout
the past 35 years, the Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance has
undergone several amendments which prohibited all types of
advertising and promotion of tobaccos products on all local
media.

The progress of banning on tobacco advertising and promotion

1988

1990

1998

1999

2009
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Ban on tobacco advertising and sponsorship

Ban on tobacco advertising and sponsorship from 4pm to
10:30pm on TV (extension to radio in 1989).

Total ban on tobacco advertising and sponsorship on TV and
radio (extension to cinema in 1992).

Prohibition of tobacco advertisement on the internet.
Prohibition of promoting the sale of tobacco products by
means of offering prizes, gifts, tokens or raffles in exchange
for any valuable items.

Ban on tobacco display advertisements and prohibition of all
tobacco advertisements in the print media.

Withdrawal of exemption for display of tobacco advertisement
at licensed hawker stalls.
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8 Highlights

Support plain packaging and ban on tobacco products
display

Despite tobacco advertisements and promotion have been
banned by law, tobacco companies still exploit grey areas and
loopholes to promote tobacco products by placing large and
prominent display of tobacco products at points of sale including
convenience stores, newsstands and duty-free stores, and using
attractive tobacco packet designs to attract citizens to smoke.
To further reduce the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong, the
Government can consider the implementation of plain packaging
with reference to other countries’ successful experiences. Also,
a total ban on the display of tobacco products at points of sale
should be adopted to get rid of tobacco promotion.

EERERIZERER [ 2EFTEREE | NER
Countries considering plain packaging

LRI ~ 2R - BF - BB - BH - EFEE - K -
H&XEds « B3k - Il - /B - THEARSNE

Belgium, Canada, Chile, European Union, Finland, Romania,
Singapore, Slovenia, South Africa, Sweden, Thailand, Turkey and
Uruguay

Countries banned display of tobacco products at points of sale

Australia, Belarus, British Virgin Island, Canada, Croatia, Finland,
Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Kenya, Macao, Morocco, New Zealand,
Norway, Russia, Singapore, Thailand, Ukraine, Uruguay, the
United Kingdom and Uzbekistan

LT
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Raise taxes on tobacco

Raising tobacco tax is the single most effective measure to reduce
tobacco use and encourage smoking cessation. According to
the World Bank, a 10% increase on cigarette prices would reduce
consumption by 4% in high-income places like Hong Kong.

Raise tobacco tax to encourage smoking cessation

Upon the announcement of tobacco tax increase in 2009 (50%)
and 2011 (41.5%), the annual number of calls to the Integrated
Smoking Cessation Hotline jumped by 246% and 49% respectively.
However, when the tobacco tax was increased slightly by 11.8%
in 2014, the annual number of calls to the hotline increased by 1%
only compared to the year before. The above reflected that raising
tobacco tax substantially can effectively motivate smokers to kick
the habit. Increasing the retail price of cigarette with tobacco tax
rise is also an effective deterrent for uptake of smoking among
children and youth who are price sensitive. After the substantial
tax increase in 2009 and 2011, the smoking prevalence among
secondary school students dropped from 6.9% in 2008 to 3% in
2013.

According to the WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic
2015, increasing tobacco tax to more than 75% of the retail price
is among the most effective tobacco control interventions. In
2018, the tobacco tax (HKS$38 per pack) of major cigarette brands
in Hong Kong is only about 64% of the retail price (average HK$59
per pack). COSH believes that the tobacco tax in Hong Kong has
to be raised substantially and a long-term tobacco tax policy
should be adopted in order to reduce the demand of tobacco.
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Note: 1. Implementation of new measure: The quantity of tobacco products exempted from duty for passenger aged 18 or above was tightened to
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Prospect for a Tobacco Endgame

2017 marked the 35" anniversary of tobacco control, the
decennial of the indoor smoking ban in Hong Kong and also the
30" anniversary of COSH. The impressive progress of tobacco
control journey in Hong Kong over the past decades would not
have been possible without the concerted efforts of various
sectors of the community. We must continue to strengthen our
force in curbing the tobacco epidemic with reference to many
countries that have already set their Tobacco Endgame Plan with
defined schedules and implementation of innovative tobacco
control policies and measures.

COSH believes the journey towards a smoke-free Hong Kong
must be tough and full of obstacles, including the interference of
tobacco industry and the emergence of electronic cigarettes and
other new tobacco products. To protect public health, we have
to be ready to meet the challenges ahead. Hong Kong should
follow the global trend in strengthening tobacco control work on
all fronts and developing long-term and comprehensive policies,
including total ban on electronic cigarettes and other new
tobacco products, substantial increase in tobacco tax, extension
of smoke-free areas, allocation of more resources on smoke-free
education and publicity, enhancement on smoking cessation
services and tightened enforcement. We should also follow the
best practices around the world such as the implementation of
plain packaging and the ban on the display of tobacco products
at points of sale. COSH looks forward to working with the
Government, as well as every sector and citizen of the community
to protect the public from smoking hazards by achieving the
Tobacco Endgame goal in Hong Kong by 2027 when the smoking
rate in Hong Kong is dropped to 5% or below.
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"Smoke-free Support Station”
Publicity Campaign

Advocacy on the Enlargement of
Pictorial Health Warnings on the Packet of
Tobacco Products

Kick-off event of Smoke-free Publicity
Programme for World No Tobacco Day

The 8""Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign Launch Ceremony

New API“Smoking Harms Your Children”
“Health Pedia” Smoke-free Promotion
"Smoke-free Catering Force” Programme

“Towards a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong”
Press Conference

Reception for the 35" Anniversary of
Tobacco Control in Hong Kong

New API“All Forms of Smoking and Vaping are
Harmful”

Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

“Smoke-free Catering Force” Programme
Awards Presentation Ceremony

The 8""Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign Awards Presentation Ceremony
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JEED Events

Smoke-free Promaotion Campaign of
The Hong Kong Jockey Club

2017 Kwai Chung Hospital Support for
World No Tobacco Day cum Prize Presentation
of Smoke-free Comics Competition

Smoke-free Promotion Activities of
Link Asset Management Limited

Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project
2017-2018

“Integrated Health Management Afternoon
2017"of the Hong Kong Police Force

The Hong Kong International Dental Expo and
Symposium 2017

Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Day

“It's never too late, act now and quit smoking”
Publicity Event

CLPP Safety, Health & Environment (SHE) Day
2017

Central and Western District Health Festival
2017/2018

Promotion Activity on Smoking Cessation and
Organ Donation

"Open Day cum Spring Carnival”of the
New Voice Club of Hong Kong

Yan Qi Tong New Territories West
Health Festival 2018 cum
Health Services Opening Ceremony

Ka Fuk Fun Day 2018

Award Presentation Ceremony of “Yau Tsim
Mong Primary and Secondary School Students
Writing and Quiz Competition”
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Education and Youth Programmes

>

BALEHAEE Youth Education Programmes
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2017/7 - 2018/3
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2018/3/16
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Health Talks for “Smoke-free New Generation”

“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2017-2018

School Interactive Education Theatre
“Where is Daddy”

“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2017-2018
Award Presentation Ceremony

HKU School of Nursing — Nursing Programmes

Rotary Club of Admiralty —
Tobacco Control Seminar

Kwai Chung Hospital's Seminar on
Smoke-free Policy Implementation and
Smoking Cessation Interventions

HKU Youth Quitline — Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop
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Conferences and Visits
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JEED Events

The 9™ Cross-strait Conference on Tobacco
Control

Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control
2017

“Towards a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong”
Conference

"Making Hong Kong a Smoke-free City”
Public Forum

The 17" World Conference on Tobacco or
Health

A scholar of International Tobacco Control
Policy Evaluation Project

A scholar from Malaysia
A researcher from the United States

Tobacco Prevention and Control Office,
Macao SAR Government
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“Smoke-free Support Station”
Publicity Campaign

World Health Organization (WHO) has designated “Tobacco - a
threat to development” as the theme of World No Tobacco Day
2017 (31 May) with the aims to encourage the governments
to step up tobacco control efforts and motivate individuals to
contribute to making a sustainable smoke-free world either by
committing to never taking up tobacco products or by quitting
the habit. COSH launched a variety of activities with the theme of
“Smoke-free Support Station’, including a kick-off event, “Smoke-
free Support Station” set up across the territory, Facebook lucky
draw and street promotion, in order to engage different sectors
of the community in promoting a smoke-free lifestyle, as well as
to mobilize the public to encourage their family members and
friends to quit smoking and join the “Smoke-free Family”.

Kick-off event

COSH, in collaboration with Radio Television Hong Kong Radio T,
organized a kick-off event on 28 May 2017 at Stanley Plaza.
Officiating guests included Prof Sophia CHAN, Under Secretary for
Food and Health, Dr Constance CHAN, Director of Health, Brian
CHOW, Controller (Radio), Radio Television Hong Kong, Prof LAM
Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and
Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman.
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Healthcare professionals, patients and artists joined hands to
promote the benefits of living a smoke-free lifestyle among 200
mass public through live music and singing performances. They
also shared information on smoking hazards and called upon the
mass public to show support to quitters and a smoke-free Hong
Kong. Performers included “MediMuse”, band of Dr William FOO,
Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society, Dr Martin WONG, Founder &
Chairman of Hong Kong Prostate Foundation, TANG Cheuk-him,
Regeneration Warrior who suffered from congenital heart disease,
iPad Band “Goosebumps” formed by the handicapped, and Band
of Cancer Information comprised of two former cancer patients,
artists Akina FONG, Phil LAM, Lillian WONG and Robynn & Kendy.

“Smoke-free Support Station”

To enhance public awareness on World No Tobacco Day, over 130
companies, non-governmental organizations, hospitals, smoking
cessation service providers and schools supported and promoted
the programme by setting up “Smoke-free Support Stations”
across the territory during May to June 2017. Over 3,000 people
joined the “Smoke-free Family” and wrote supportive messages
for quitters. (Please refer to page 154 to 158 for the list of “Smoke-
free Support Stations”)
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JEENAY B : www.smokefree.hk/smokefreefamily

Facebook Lucky Draw

Besides, a lucky draw promotion was held from 28 May to 18 June
2017 to urge the public to join the “Smoke-free Family”, check-in
and post supportive messages at “Smoke-free Support Stations”
via the online platform and social media to support their family
and friends to quit smoking.

Street Promotion

Six sessions of “Smoke-free Support Station” street promotion
activities were organized in May and June 2017 in different
regions which invited more than 400 people to join the “Smoke-
free Family” and show support to a smoke-free Hong Kong.
Promotion collaterals were also distributed to smokers to
encourage them to kick the habit as soon as possible.

Activity website: www.smokefree.nk/smokefreefamily
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JEED Events

Advocacy on the Enlargement of
Pictorial Health Warnings on the
Packet of Tobacco Products

The Government briefed the legislative proposals to strengthen
tobacco control in May 2015, including enlarging the size of
pictorial health warnings to at least 85% of the two largest
surfaces of the packet, increasing the number of forms of health
warning from six to twelve and adding the quitline 1833 183.
COSH, together with other citizens and organizations, urged
the Government and Legislative Council at the meeting of
the Subcommittee on Smoking (Public Health) (Notices)
(Amendment) Order 2017 of the Legislative Council on 23 May
2017 to implement the proposed measures as scheduled.

Results from survey conducted by COSH and three rounds
of public consultations organized by the Legislative Council
showed that majority of citizens and organizations supported the
proposed measures, including healthcare professionals, academia,
health promotion organizations, youth service groups, schools
and students, community service groups, women associations,
education organizations, patient groups, commercial sector and
overseas scholars. After two years of discussion, the Legislative
Council passed the amendment. The proposed measures finally

came into operation on 21 December 2017, with a transitional
period of six months, and was fully implemented on 21 June
2018.
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The 8" “Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign

COSH has been organizing the "Quit to Win" Contest since 2009
to provide an alternative platform to motivate and assist smokers
in quitting smoking, in addition to cessation clinics. The Contest
recruited over 1,000 smokers to kick the habit each year.

To further strengthen an atmosphere for smoking cessation in the
community and enhance community involvement in tobacco
control, COSH has launched “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign with the continued support from the 18 District
Councils and community organizations since 2012. The “Quit to
Win" Contest and a series of district-based smoke-free promotion
activities are organized to promote smoking cessation every
year. The campaign also consists of media promotion, smoking
cessation counseling and scientific research.

Under the 8" "Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community Campaign,
over 100 recruitment and promotion activities were organized
across the territory. The Campaign was also supported by the
Hong Kong Jockey Club, Link Asset Management Limited,
companies and trade associations from construction and
transportation industry to further spread the smoke-free
messages.

Launch Ceremony

The launch ceremony was held on 20 June 2017 at Plaza
Hollywood in Diamond Hill. Officiating guests included Prof
Sophia CHAN, Under Secretary for Food and Health, Dr Jeff LEE,
Head of Tobacco Control Office, Department of Health, Dr William
LI, Associate Professor, School of Nursing, The University of Hong
Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and Yolanda NG, COSH
Vice-chairman. Representatives of the District Councils and district
working partners also attended the ceremony to show their
support.
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The champion of the 7" “Quit to Win" Contest, LIN Ngai-lui shared
his successful experience in the event. Mr Lin had smoked for
more than 20 years and determined to kick the habit with the
aims to refrain his son and himself from the respiratory problems,
as well as to have another child. After joining the Contest, he
received professional advice from smoking cessation counselor
and set short-term goals to fight against the addiction step
by step. Once he successfully quitted smoking, his coughing
problem relieved, breathing improved which made his family
members really happy. Dr William LI, Associate Professor, School
of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong also empowered quitters
with three practical tips, including setting a quit day, gathering
support from family and friends and shifting attention away from
smoking. Artists C AllStar and Mag LAM motivated smokers to
get rid of cigarettes through games and sharing. Smokers were
also recruited to join the “Quit to Win" Contest after the launch
ceremony.

Smoking Cessation Counseling Training

COSH collaborated with the School of Nursing and School of
Public Health of The University of Hong Kong to conduct two
sessions of Smoking Cessation Counseling Training on 14 and 27
June 2017. A total of 85 staff and volunteers from district working
partners and university students joined the training to enhance
their tobacco control knowledge and smoking cessation skills for
conducting recruitment sessions and smoke-free promotion. All
participants were awarded with certificates after completing the
training.
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Speakers included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong, Dr WANG Man-
ping, Assistant Professor, School of Nursing, The University of Hong
Kong, Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director, Lawrence CHU, COSH
Senior Project Manager and Anita CHAN, an experienced smoking
cessation counselor. Winners of previous “Quit to Win" Contests
were also invited to share their successful quit stories. Through
seminar, group discussion, role play and case studies, details of “Quit
to Win"” Smoke-free Community Campaign, hazards of smoking,
secondhand and third-hand smoke, smoking cessation counseling
skills and project management skills were shared.

District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

COSH and the district working partners organized about 70
recruitment sessions and more than 30 smoke-free promotion
activities in 18 districts from June to September 2017. Over 1,300
smokers were recruited to join the cessation contest and smoke-
free messages were disseminated to some 45,000 members of
public. Around 400 staff and volunteers of the district working
partners assisted in organizing different smoke-free promotion
activities, including health talks, community promotion, carnivals,
drawing competitions, slogan competitions and smoke-free
workshops across the territory to increase public awareness on
the "Quit to Win" Contest and tobacco control.
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District Working Partners
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Central & Western
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Yuen Yuen V-Learn Women Centre
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Steering Committee on Healthy City in the Central and Western District
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Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women's Association Limited
N

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon
ZEREHRRERETHIHE

Kwai Tsing Safe Community and Healthy City Association
LA EESHEREER

Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services
BRERERTESEES

Kwun Tong Healthy City Steering Committee

EZ 2B mEL g RGO

The Yuen Yuen Institute — Fanling Social Service Centre
RIS E S RKI g REE

Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
HMERERZE2HEFRAA

Southern District Healthy and Safe Association Limited
EeMRERS

Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association

NiF R E

Tai Po District Federation of Women
EMRRENESEEEE

Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee
HBERZE B UREAFTOFREFT O

Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of Seventh-day Adventists
BAIRERZ 2T

Wong Tai Sin District Healthy and Safe City

S ER

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital

RIKEIFEBE AR AR

Tin Shui Wai Women Association Limited
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“Quit to Win" District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

H H#f Date

2017/6/18

2017/6/25

2017/6/29 - 30

2017/7/2
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2017/7/6 &9/10
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2017/7/15 &9/10

2017/7/16

2017/7/16 & 8/6

2017/7/18

2017/7/21 - 22

2017/7/22

2017/7/26
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Hoi Fu Shopping Centre
EEES
TBG Mall
o 7 78 = 1T

Russell Street, Causeway Bay
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Fortune Kingswood
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2017/8/28

2017/9/2

2017/9/2

2017/9/3

2017/9/3

2017/9/9

2017/9/9

2017/9/9

2017/9/10

2017/9/13

2017/9/15-17

2017/9/16

2017/9/16

2017/9/17

2017/9/17

2017/9/21

2017/9/24

2017/9/24

2017/9/30

NI
Tai Po
it
North

At

Wan Chai
=AU
Wong Tai Sin
WH

ShaTin
RIKE
Sham Shui Po
)=

Sai Kung
KIF

Tai Po

Y
=

Tsuen Wan
JLBEM
Kowloon City

ey

Central & Western

pig’}
North
BE
Kwun Tong
TLRA

Yuen Long
BES
Islands
S

i/E_;
Tsuen Wan
pld)
North

B P

Tuen Mun
AT

Yau Tsim Mong
e

Kwai Tsing

AFET

Tai Wo Market
BEESSHERIIROTIL
HKJC Fanling Town Centre
Off-course Betting Branch
RN E

Great George Street, Causeway Bay
EELtEReE

Tsz Wan Shan Community Hall
BEEE W

Fortune City One

BEES

Lai Kok Shopping Centre
JEX3E )

Hau Tak Market

RITER

Tai Yuen Estate

10 = FT K

D - Park

NEEWES

Kowloon City Plaza
AYyERE™

Shek Tong Tsui Market

RO EYES

Sheung Shui Centre Shopping Arcade

AR

Ping Shek Estate

PN R

Tin Ching Community Hall
o= &%

DB Plaza
ESRREAH
Jockey Club Tak Wah Park
%8 8 Sk

Fanling MTR Station
REE%

Leung King Plaza

FE A0

Argyle Centre
BREGELE

Tsing Yi Promenade



[MEARK] LE

f%kﬁﬁﬁ%JH:%Lﬂﬂsa mE R REA T
P AE S - 2EENBERGHAISEX
W@Eﬁi@r%H’\J%ﬂfﬁﬂ&@ﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁE’ﬂﬂi@
WY WAHABARSEEERERAKBFESR
EXIIOREHEEN—EA - MEA :TI
AR ME A A B R A BRE M FIAUES)

R EEMER - H%)TQ?R?MF?E’J?J?&LM
EMERBGHE - E=_EARER - BRBE
RIBEN2BEE SR ES /\‘UEV A

P INE A E AT 2 MK RS A TR, - HE
EEH oo °
BN BEREERER R ALFEZRN L

BEHRETHEN T WEBBERTRERSE
KEEIMEBERBRM - REVNTER - Z@A K
FNE A BRAER BRI E RN AIER D B 5 14.4%
1} 16.6% °

ViR

ZEEM2018F3A21HEITE /R [HEK
BREELERTEIBRE - URTHEENER
EREH sREERT HERBH R SEBENST
7o BREERRRYAFERBBRREER
BE FEEPEBEER(FNEESE) BROE
B4 FAERBAEFEERTSESEEY
REZEHFESHIR(RNEFES)MABEHIE

FERIRPER IRARSRASE
BUE -

H 2R 4018 S A SR S8 5 S 4 I
RIBENE - —REE - RIBEAL - &

AEBERISHNTEIRXED - R
RRIEEDRRENBE RRENTES -

SEE) Events

“Quit to Win” Contest

The “Quit to Win" Contest encourages smokers to quit smoking
through prizes. Eligible participants received smoking status
assessment and brief smoking cessation counseling by
counselors during the recruitment sessions. The smoking
cessation counselors from the School of Nursing and School of
Public Health of The University of Hong Kong followed up the
quit status of the participants and provided advice and assistance
by telephone interview at one month, two months, three months
and six months after enrolment. They were also referred to their
preferred smoking cessation service providers. Participants who
quitted successfully were invited to undertake a biochemical
validation at the 3-month follow-up. Validated participants were
eligible to join the lucky draw or to be selected for an interview to
win fabulous prizes.

Besides, the School of Nursing and School of Public Health of The
University of Hong Kong conducted a research study to evaluate
the effectiveness of specific smoking cessation intervention as
well as the campaign. According to the preliminary results, the
self-reported quit rate was 14.4% and 16.6% at 3-month and
6-month follow-up respectively.

Prize Presentation Ceremony

A prize presentation ceremony was held on 21 March 2018 to
award the winners of the 8" “Quit to Win" Contest and commend
the 18 District Councils, district working partners and various
organizations for their tremendous support to the Campaign.
Honourable guests included Dr TSUI Tak-yi, Under Secretary for
Food and Health, Dr Tina CHAN, Assistant Director of Health
(Special Health Services), Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of
Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong,
Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-
chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director.

Winners were invited to share their successful quit stories at the
ceremony. Other guests, quitters, as well as artists Eliza SAM and
YEUNG Chiu-hoi also joined the ceremony to explain the harms of
smoking and promote the benefits of quitting through interactive
game and performance.
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Winners of the 8" "Quit to Win” Contest:

The Champion, CHENG Wai-cheong, steeled his resolve to quit
smoking once and for all because of his care for family. He had
smoked for 20 years since he was 18. He often came across elder
females looking after the males. To refrain from being a burden to
his wife when he got old, he decided to quit smoking for a healthy
body to take care of his wife in the future and let his children to
be free from harms of secondhand and third-hand smoke. Since
2013, Mr Cheng has quitted the first cigarette after waking up and
gradually reduced the number of cigarettes he smoked. However,
he had not kicked the habit completely until he joined the "Quit
to Win" Contest in August 2017 and received acupuncture service.
He also credited the meticulous follow-up calls by the smoking
cessation counselors that effectively motivated him to quit
smoking. His family were thrilled about his successful quitting. He
could cycle faster than before as his lung function improved.
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First runner-up LAM Ka-kit is a fireman. He lit up his first cigarette
under peer influence at secondary school 26 years ago. He tried
to kick the habit before but failed as he could not resist the
temptation. Later, he rescued an old man who was a smoker in an
operation with several rounds of cardiopulmonary resuscitation.
He realized that when “survival” could be such a challenge, he
should not smoke and ruin his health. He made up his mind for
cessation and joined the Contest to strengthen his determination.
He faced lots of temptation as some of his friends and colleagues
smoked in their gatherings frequently. His strong will enabled him
to decline the cigarettes offered by others and he also successfully
motivated one of his colleagues to kick the habit. After quitting,
Mr Lam found a better image for himself and breathing became
smoother during physical training.

Second runner-up Davis YUE had smoked for nearly 30 years
since his freshman year at the university. He put on gloves when
he smoked and used different means to remove the smell of
cigarettes to hide his smoking habit. He tried to wean himself
off tobacco twice as requested by his family but relapsed due to
pressure from work and family issue. He took the initiative to give
up smoking this time and gradually reduced the consumption
which facilitated him to successfully kick the habit one week
after signing up for the Contest in September 2017. Mutual
support in Mr Yue's family was the key to his success. All of his
family members set goals to quit their bad habits respectively.
For example, his wife stopped drinking milk tea, his daughter
watched less drama series online, while his son spent less time
playing online games. They encouraged each other by setting
and monitoring the progress schedule. Mr Yue's family were so
glad that he successfully ditched smoking and complimented
him whenever they encountered other smokers.

Campaign website: www.quittowin.hk
Facebook page: www.facebook.com/quittowinhk
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New APIs “Smoking Harms Your Children”
and “All Forms of Smoking and Vaping are
Harmful”

In recent years, COSH produced a series of Announcements in the
Public Interest (APIs) to publicize tobacco hazards and smoking
cessation which were well received by the public. Two new APls
under the theme of “Tobacco Harm” were produced. API titled
“Smoking Harms Your Children” was launched in October 2017
to explain the hazards of smoking and encourage smokers to
protect the next generation from secondhand smoke and prevent
them from picking up the smoking habit by being a smoke-free
role model and quitting smoking. The API also urged the public
to support their family and friends to build a healthy lifestyle and
strive for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

Another API titled “All Forms of Smoking and Vaping are Harmful”
was launched in January 2018 aiming to alert the public about
the harmfulness of all forms of smoking and vaping, urge smokers
to quit smoking completely as soon as possible; and remind non-
smokers not to try any forms of tobacco products nor e-cigarettes.
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“Health Pedia” Smoke-free Promotion

COSH is committed to promoting smoke-free messages to all
walks of life for a smoke-free Hong Kong, as well as advancing
tobacco control work. 2017 marked the 35™ anniversary of
tobacco control in Hong Kong, COSH collaborated with Radio 1
of Radio Television Hong Kong (RTHK) to produce ten episodes
of interviews from October to December 2017 with members
of different sectors to review the accomplishments in tobacco
control and prepare for the challenges ahead, as well as share
their views on living a smoke-free lifestyle.

The guests of the ten episodes included Prof Sophia CHAN,
Secretary for Food and Health, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor
of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in
Public Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, LAl Wing-man, Senior
Tobacco Control Inspector of Tobacco Control Office, Department
of Health, Steve LO, Extreme Marathon runner, HON Man-guai,
Survivor of laryngeal cancer, successful quitters Simon NGAI,
senior DJ, Albert CHEUNG, singer and Mark LUI, musician and
smoke-free artist Andy LEUNG (member of C AllStar). The ten
episodes were broadcasted on Radio 1 and TV 31 of RTHK during
the programme “Health Pedia"
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Smoke-free Catering Force Programme

The catering industry in Hong Kong has over 240,000 labour
force. According to the Survey conducted by the Occupational
Safety and Health Council on the occupational safety and health
conditions in Chinese restaurants, nearly half (48.5%) of kitchen
staff and 28.1% of floor staff smoked regularly. To protect the
health of catering employees and the public, COSH, with full
support of various industry associations and smoking cessation
service partners, launched the “Smoke-free Catering Force’
programme in October 2017. Activities included a certificate of
"Premier Smoke-free Restaurant” for catering industry to boost
their participation in promoting smoke-free culture, so as to
improve health, enhance occupational safety level and bring
positive impacts on image of the catering industry. The “Smoke-
free Cooking Contest” was also held to encourage the general
public to support smokers to kick the habit through sharing
healthy meals.

4

Premier Smoke-free Restaurant

Around 100 restaurants and catering companies joined as
"Premier Smoke-free Restaurant’, including catering groups, fast
food restaurants, Cha Chaan Teng, healthy food chain, karaoke,
dessert shops, snack shops and pubs, benefiting over 12,700
employees. To motivate the industry to implement smoke-free
measures, COSH introduced “Top Premier Smoke-free Restaurant
and “Top Premier Smoke-free Outdoor Restaurant” awards. The
judging meeting was held on 18 January 2018 and concluded six
restaurants and catering companies receiving the “Top Premier
Smoke-free Restaurant” and one restaurant receiving the “Top
Premier Smoke-free Outdoor Restaurant”. (Please refer to page

"

159 to 161 for the list of “Premier Smoke-free Restaurant”)
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Winners of the “Smoke-free Cooking Contest”:
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Smoke-free Cooking Contest

Collaborating with Hong Kong Commercial Broadcasting Co. Ltd,,
the “Smoke-free Cooking Contest” was organized to invite the
mass public to share menus with the cost of a pack of cigarettes
(around HKS$60) which could spread smoke-free messages and
support smokers to kick the habit from October to December
2017. Artist Kitty YUEN and Smoke-free Catering Ambassador
Christian YANG promoted the contest via cooking demonstration
videos to encourage citizens to relieve stress and help smokers
kick the habit through cooking.

Over 60 creative and healthy menus were received and more than
1,400 citizens voted for their favourite menus through social media.
Kitty YUEN and the Champion of the cooking contest demonstrated
the winning dish and invited the mass public to taste, as well as
promoted the importance of living a smoke-free lifestyle.

WE: [ HEREE | RRER
Champion: Smoke-free Lucky Bag
15484 Winner: Ashley CHAN

DE EESEREZR
Tt Runner-up: Smoke-free Healthy Set
15 883 Winner: Rainbow WONG

FE mEXRn
2" Runner-up: Smoke-free Happy Dish
158235 Winner: Irene HUI
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Awards Presentation Ceremony

The awards presentation ceremony was held on 2 February 2018
at Metro City Plaza Il in Tseung Kwan O to recognize the "Premier
Smoke-free Restaurants” with outstanding smoke-free policies
implemented and winners of the cooking contest. The ceremony
was officiated by Dr Jeff LEE, Head of Tobacco Control Office,
Department of Health, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and
Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman.

A wide variety of smoke-free measures were adopted by the
“Premier Smoke-free Restaurants” to effectively unite the
employees, industry and the general public to create a supportive
atmosphere for smoke-free catering culture, eg smoke-free
charter for staff who are committed to quitting smoking, smoking
cessation reward scheme, smoking cessation service referral,
free fruits on "healthy smoke-free day”, sharing of quit tips by
successful quitters and smoke-free promotion through social
media. Also, a café, which was recognized as “Top Premier Smoke-
free Outdoor Restaurant” introduced smoking ban at outdoor
seating areas voluntarily to protect the customers and staff from
the hazards of secondhand and third-hand smoke.

Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine &
Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public
Health, The University of Hong Kong shared the benefits and tips
on kicking the smoking habit. Artist Phil LAM, Joey WONG and
Mischa IP called on the general public to motivate their family
and friends to quit smoking through games while Smoke-free
Ambassador Christian YANG and successful quitter LO Pui-wah
explained the smoking hazards and urged the chefs to get rid of
cigarettes and adopt a smoke-free lifestyle.

Programme website: www.smokefree.hk/catering
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SEE) Events

“Towards a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong”
Press Conference

To protect public health, COSH hosted a press conference on 30
November 2017 to urge the Government to raise the tobacco
tax by 100% and follow the global trend in developing long-term
and comprehensive tobacco control policies to further lower
the smoking prevalence. Speakers included Prof Judith MACKAY,
Director, Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control and Senior Policy
Advisor, World Health Organization, Dr Hana ROSS, Professor of
School of Economics of University of Cape Town, South Africa, Prof
Jonathan WINICKOFF, Professor of Pediatrics of Harvard Medical
School, USA, Kylie LINDORFF, Manager of Tobacco Control Policy
of Cancer Council Victoria, Australia, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair
Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor
in Public Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong and Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman.

Antonio KWONG remarked, "Many countries have already set their
Tobacco Endgame Plan with defined schedules and implemented
innovative tobacco control policies and measures to achieve the
goal. COSH advocates the Government for increasing the tobacco
tax by 100% to reduce the smoking prevalence in Hong Kong to a
single digit percentage as soon as possible. Long-term and multi-
pronged tobacco control policies should also be developed to
further lower the smoking prevalence to 5% or below and achieve
the Tobacco Endgame goal in 2027

Tobacco Endgame Plan refers to the smoking prevalence rate
of 5% or below by an announced date. Many governments in
different countries have set their goals with announced dates
including New Zealand and Ireland (2025), Canada (2035) and
Malaysia (2045).
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Raising tobacco tax has been proved as the single most effective
tobacco control measure in encouraging smokers to kick the habit
and preventing children and teenagers from initiating smoking in
many countries and regions including Hong Kong. In 2017, cigarette
price (around HKS$57 per pack) of the major brands in Hong Kong
was low when compared to other developed regions; while the
tobacco tax was only about 67% of the retail price, which was lower
than the 75% recommended by WHO. Other countries have also
adopted a long-term and continuous tobacco tax policy to maintain
the price effect on the reduction of tobacco consumption.

The School of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong was
commissioned by COSH to carry out the Tobacco Control Policy-
related Survey 2017. It was found that over 80% of respondents
supported raising tobacco tax in 2018. The current smokers
commented that the cigarette retail price should be increased to
around HKS$300 per pack on average to effectively motivate them
to quit smoking. Besides, majority (62.1%) of respondents agreed
to ban smoking if smoking prevalence in Hong Kong decreases to
5% or lower. The measures were also supported by 31.3% of current
smokers. The general public are looking forward to a smoke-free
Hong Kong.

In view of the tobacco epidemic in Hong Kong and the
international tobacco control trend, COSH advocated the
Government to raise the tobacco tax substantially and adopt long-
term and comprehensive policies with defined schedules, including
implementation of plain packaging, tobacco product display ban at
points of sale, extension of smoke-free areas and venue managers
should be liable for smoking offences, increasing the legal tobacco
sales age, total ban on e-cigarettes and other new tobacco
products, tightened enforcement, as well as allocation of more
resources for smoking cessation services and smoke-free education
in order to lower the smoking prevalence to 5% or below and
achieve the Tobacco Endgame goal in Hong Kong in 2027.
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Reception for the 35t Anniversary of Tobacco Conirol in Hong Kong
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TOBACCO ENDGAME
IN HONG KONG

Reception for the 35" Anniversary of
Tobacco Control in Hong Kong

2017 was the 35" anniversary of tobacco control in Hong Kong
as well as the 10" anniversary of indoor smoking ban. COSH
organized the Reception for the 35" Anniversary of Tobacco
Control in Hong Kong on 1 December 2017 to highlight the
milestones in tobacco control and unite different sectors in
the community to continue to strive for a smoke-free Hong
Kong. Over a hundred guests, including government officials,
academia, medical and healthcare professionals, tobacco control
working partners, smoking cessation service providers and non-
governmental organizations attended the event.

Officiating guests included Dr Douglas BETTCHER, Director,
Department for Prevention of Noncommunicable Diseases, World
Health Organization, Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and
Health, Dr Constance CHAN, Director of Health and Antonio
KWONG, COSH Chairman.

At the reception, Dr Douglas BETTCHER said that the enactment
of Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance was a critical first step
in tobacco control in Hong Kong. Hong Kong has showed the
commitment to work towards tobacco control policy. He wished a
continuous success for Hong Kong in tobacco control in the future.
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Another officiating guest, Prof Sophia CHAN thanked COSH, as
well as partners from different sectors of the community for their
support in Government'’s tobacco control policy. She expressed
her gratitude to the Chairmen of COSH, especially the late Prof
LEE Shiu-hung and Prof Anthony Johnson HEDLEY for their
contributions to tobacco control in Hong Kong. She shared that
the Government would continue to strengthen the tobacco
control regime, in particular to encourage young people not to
smoke, to appeal to adults to quit smoking for the benefits of
their next generation and to enhance smoking cessation services.
She hoped that the citizens of Hong Kong could work together
towards a Tobacco Endgame.

Antonio KWONG remarked that Hong Kong had made a great
progress in tobacco control over the past 35 years. It was hoped
that a long-term and comprehensive policy on tobacco control
could be established. With the united force of the community,
the smoking rate would lower to a single-digit percentage in
one to two years and drop to 5% or below in 2027 to achieve the
Tobacco Endgame goal.

COSH also invited a band from Cancer Information, formed by
a group of cancer patients and survivors, to perform two classic
canton pop songs spreading smoke-free messages and calling
upon the community to support tobacco control and strive for
a smoke-free Hong Kong. The lyrics were rewritten by Prof LAM
Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong and artist Albert AU.

FammssAFERA® " D

Reception for the 35+ Anniversary of Tobacco Confrol in Hong Kong 1
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Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

World Health Organization (WHO) reiterates that raising tobacco
tax to more than 75% of the retail price of tobacco products is
the single most effective tobacco control intervention, which
can effectively lower the smoking prevalence and prevent youth
from starting smoking. Over 30 countries have raised tobacco
tax to more than 75% of the retail price, and over 60 countries
to more than 70%. Tobacco tax in Hong Kong accounted for
about 67% of the cigarette price in 2017 which is below WHO's
recommendation.

According to the “Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2017"
conducted by COSH, 81.1% of all respondents supported raising
tobacco tax in 2018, while 31.9% of the current smokers also
supported this measure. Current smokers suggested that the
cigarette retail price should be set at an average price of around
HKS$300 per pack (retail price in 2017 was HK$57) to effectively
motivate them to quit. (For details of survey results, please refer to
page 103 to 108.)

The survey findings reflected that there was huge capacity for
tobacco tax increment. In view of this, COSH, together with 71
organizations, sent open letters to the Financial Secretary in
January and February 2018 respectively to urge the Government
to raise tobacco tax by 100% in 2018-2019 fiscal year, as well
as formulate a long-term policy on raising tobacco tax and
implement a multi-pronged approach in tobacco control to
protect public health.

COSH was extremely disappointed that the tobacco tax was
frozen again in 2018-2019 fiscal year for the 4" consecutive year.
But the relevant media coverage aroused public awareness on
this issue.
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Smoke-free Promotion Campaign of
The Hong Kong Jockey Club

COSH collaborated with The Hong Kong Jockey Club to organize
diversified smoke-free programmes to introduce smoking hazards
and encourage smoking cessation among the general public.
Body check including carbon monoxide breath test, was provided
to the public during October 2017 to March 2018, boosting the
determination of smokers to quit smoking. Besides, The Hong
Kong Jockey Club set up exhibition panels in February to March
2018, with the theme of smoking cessation and exercises, to
motivate citizens to establish a healthy smoke-free lifestyle.

COSH educator also delivered health talks on 29 May and 5 June
2017 at Prince Edward branch and Kwun Tong branch respectively
to explain the fallacy of smoking and smoking cessation methods.
Smoke-free videos and posters of COSH were also displayed at
all branches across the territory starting from October 2017 to
promote smoke-free messages.
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2017 Kwai Chung Hospital Support for
World No Tobacco Day cum Prize Presentation
of Smoke-free Comics Competition

Kwai Chung Hospital organized the “2017 Kwai Chung Hospital
Support for World No Tobacco Day cum Prize Presentation of
Smoke-free Comics Competition” on 24 May 2017 to commend
the staff, patients and their family members for creating
outstanding comics with smoke-free messages.

Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director was invited to share tips on
encouraging family and friends to quit smoking. Other guests
included Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health and
Dr Manny LAM, Senior Medical and Health Officer of Tobacco
Control Office, Department of Health. Music band and drama
group of Kwai Chung Hospital performed during the event to
raise awareness on smoking hazards.

Smoke-free Promotion Activities of
Link Asset Management Limited

COSH collaborated with Link Asset Management Limited (Link)
from June to September 2017 to urge the public to adopt
a smoke-free healthy lifestyle. Promotion activities and 24
recruitment booths of the 8" “Quit to Win”Contest were organized
in fresh markets and shopping malls under the management of
Link to promote the benefits of smoking cessation, encourage
smokers to join the contest and call on the non-smokers to
support their family and friends to get rid of tobacco.
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Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project
2017 -2018

Elder smokers have smoked for years and generally have
misconceptions about smoking and quitting. Tailor-made
methods should be used to motivate them to kick the habit.
According to the Thematic Household Survey Report No. 64
released by the Census and Statistics Department, among the
615,000 daily smokers in Hong Kong, 23.9% aged 60 years old or
above. In order to cope with the needs of elder smokers, COSH
organized the “Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project 2017-
2018" In collaboration with elderly centres, New Territories West
Elder Academies Cluster (NTWEAC) funded by the Elder Academy
Development Foundation under the Elderly Commission
and Elderly Health Service of Department of Health, a series
of activities including health talks, visits to elderly centres, TV
promotions and sharing of successful quit stories were organized
to raise awareness on smoking hazards, clarify the misconceptions
about smoking cessation and encourage elder smokers to quit.

Health Talks

From June 2017 to March 2018, COSH conducted 35 sessions
of health talks at elderly centres across the territory. Through an
interactive and interesting approach, the benefits of being smoke-
free and the importance of smoking cessation were promoted
to about 2,000 elderly. They were also encouraged to spread the
smoke-free messages to family and friends.
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Community Promotion

COSH recruited over 40 elderly volunteers from NTWEAC to
be “Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors”and equip them with
smoke-free knowledge through the training held in June 2017.
The Ambassadors disseminated the smoke-free messages
during elderly centre visits and community activities, as well as
encouraged smokers encountered in their everyday life to quit
smoking. Besides, they distributed smoke-free information and
a pledge card to smokers to demonstrate their determination to
kick the habit.

Two articles on harms of smoking, quit tips and smoking cessation
services drafted by COSH were issued in the newsletters of Elderly
Health Service of Department of Health in July and November
2017 respectively, reaching over 18,000 elderly.

TV promotion videos

To share the smoke-free messages to a wider scope of elderly and
general public, COSH produced three promotion videos under
the theme of “It's never too late, act now and quit smoking” Artist
LAW Lan was invited to clear the misconceptions about smoking
and advise smokers to quit for a healthy and happy life.
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“It’s never too late, act now and quit smoking”
Publicity Event

"

A publicity event “It's never too late, act now and quit smoking
was held on 26 October 2017. Officiating guests included Dr CHUI
Tak-yi, Under Secretary for Food and Health, Dr Jeff LEE, Head of
Tobacco Control Office, Department of Health, Dr LAM Ching-choi,
Chairman of Elderly Commission, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman
and Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman. The promotion videos were
premiered to further spread the smoke-free messages.

Two Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors, River LEUNG and Teresa SUN
also shared their experience in motivating smokers to quit at the
event. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine &
Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health,
The University of Hong Kong, took part in the mini drama with artists
to clear the misconceptions about quitting in an interesting way.
Artists LAW Lan and Bella LAM also joined the event and informed
the public on the smoking hazards and promoted the benefits of
quitting through games.

“Integrated Health Management Afternoon
2017” of the Hong Kong Police Force

To encourage the force members and their families to do exercise
regularly and pay more attention to physical and mental well-
being, the Hong Kong Police Force hosted the “Integrated Health
Management Afternoon 2017" at the Police Sports and Recreation
Club on 16 July 2017, attracting more than 2,500 participants.
COSH was invited to set up a game booth to propagate the
smoking hazards in an interactive way. Tobacco control booklets
and souvenirs were also distributed to promote the importance
of a smoke-free environment.
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Hong Kong International Dental Expo and
Symposium 2017

The Hong Kong Dental Association hosted the "Hong Kong
International Dental Expo and Symposium 2017"on 4 to 6 August
2017 at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre. COSH was
invited to set up an information booth introducing the tobacco
control work in Hong Kong and COSH's education and publicity
programmes. Participants were invited to pledge to support
a smoke-free Hong Kong. Tobacco control publications and
souvenirs were also distributed to enhance the collaboration with
dental professionals.

Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Day

To raise the community’s awareness on safety and health, Tsuen
Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee of Tsuen
Wan District Council organized the “Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy
Community Day” on 9 September 2017 at D-Park in Tsuen Wan.
A wide variety of activities including game booths, performance
and prize presentation were held while free body checks were
provided as well. The event had successfully delivered the
messages of disease prevention, home safety and personal
hygiene to about 800 citizens.

Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager was invited to
be the officiating guest at the event. COSH also set up a booth
to provide free carbon monoxide breath test and distributed
booklets on smoking hazards to enhance public awareness and
encourage smokers to quit smoking.
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FEENTERERRA 2017 CLPP Safety, Health & Environment (SHE) Day 2017

BAEAFETNERRAFINFEEEE [ LZ2ERE CLP Power Hong Kong's annual event “Safety, Health &
IRIRB I R2017F 11 B4 BREPIFES#HZE  Environment (SHE) Day” was held on 4 November 2017 at Black
JRERIT o SEBB B TRBA B EEE, - BE  Point Power Station in Tuen Mun. The event aimed to raise
MEAKRBEAZNEES (L2 - BEKLIRIR]  participants’ awareness on safety, health and environment
M8 WS HBB500%E T REKESL  through a variety of game booths, exhibitions and stage
o ZESEHNEERE [IFEESE | 8% performances, joined by over 5,000 staff and their family. COSH
BREERL - YR EE B/ M- FNEESR ¢ A7 1,000 was invited to host a game booth “Support Smoke-free Hong
BE2MENRBEERERSTIHHERNTE * 8  Kong”and distribute smoke-free brochures and leaflets, reaching
B P AR, - —RIHEEEE »  over 1,000 participants who were encouraged to live a healthy
lifestyle and join hands to promote the smoke-free culture.

Central and Western District Health Festival
2017/2018

To enhance the awareness of local residents on the importance of
health and to promote health education, the Steering Committee
on Healthy City in the Central and Western District collaborated
with the Central and Western District Office to host the “Central
and Western District Health Festival 2017/2018" on 4 to 5
November 2017 at Smithfield Sports Centre. Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director was invited to join the opening ceremony.

2017/2018 FEAFR A EEEE
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In order to raise the awareness and enrich the knowledge
on living a healthy lifestyle, a variety of activities, including
exhibitions, game booths, counseling services, health talks,
exercise demonstrations and free body checks were held in the
Festival, attracting nearly a thousand of participants.

COSH also set up a booth to promote smoking hazards in an
interactive way. The latest APIs were also broadcasted and
smoking cessation booklets were distributed to encourage
participants to motivate smokers to quit smoking and join hands
to strive for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

Promotion Activity on Smoking Cessation
and Organ Donation

Smoking is hazardous to health. Six of the world’s eight leading
causes of death are caused by tobacco use, which include heart
diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, lower respiratory infections,
chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases, tuberculosis and
cancers of trachea, bronchus and lung. Secondhand and third-
hand smoke exposure is also harmful to health of other people
especially infant and children. According to the US Surgeon
General Report on smoking and passive smoking, tobacco is
harmful to most of the organs of human body.

COSH is a signatory organization of the “Organ Donation
Promotion Charter” launched by the Government to raise the
public awareness on organ donation. Colleagues and different
stakeholders were encouraged to register their wish to donate
organs. Besides, the culture of organ donation was also promoted
in COSH's smoke-free activities.

In response to the “Organ Donation Promotion Campaign”launched
by the Government, colleagues of COSH joined the Department
of Health's Organ Donation promotional activities and distributed
leaflets to the public to encourage organ donation and smoking
cessation at Tuen Mun MTR Station on 11 November 2017.

77




78

SEE) Events

BBHED [ NNAFEEE
RFEBEBREHOMMA ]

B AR R EREE - BEERE K&

MR B EMER RN B BE 0 M
EFRAMLE - 22 2018F3 A 18 BB AR

RSN [ KX ANFEHRFEBERED O
FME | BARURAT REIRS S0 o
AEE ARRTERD  EPrEFERE
FZTLAE - WEEREFEES -

RESRBNRRARFEPRE BB - A
EHNHTAIMA2NEHEERENZE - [
Y I 7] T BRI B AU /M T
?ﬁﬁ%\@%ﬁ%
M ’ /EEJJH&%I

HEREA TR
IR B MR R R E At R R Y R
BEEMRARHE -

CEEHEREHRT2018F
AR %R R B e

CEEAMRIBEHMLEER - ﬂE\EE&K
BERS  UHERSEAERE - BR20184F3

A2H CEEREMACERSERICEE

HEEE AT R R 2018 ARG H R 12 | - B[R
571ILBUT_ﬁ|3Fﬁ EFI RN R BB m 2 MNE
HREREENBEEM  BERTRABBAL -

“Open Day cum Spring Carnival” of
the New Voice Club of Hong Kong

The New Voice Club of Hong Kong assists laryngectomies
and laryngeal cancer patients in regaining their voice and
reintegrating into the community through promoting self-
help and mutual help spirit. The Club hosted an "Open Day cum
Spring Carnival”on 18 March 2018 at Shek Kip Mei Estate to help
the public understand their scope of services and facilities. In
addition, Chinese medical consultation, exercise demonstration
and body checks were provided to deliver health messages.

COSH was invited to set up a game booth to propagate the
smoking hazards in an interactive way. Booklets were also
distributed to encourage smokers to kick the habit as soon as
possible in order to lower the risk of laryngeal cancer and other
diseases. Over 100 participants joined the carnival.

Yan Oi Tong New Territories West
Health Festival 2018 cum Health Services
Opening Ceremony

Yan Oi Tong aims at launching social, educational, medical and
recreational services, and different community programmes for
every citizen. To deliver the information on health and healthcare
services to the society, Yan Oi Tong collaborated with various
government departments and community groups in Tuen Mun
and Yuen Long to organize the “Yan Oi Tong New Territories West
Health Festival 2018 cum Health Services Opening Ceremony” on
22 March 2018 at Tuen Mun Yan Oi Town Square.
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ZESEBTIRFREEEEERE - BERENZE  COSH was invited to host a health talk clarifying the myths of
RN BRIET A - WA gL 0 LAE®)  smoking and introducing smoking cessation methods, as well
ERXIMREATRERBEREZEMNRHE - ZE  as to set up a game booth to promote the smoking hazards to
GIRAS2 A LIREIEET Y R /MBF - 8 local residents. Brochures and booklets on smoking cessation
MR EERE - & HEBMERERMKRZE  were distributed to encourage participants to build a smoke-
NHEED  RBEAE2KRE BEHL2E N free family. Free health check and Chinese medical consultation,

HEEREE Wl TEMRAH - demonstration of first aid, visit of medical truck and stage
performances were also held during the event which attracted
W= 1EEHH2018 almost a thousand of participants.

Ez2RHaEteRishon08438248 KaFukFunDay 2018

BYErRBESESRN [LERZEERA

2018 ZFEZ - ZEQEERBEAILEE - The Yuen Yuen Institute Fanling Social Service Centre organized “Ka
LASRER G BT s8R AT RAVIEE NG, ot Fuk Fun Day 2018” at Ka Fuk Estate in Fanling on 24 March 2018.
S ZEENMAHMRIKEEE DM FREE  COSH was invited to set up a game booth to raise awareness of
o BIEAMBEE  FERBEBA LT REMIE - local residents on tobacco control in an interesting approach.
BB SIFEB 500 BTHRAE o COSH also distributed smoke-free leaflets and collaterals to
encourage smokers to quit smoking as soon as possible. Over 500
citizens participated in the event.

Award Presentation Ceremony of

“Yau Tsim Mong Primary and Secondary
School Students Writing and Quiz
Competition”

Yau Tsim Mong No-drug Alliance cares about physical and
psychological health of youngsters. The Alliance has organized

various activities to spread positive values among primary and
secondary school students. An award presentation ceremony of

|—5EH§"€ it @ EF' ’J\qfﬁ—$1’lfﬁ&§E "Yau Tsim Mong Primary and Secondary School Students Writing
F‘Dﬁ%‘:ttgj ﬁﬁﬁ@% and Quiz Competition” was held on 24 March 2018. Annie NG,

COSH Senior Project Manager was invited to be one of the
EESH AT KBRS T/ N EBA B O fEE - officating guests and delivered a presentation titled "Beware of
BRBPRAREY MBLEHERMNEE edgarete’
Bl o KB BN 20183 A 24 AT VAR E
FONBEEXREMRELE| BEAL - &
ERBRRERQAKERBRERLEER
WA THERTEF1E | BREIERS ©
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Health Talks for “Smoke-free New Generation”
Education plays a vital role in tobacco control. Delivering smoke-
free messages to the next generation at an early stage can help
them recognize the importance of a smoke-free environment,
deter them from lighting up the first cigarette and motivate them
to encourage family and friends to quit smoking. Since 1991, COSH
has organized health talks every year in kindergartens, primary
schools, secondary schools and tertiary institutions across the
territory to educate the children and youth on smoking hazards.

During the school year 2017 to 2018, more than 100 health talks
were conducted, reaching over 16,000 students. The health talks
covered the harmful effects of smoking, secondhand smoke
and third-hand smoke, as well as the latest information on
tobacco control, such as tobacco control policy in Hong Kong,
existing smoking cessation services, the hazards of e-cigarettes
and other new tobacco products and marketing tactics of the
tobacco industry. COSH educators also introduced the works and
programmes of COSH and played the latest promotion videos to
the students. A question-and-answer session was included and
souvenirs were given to students to enhance their smoke-free
knowledge under a relaxing and interactive atmosphere.
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“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2017-2018

Youngsters are not only future leaders of the society but also
an important force that drives the advancement of tobacco
control work in Hong Kong. COSH has been sparing no effort to
educate the youngsters on smoking hazards, encourage them to
adopt a healthy lifestyle and strive for a smoke-free Hong Kong.
“Smoke-free Teens Programme” (formerly known as “Smoke-free
Youth Ambassador Leadership Training Programme”) has been
organized annually since 2012 to instill knowledge of tobacco
control and smoking hazards in youngsters, provide training
on various skills, motivate them to organize different kinds of
activities to promote smoke-free messages, as well as sustain their
pioneering role in tobacco control.

About 2,000 Smoke-free Teens have been nurtured to take the
leading role in establishing a smoke-free environment through
the Programme. Over 250 youngsters, aged 14 to 18, from more
than 20 secondary schools enrolled for the 2017-2018 Programme
which was co-organized by the Education Bureau.

Smoke-free Training Camp

Four 2-day-1-night Smoke-free Training Camps were held during
the summer holiday in 2017. In order to prepare the participants
for disseminating smoke-free messages to the public, COSH
organized a briefing session and invited famous illustrator Rap
CHAN, who has created “Dustykid” to share the tips on spreading
positive messages and producing creative works online.
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The Smoke-free Training Camps equipped participants with
knowledge on smoking hazards and tobacco control measures.
Their skills on leadership, creative and critical thinking,
communication, problem solving, team building, programme
planning and smoking cessation counseling were enhanced
through diversified training activities.

Smoke-free Programmes in Schools and the Community

Between September and December 2017, the trained Smoke-
free Teens applied their knowledge to initiate more than 120
innovative smoke-free activities in their family, schools and the
community, reaching more than 32,000 citizens from all walks
of life. Smoke-free Teens became more proficient in organizing
activities to reach the general public and well utilized the social
media for publicity. Activities included inviting YouTubers to
promote a smoke-free lifestyle through video, field trip to Japan
and producing video to study the effectiveness of designated
smoking areas on streets, and creating mascots and props for
street promotion to educate the public on smoking hazards.
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Smoke-free Teens Alumni Programme and Summer
Internship Programme

In order to sustain the pioneering role of Smoke-free Teens in
spreading smoke-free messages, participants were encouraged
to join the Smoke-free Teens Alumni and assist in attending
sharing sessions, managing game booths and exhibitions in the
community and participating in other tobacco control activities
organized by COSH.

Outstanding “Smoke-free Teens” will also have an opportunity
to be a summer intern in COSH to experience and learn about
programme planning and promoting tobacco control work.
Participants will be given a certificate when the internship is
completed.

Award Presentation Ceremony

An award presentation ceremony of Smoke-free Teens
Programme 2017-2018 was held on 16 March 2018 to commend
the outstanding Smoke-free Teens for their efforts. Honourable
guests included DrTina CHAN, Assistant Director of Health (Special
Health Services), KWAN Pak-keong, Chief Curriculum Development
Officer (Moral, Civic and National Education), Education Bureau,
Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine &
Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public
Health, The University of Hong Kong and Antonio KWONG, COSH
Chairman.

The champion team from Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong
Memorial Secondary School shared their tips and experience in
organizing a wide variety of creative activities under the theme
of “Smoke-free, Good Life” which reached over 1,700 citizens. The
essay competition in school was one of their successful activities,
encouraging a total of 930 students to write a letter to persuade
smokers to quit smoking and more than one-third of them
handed the letter to their smoking relatives in person. Besides,
representatives of the team conducted a field trip to Japan with
their principal to study the effectiveness of designated smoking
areas on streets, and exchanged views with other teammates
and schoolmates through video and sharing session. They also
produced a promotion video to remind schoolmates the harmful
effects of smoking.
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On the other hand, a territory-wide Smoke-free Carnival was
organized in order to deliver smoke-free message to people from
different sectors and at all ages. To promote smoke-free lifestyle
to primary school students and teachers across the territory in
an interesting way, they launched a smoke-free poster design
competition with the “Thematic Network on Healthy Schools” of
The Chinese University of Hong Kong. They also formed a hiking
team to invite hikers and countryside visitors to make a smoke-free
pledge and encourage smoking family members and friends to kick
the habit. They hoped that the public could understand a good life
should start with a smoke-free lifestyle through these activities.

Winner List:

Champion: Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial Secondary
School

First runner-up: SKH Kei Hau Secondary School

Second runner-up: Queen’s College Old Boys" Association
Secondary School

Outstanding Smoke-free Teams:

« Christian Alliance S C Chan Memorial College (Team 1)

« CMA Secondary School

- Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School

« Lok Sin Tong Wong Chung Ming Secondary School

« NT Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District Secondary School (Team 2)

« Pope Paul VI College

- The Association of Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi
Hospital Ltd Leung Sing Tak College

"Smoke-free Support Station” Campaign - the Most Active Participating
School Award: CMA Secondary School

Programme website:
www.smokefree.hk/smokefreeteens
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School Interactive Education Theatre
“Where is Daddy”

Since 1995, the “School Interactive Education Theatre Programme”
has been one of COSH’s major education and publicity
programmes to prevent youth smoking. Cooperating with schools
and local professional troupe, COSH encourages the children and
youngsters to promote a smoke-free lifestyle with their families.
The Programme contributed about 1,900 performances, reaching
more than 520,000 students and teachers over the years.

Key messages of tobacco control are delivered along with
music, stage effects and interesting presentation. Through the
performance, students learn about the harmful effects of smoking,
secondhand smoke, third-hand smoke and e-cigarettes, as well as
receive positive messages such as fallacies about smoking, say no
to secondhand smoke, the benefits of a smoke-free environment
and ways to encourage family members to kick the smoking
habit. Parents are welcomed to attend the performances.
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The 2017-2018 Programme was co-organized by the Education
Bureau. A brand-new interactive drama titled “Where is Daddy” was
launched in collaboration with Chung Ying Theatre. Students were
equipped with skills to reject cigarettes and were invited to be a
“Smoke-free Pioneer”to urge their family members to quit smoking.
Special thanks were given to Prof LAM Tai-hing for being the
professional consultant of the drama. Over 90 performances were
delivered and over 25,000 students and teachers were reached.

The story was about Mr MO Kin-hong, a smoker who was
suspected to suffer from smoking-related diseases and was
asked to conduct a medical check on his daughter’s birthday. He
decided to slip away quietly and absent for his daughter’s birthday
party to avoid anxiety among his family. Mo Mo, daughter of Mr
Mo and Ching Ching, best friend of Mo Mo had doubts about Mr
Mo's reasons of leaving and started to find him. Mr Mo realized the
hazards of smoking, secondhand smoke and third-hand smoke
on his way to the hospital. Mo Mo and Ching Ching also clarified
the fallacies on smoking, learned how to say no to cigarettes and
understood the potential risks of e-cigarettes and promotion
tactics of tobacco industry. Students actively participated in the
interactive sessions and were determined to be a "Smoke-free

Pioneer” who promised to reject the first cigarette and motivate
their family members to kick the bad habit.
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Over 300 students, teachers and guests attended the premiere which
was held at the Yuen Long Theatre on 12 October 2017. Honourable
guests included Dr Tina CHAN, Assistant Director of Health (Special
Health Services), Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of
Public Health, The University of Hong Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH
Chairman and Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman. The programme
began its tours across the territory afterwards.

A designated website, bring-home educational material and
souvenirs were provided for participants to review the smoke-
free information. Through the “Smoke-free Health Warning and
Slogan Design Competition’, students were encouraged to utilize
the knowledge they acquired in the drama to spread the smoke-
free messages in creative ways. In order to enhance students’
smoke-free knowledge and sustain the impact of the programme,
a corresponding “Smoke-free Teaching Kit" was also developed for
teachers to use in lessons, together with the programme website

and bring-home educational material.

Programme website: www.educationtheatre.hk
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HKU School of Nursing - Nursing Programmes

School of Nursing of The University of Hong Kong endeavors to
provide professional nursing training. Courses on tobacco control
and smoking cessation are provided to their students. The School has
been a long-term partner of COSH in promoting tobacco control and
safeguarding the public health. COSH was invited to be the guest
speaker for their Bachelor and Master programmes to equip students
with related knowledge on building a smoke-free Hong Kong.

Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager delivered a
presentation titled “Tobacco Control and Smoking Prevention
Programmes in Hong Kong” to about 30 students in the Master
of Nursing Programme on 2 May 2017. Tobacco control measures
in Hong Kong, as well as COSH's education and publicity
programmes and advocacy works were introduced. Mr Chu also
shared the smoking cessation services, loopholes and challenges
of tobacco control work in Hong Kong and COSH'’s role in striving
for a smoke-free Hong Konag.

On 7 and 14 November 2017, a presentation titled “Political Action
to Improve Public Health” was given to about 340 students in the
Bachelor of Nursing Programme. Mr Chu shared the works and
achievements of COSH in building a smoke-free Hong Kong over
the years. He also introduced the global trend of tobacco control
and the challenges ahead for Hong Kong in curbing tobacco use.

Rotary Club of Admiralty - Tobacco Control
Seminar

Invited by Rotary Club of Admiralty, Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director and Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager
attended the Tobacco Control Seminar on 31 May 2017. A
presentation titled “Challenges of Tobacco Control in Hong Kong”
was delivered to introduce the smoking hazards, COSH's works,
Hong Kong's tobacco control policies and the challenges ahead.
Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman also attended the seminar.
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Kwai Chung Hospital’s Seminar on
Smoke-free Policy Implementation and
Smoking Cessation Interventions

Kwai Chung Hospital has been supporting tobacco control work
actively by organizing various activities to promote smoke-free
message. The Anti-smoking Workgroup of Kwai Chung Hospital
held the “Seminar on Smoke-free Policy Implementation and
Smoking Cessation Interventions” on 21 September 2017 to
discuss and strengthen the knowledge of their staff on the topics
of tobacco control regulations, e-cigarettes and new tobacco
products, as well as smoking cessation measures.

Annie NG, COSH Senior Project Manager delivered a presentation
titled “Beware of electronic cigarettes and other new tobacco
products” to illustrate the hazards and potential risks of these
products. Other speakers included Dr Ronnie PAO, Associate
Consultant of Kwai Chung Hospital and Ryan LAW, Executive
Officer I (Enforcement) of Tobacco Control Office.

HKU Youth Quitline - Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop

The "Youth Quitline”is a youth-oriented smoking cessation hotline
established in 2005 by the School of Nursing of The University of
Hong Kong to help smokers aged 25 or below kick the habit. Over
the years, the “Youth Quitline” has been recruiting and nurturing
many young smoking cessation counselors.

COSH was invited to deliver a lecture at the Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop on 23 September 2017. Vienna
LAI, COSH Executive Director shared Hong Kong's smoking
prevalence, tobacco control policies and COSH’s role in striving
for a smoke-free Hong Kong. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor
of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong
also conducted lectures on hazards of smoking and secondhand
smoke. The workshop also covered the tips and techniques on
smoking cessation counseling and motivational interviewing by
an experienced smoking cessation counseling nurse. Through
group discussions, participants were well equipped with related
theories and practical knowledge.
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Working with the Mass Media
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COSH maintains a close and longstanding relation with the mass
media, enabling the messages of tobacco control and COSH's
promotion activities to penetrate into all levels of the society
effectively. COSH Secretariat regularly fields interviews and
enquiries from different newspapers, publications, television and
radio stations, as well as other media platforms. COSH issued the
following press releases to the media during the year:

Press Release

COSH's response to the enlargement of pictorial
health warnings proposed by the Government

COSH supports the enlargement of pictorial
health warnings
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Mobilize different sectors in the community to
encourage smokers to kick the habit at Smoke-
free Support Station

Join the 8" “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign
Enjoy a smoke-free lifestyle

Premiere of School Interactive Education Theatre
"Where is Daddy”
Encourages students to be a “Smoke-free Pioneer”

Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project
2017-2018
“It's never too late, act now and quit smoking”

Raising tobacco tax by 100% to lower smoking
rate in Hong Kong promptly and leap towards a
Tobacco Endgame in 2027
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Press Release

Reception for the 35" Anniversary of Tobacco
Control in Hong Kong

Marking the achievements in tobacco control
and taking a leap towards a Tobacco Endgame in
Hong Kong

Public Forum “Making Hong Kong a Smoke-free
City" collects public views on tobacco control
policies

Smoke-free Catering Force Programme
Joint industry efforts to promote smoke-free
catering culture

COSH's response to the tobacco control policies
proposed by The Budget

Smoke-free Teens committed to promoting
smoke-free living in the community

The 8" “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign Prize Presentation Ceremony

COSH’s response to the latest smoking prevalence
of Hong Kong
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The 9t Cross-strait Conference on
Tobacco Control

To enhance effective tobacco control in mainland China, Hong
Kong, Taiwan and Macao, Chinese Association on Tobacco
Control, COSH, John Tung Foundation and Macao Tobacco
Control Alliance co-organize the “Cross-strait Conference on
Tobacco Control”regularly. The Conference provides a platform for
exchanges among tobacco control workers from different places.

The 9" “Cross-strait Conference on Tobacco Control” was hosted
by John Tung Foundation on 3 to 5 September 2017 in Taipei
under the theme of “Tobacco - a threat to global health and the
construction and outlook of cross-strait tobacco control” It was
attended by over 420 tobacco control experts and practitioners
from cross-strait regions.

Representatives of COSH included Antonio KWONG, Chairman,
Yolanda NG, Vice-chairman, Christopher YU, Council Member,
Vienna LAl, Executive Director and Secretariat staff. Antonio
KWONG was invited to deliver a speech at the opening ceremony
in which he introduced Hong Kong's latest tobacco control
measures and the way forward. Besides, Vienna LAI, Executive
Director and Lawrence CHU, Senior Project Manager conducted
a presentation on “Achievements and Challenges of Building
a Smoke-free Hong Kong Using the MPOWER approach” and
“Situation and Perception of Waterpipe Use among Hong Kong
Young Adults” respectively. COSH's abstract on Women Smoking
Cessation Promotion Programme was also selected for poster
presentation.
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Dr Daniel HO, Associate Professor of School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong was awarded the “Contribution Award for
Chinese in Tobacco Control”for his great efforts and achievements
in promoting tobacco control in Hong Kong, especially on the
research about issues related to smoking and youth.
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Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control
2017

“The Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control 2017"was organized
by the World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Centre
for Smoking Cessation and Treatment of Tobacco Dependence in
Hong Kong from 23 to 27 October 2017. Structured according to
"MPOWER" laid down by WHO, the programme assisted the tobacco
control personnel working in the government or non-governmental
organizations in countries of West-Pacific Region in mastering the
skills in tobacco control, through a comprehensive overview of the

latest tobacco control measures and experience sharing. Participants’

knowledge including legislation, enforcement, advocacy and
publicity, development and evaluation of cessation programmes was
strengthened.

Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman was invited to deliver a
presentation titled “Role of COSH in Advocacy, Education and
Publicity against Tobacco Use in Hong Kong” which highlighted
the experience and challenges of COSH on education, publicity
and policy advocacy over the years. International and local
experts, including Dr Tina CHAN, Prof Simon CHAPMAN,
Kelvin KHOW, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Prof Judith MACKAY, Timothy
MILBRANDT and Dr Homer TSO, were also invited to share their
expertise and the latest development on tobacco control. In
addition to presentations and workshops, participants also visited
community-based smoking cessation clinics for an in-depth
understanding on the smoking cessation services in Hong Kong.
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“Towards a Tobacco Endgame in Hong
Kong” Conference

To mark the milestone for the achievements in tobacco control in
Hong Kong over the past 35 years, prepare for future challenges
ahead and develop blueprint for a smoke-free Hong Kong,
Department of Health and COSH jointly organized the “Towards
a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong” Conference on 1 December
2017.

Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health, Dr Constance
CHAN, Director of Health and Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman
delivered opening remarks at the Conference. Plenary presentations
under the theme of “Successful measures curbing tobacco epidemic
and “Testing and regulating novel tobacco products”were conducted
by twelve distinguished local and overseas speakers. Pioneer and
effective tobacco control measures, strategies and recommendations
for working towards Tobacco Endgame, as well as the global testing
standard and regulatory approach of e-cigarettes and heat-not-burn

"

tobacco were shared with the audience.

The Conference was supported by 47 organizations, including
medical and healthcare institutes, academia, tobacco control groups
and smoking cessation service providers. Continuing education
credits were awarded, including CME for doctors, CNE for nurses, CEU
for pharmacists and CPD for dentists. Exhibition panels were also set
up to summarize the tobacco control achievements and the major
smoking cessation services provided in Hong Kong. The Conference
attracted over 200 participants from government departments,
academia, medical and healthcare profession, smoking cessation
service providers and non-governmental organizations supporting
tobacco control.
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Seminars on “Successful measures curbing tobacco epidemic”

F 7 Programme JEHBEE Speaker

() MERIN AU EERBUR REEELT
Tobacco Endgame and effective tobacco tax policy Dr Hana ROSS
Professor, School of Economics, University of Cape Town,
South Africa
(i) =FEE [EE 2] MIEEZAEERE Jonathan WINICKOFF 2%
Thirdhand smoke & Tobacco 21: Two important Prof Jonathan WINICKOFF
endgame strategies Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School, USA
(i) MNP EERERBE — KINEEUR Kylie LINDORFF Z+
Plain packaging in Australia — successes and lessons Ms Kylie LINDORFF
learnt Manager of Tobacco Control Policy, Cancer Council Victoria,
Australia
(iv) B EERF R RIS RMEE XN TR ERE T EHIX
Endgame strategies and industry’s interference Prof Judith MACKAY
Director, Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control
(v) WAE R EEEE MRBEHIE
Towards a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong Prof LAM Tai-hing

Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall
Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health,
The University of Hong Kong
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Seminars on “Testing and regulating novel tobacco products”
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Testing e-cigarettes: laboratory evaluation,
pharmacological and toxicological assessment
RIE A ERA G IE B R I B D
Evaluating the smoke contents released by
heat-not-burn tobacco products
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Universal e-cigarette test: standardized research
materials, testing devices and testing methods
EEEFEEANELTEN

Epidemiology of e-cigarette use in the US

HAE R MEER R E R M M EFENER
Use of heat-not-burn tobacco products and
e-cigarette in Japan
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Regulating e-cigarettes in Canada - the proposed
Tobacco and Vaping Products Act
REMPIERER — 2N

Regulation of novel tobacco products — a global
perspective

Maciej GONIEWICZ 1+
Dr Maciej GONIEWICZ
Associate Professor, Roswell Park Cancer Institute, USA

Aurélie BERTHET 18+

Dr Aurélie BERTHET

Senior Researcher, Institute for Work and Health, Switzerland
Bartosz KOSZOWSKI f 4=

Dr Bartosz KOSZOWSKI

Research Scientist, Battelle Memorial Institute, USA

Brian KING &+

Dr Brian KING

Deputy Director for Research Translation, Office for Smoking
and Health, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA
Takahiro TABUCHI 8 4

Dr Takahiro TABUCHI

Associate Chief, Department of Cancer Control Center,
Osaka International Cancer Institute, Japan

Dana BEATON 22 1=

Ms Dana BEATON

Director, Office of Research and Surveillance, Health Canada

Douglas BETTCHER 1§+

Dr Douglas BETTCHER

Director, Department for Prevention of Noncommunicable
Diseases, WHO
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“Making Hong Kong a Smoke-free City”
Public Forum

To mark the 35" anniversary of tobacco control, as well as the
10" anniversary of indoor smoking ban in Hong Kong, COSH
collaborated with Radio 1 of Radio Television Hong Kong (RTHK)
to organize a public forum “Making Hong Kong a Smoke-free City”
on 15 December 2017, to understand the views of the public on
tobacco control policies in Hong Kong. Guests including Prof LAM
Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman,
Andy LEUNG, Artist, Henry LEE, Champion of the 5" “Quit to Win"
Smoking Cessation Contest, WONG Wai-chun, a young smoker
with kid and Rodney TAM, Creative Director experienced in
producing smoke-free advertisements were invited to share their
views on a Tobacco Endgame in Hong Kong.

A series of man-on-the-street interviews were conducted asking
for the views of the public on extending the smoke-free areas and
ways to leap towards a smoke-free Hong Kong. The video was
premiered at the forum. Most of the interviewees supported to
extend the smoke-free areas, including pedestrian walkways and
outdoor places, as well as set up designated smoking areas. They
also suggested strengthening the smoke-free education to deter
the youngsters and children from picking up the first cigarette.
Besides, COSH launched an online polling on social media from
1 to 13 December 2017 to collect views on the most preferred
tobacco control policy. The polling results coincided with the
interviews. Among some 560 votes, around 78% would like to set
up designated smoking areas and ban smoking while walking on
the streets, followed by raising tobacco tax (14%).

The highlights of the forum was broadcasted on Radio 1 and TV
31 of RTHK during the programme “Health Pedia” on 4 January
2018.
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The 17" World Conference on Tobacco or
Health

"The World Conference on Tobacco or Health’, held every three years,
aims to strengthen the international exchange on tobacco control
and related information, and provide a platform for different countries
to share their experiences and challenges on tobacco control.

The 17" Conference was held from 7 to 9 March 2018 in Cape Town,
South Africa. Over 2,000 academics, public health professionals and
non-governmental organization advocates from 125 countries and
regions joined the Conference with the theme of “Uniting the World
for a Tobacco Free Generation” COSH sent a delegation to attend
the Conference, including Antonio KWONG, Chairman, Yolanda NG,
Vice-chairman, Vienna LA, Executive Director and Secretariat staff.

COSH was invited to give an oral presentation titled “Engage the
business sector to promote smoke-free corporate culture through
industry-oriented programmes”. Another two abstracts were
also selected for poster presentation, namely “To Encounter the
Challenges of Tobacco Industry: Concerted Community Effort
to Advocate for Policy Change” and “Tailor-made Smoke-free
Programme to Clear the Myths of Smoking among Hong Kong
Elder People” Through the presentations, COSH introduced the
latest tobacco control work in Hong Kong and the education and
publicity programmes of COSH.

The Conference ended with a number of recommendations,
including calling on governments to unite with civil society to
stop tobacco industry interference; to reject or cease engagement
with the industry-funded Foundation for a Smoke-free World
and other initiatives of the tobacco industry; to support the
concept of a tobacco free generation; to extend the related fiscal
policies as a priority to continually decrease the affordability and
accessibility of tobacco products; and to develop a plan by 2021
for phasing out the sale of tobacco products.
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A scholar of International Tobacco Control
Policy Evaluation Project

Prof Geoffrey FONG, Founder and Chief Principal Investigator of
the International Tobacco Control Policy Evaluation Project (the ITC
Project), visited COSH on 24 April 2017 to introduce the project and
presented the results of the ITC China Project conducted in 2006
to 2015. Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director shared the findings of COSH's Tobacco Control
Policy-related Survey.

Dr Tina CHAN, Assistant Director of Health (Special Health
Services), Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong, Prof Judith
MACKAY, Director of Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control,
Dr Homer TSO, Winner of WHO Director-General’s Award for
Leadership in Global Tobacco Control and Dr Jeff LEE, Head of
Tobacco Control Office, Department of Health were also invited to
join the meeting to exchange views and experiences.

A scholar from Malaysia

Dr Amer Siddig AMER NORDIN is an Associate Professor of the
Department of Psychological Medicine of University of Malaya. He
has spared no effort in conducting researches in nicotine addition
and advancing the tobacco control work in Malaysia. Dr Amer
Nordin visited COSH on 12 May 2017 and shared the preparation
of Malaysia for achieving Tobacco Endgame. Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director and Annie NG, COSH Senior Project Manager
delivered a presentation on the achievements and challenges of
Hong Kong's tobacco control work, as well as the role of COSH in
curbing tobacco epidemic.
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A researcher from the United States

Prof Daniel AMOS has been granted the United States
Government-funded Fulbright Research Award to conduct
a "Comparative Study of the Making of Tobacco Policy for
Adolescents in Hong Kong and Washington State”. The research
project particularly studied tobacco control legislation and policy
that were directed towards children, adolescents and young
adults in the two places. Prof Amos visited COSH on 24 October
2017 and introduced the smoke-free laws and situation of
tobacco use in Washington State, the United States. Dr Daniel HO,
COSH Council Member and Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project
Manager, shared the information of youth smoking in Hong
Kong and experience in carrying out tobacco and health-
related research in adolescents. The use and regulations of new
tobacco products in the United States and Hong Kong were also
discussed.

Tobacco Prevention and Control Office,
Macao SAR Government

Delegates of Tobacco Prevention and Control Office of Macao
SAR Government visited COSH on 5 December 2017. Vienna LAI,
COSH Executive Director and Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project
Manager exchanged views with the delegates on various issues
of tobacco control, including the extension of no smoking areas
to all public transport terminals and stops, total ban on sale of
e-cigarettes and prohibition of display of tobacco products that
would be implemented on 1 January 2018 in Macao.
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Resource Centre

COSH set up the Resource Centre to provide a variety of information
related to smoking and health. The public can have access to the
research reports, smoke-free promotional and educational materials
such as leaflets and posters.

Collections of the Resource Centre include various local and
international periodicals, journals, books, research papers,
conference proceedings, reference materials and audio-visual
materials about tobacco hazards, passive smoking and tobacco
control legislation, etc.

Visitors of the Resource Centre include students, teachers, parents,
researchers, medical and healthcare practitioners, tobacco control
organizations and public health professionals. COSH also receives
visits from local and overseas delegations.

Enquiry Hotline

A hotline system (852) 2838 8822 is set up to provide round-
the-clock enquiry service. The public can acquire information
about smoking and health, smoke-free legislations in Hong Kong
and details of COSH's programmes. The public can also make
enquiries, suggestions and complaints regarding smoking or
other related issues via the hotline.

The hotline served as a means to collect public opinions on
tobacco control policies which are useful for the formulation of
COSH's future work plan. Any feedback, complaints or suggestions
received will be responded instantly or/and referred to relevant
government departments and organizations accordingly.
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Between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, COSH received 301 calls
from the public making enquiries, suggestions and complaints.
Major categories of cases included enquiries on legislation on
tobacco control in Hong Kong, enquiries on COSH's background
information and projects, listen to the children smoke-free
education programmes, applications for COSH's education and
publicity materials and complaints on smoking offenses.

COSH Website, Facebook and E-Newsletter

COSH website (www.smokefree.hk) is developed to enable the
public to keep updated on the activities of COSH as well as the
latest information related to smoking and health via internet.
Between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, COSH website recorded
over 400,000 page views. Pages of smoking hazards, e-cigarettes
and methods of cessation had higher views.

COSH website adopted the accessibility design to facilitate
different segments of the community including persons with
disability to access to tobacco control information and COSH's
services. The website attains the requirements of Gold Award of
"Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme” organized by the Office
of the Government Chief Information Officer and the Equal
Opportunities Commission, and was awarded the Triple Gold
Award.

E-Newsletter is also released regularly covering the studies on
smoking hazards and smoking cessation in different countries,
local and overseas tobacco control measures and the latest
activities of COSH. The general public can subscribe the
e-newsletter through COSH website.

As social media becomes popular and is one of the key
information sources, a Facebook page “Smoke-free Family”
(www.facebook.com/smokefreefamily) has been set up to interact
with the public, as well as release the news of COSH and tobacco
control. Members of public can also obtain the details of COSH's
programmes and join via the Facebook page.
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Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2017

COSH has conducted Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey
regularly since 2012 to evaluate the effectiveness and investigate
the views of public on tobacco control policy in Hong Kong. It is
a representative cross-sectional survey and covers a wide scope
of topics related to smoking and health, including pattern of
smoking, secondhand and third-hand smoke exposure, opinions
towards existing and future tobacco control measures, etc.

The School of Public Health and the School of Nursing of The
University of Hong Kong were commissioned to conduct the
Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2017. Data was collected
by Public Opinion Programme of The University of Hong Kong via
telephone interview. From April to September 2017, the survey
successfully collected the information from the randomized
sample of 5,131 respondents aged 15 years or above and spoke
Cantonese or Putonghua, including 1,712 never smokers, 1,715
ex-smokers and 1,704 current smokers. Respondents were divided
into different subsamples to answer different question subsets.
The final samples were weighted to the Hong Kong population in
2017.

Results of the survey are shown below:
Passive smoking

e Among all respondents, 9.9% reported secondhand smoke
(SHS) exposure at home in the past seven days while 22.3%
reported SHS exposure at home from air drifted from outside.

e Exposure to SHS in public places was common. 68.6% of
respondents reported that they had exposed to SHS in at least
one day in the past seven days. The most common places
were on the streets (78.9%), public transport stops (19.3%) and
parks and leisure places (13.8%).

103




104

SEE) Events

. EL%mig%ﬂmLm%ﬁiﬁéﬁE
e E TN © FOBEIEA (44.9%) « AHEE
SRR BE (41.4%) ~ BEE(15.2%) &% (10.5%)
R —FE o

o NOEINAHAM T RWAZIEEHE - fTialt
A EE—FENBEREE  KEPXHE
RIARBEIOKRGEIT AR (88.1%) « JAIE
EHMNERL (84.1%) ~ KEHAD (69.2%) + Ak
RIBENREE (62.9%) & & BB = HMEAL(61.9%)
BB —FIE o

o BIB—AKTIHE(133%EBELREERT
B =F & - BEBENK (64.4%) ERIA
SNEHD AR R = F & o

WAL EEE

o BEME @ KRADZMEENE —FBEAE
FREHEZENHEZR %1@9%% NS
5 BV ERR B (91.7%) ~ 1T ARE (82.7%) « &
ﬁ%ﬁ@ww~ﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁwww YN
KEHAOZKEBENR (76.7%) - BEEEINE
L (655%) « FTB EINA 75 (60.7%) KB
IEZESNERL (52.6%) ©

o RHAXTEIREERENH A IER
& B IR ANEH884%) - FTAE AFKH A
(84.2%) M ZKH (76.4%) °

L4 ﬁ_L)\W 84]% Xqﬁ%wu%ﬂ(ﬁﬁuﬂﬂéwu
B R R (GRS EI A 1,500 7T) °

o BRED(811% XA ERRZMEBEAER
HIGRAEIITEBRE EHE -

o TR (69.3%) X ahE BB REILAZE IR
BATHEHEBEL—BERETE -

Among the respondents who had been to the respective
statutory no-smoking areas in the past 30 days, exposure
to SHS was reported in bars (44.9%), public transport
interchanges (41.4%), restaurants (15.2%) and shopping malls
(10.5%).

Many outdoor public places were not listed as smoke-free in
Hong Kong. Exposure to SHS in these areas was serious. Most
respondents reported SHS exposure at pedestrian walkways
(88.1%), seating-out areas of bars (84.1%), near doorways of
buildings (69.2%), public transport stops (62.9%) and seating-
out areas of restaurants (61.9%) in the past 30 days.

Over 10% (13.3%) of respondents reported exposure to third-
hand smoke at home in the past seven days and over 60%
(64.4%) reported such exposure outside home.

Extension of smoke-free areas

In general, respondents supported to extend no-smoking area
to public transport stops (92.3%), queuing line in public places
(91.7%), pedestrian walkways (82.7%), busy streets (81.8%),
public areas of the residential buildings (81.7%), within three
metres of doorways of office buildings (76.7%), seating-out
areas of restaurants (65.5%), all public outdoor places (60.7%)
and seating-out areas of bars (52.6%).

Respondents overwhelmingly supported to ban smoking in
the venue where children are present, including in private
vehicles (88.4%), all public areas (84.2%) and home (76.4%).

Over 80% (84.1%) of respondents thought that the Government
should raise the fine of smoking offenses (the fine is HK$1,500
at present).

Majority (81.1%) of respondents supported that the person-in-
charge should be liable and penalized for smoking offense in
smoke-free premises under their management.

Around 70% (69.3%) of respondents agreed that the
Government should legislate to ban smoking while walking
on the streets.
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Regulations on cigarette packs

Majority (77.6%) of current smokers had noticed the pictorial
health warnings (PHW) on cigarette packs in the past 30 days,
which was much higher than never smokers (35.3%) and ex-
smokers (27.1%).

Among the current smokers who noticed the PHW, 39.6%
would think of the risks of smoking, 25.4% would think of
quitting smoking and 8.5% would stop to light a cigarette.

Most (79.7%) respondents agreed that the PHW should be
clearer and more threatening about the hazards of smoking.
Nearly two-thirds (62.9%) of respondents agreed to rotate the
PHW regularly.

Majority (76.0%) of respondents agreed to enlarge the size
of the PHW to 85% of the cigarette pack area, which was
also supported by over half (57.2%) of current smokers. (The
enlargement of PHW to 85% of cigarette pack area was
enacted in December 2017 and fully implemented on 21 June
2018))

Plain packaging standardizes and simplifies the packaging of
tobacco products. All forms of tobacco branding should be
labeled according to the government prescriptions and in
simple and plain format. Trademarks, graphics and logos are
not allowed on cigarette packs, except for the brand name
that is displayed in a standard font, colour and location on
the package. Most (79.3%) respondents supported to adopt
plain packaging. Over half (53.2%) of current smokers also
supported.

SMOKING SHOKING
CAUSES ﬁlDlESUNU
| BLIMOWESS
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Tobacco advertising and promotion

Most (64.0%) respondents had noticed the display of tobacco
products at points of sale in the past 30 days.

Majority (74.9%) of respondents thought that the display of
tobacco products was a kind of advertisement and promotion.
Nearly two-thirds (66.0%) of all respondents agreed to ban the
display of tobacco products at points of sale, while over half
(52.3%) of current smokers also supported.

More than half (61.1%) of respondents thought that brand
extension, which means the use of cigarette brand names
and logos for other products such as clothing, should be
prohibited.

More than half (54.9%) of respondents reported that they
had seen smoking scenes in movies, TV shows or internet in
the past 30 days. Most (70.2%) respondents thought that the
scenes would encourage youngsters to smoke.

Tobacco tax

Majority (81.1%) of respondents supported the Government
to raise tobacco tax next year (2018) and most (71.0%)
respondents agreed to raise tobacco tax annually.

Nearly two-thirds (62.1%) of all respondents agreed that
cigarette price should be increased to help smokers quit
smoking and it was supported by half (53.8%) of current
smokers.

Over half (58.5%) of current smokers said that they would
reduce cigarette consumption at least by half or quit smoking
if cigarette price increases. They said that the price of a pack
of cigarettes should be raised to HK$165 on average (median
was HK$100) to make them reduce cigarette consumption at
least by half, while HK$302 on average (median was HK$100)
to make them quit smoking.
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E-cigarettes, heat-not-burn tobacco products and
waterpipe tobacco
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Most respondents (88.4%) had heard about e-cigarettes.
Among all respondents, about 3.5% had ever used e-cigarettes.
The most common reasons for them to use e-cigarettes were
“curiosity” (63.0%), “gifts from others” (14.6%) and “it can help
quit smoking”(10.3%).

About 40% (40.6%) of respondents said that the e-cigarettes
they bought contained nicotine, while about 30% (33.1%)
reported that their e-cigarettes were nicotine-free. Less than
30% (29.2%) reported that there was ingredient label on
e-cigarettes whereas nearly half (45.2%) reported that there
was not.

Most (63.6%) respondents did not think e-cigarettes could
help quit smoking and one-fourth (25.9%) were not sure
about it. Only 10.5% thought that e-cigarettes could help quit
smoking.

Different regulatory measures on e-cigarettes were supported
by the majority of respondents, including banning sales to
people under 18 years old (95.4%), restricting sale regardless of
containing nicotine or not (88.9%), requiring license for shops
to sell e-cigarettes (85.5%), regulating as traditional cigarettes
(85.3%), and banning promotion and advertising (71.6%).
Nearly half (49.5%) supported a total ban on e-cigarettes.

About 10% (11.1%) of respondents had heard about heat-not-
burn tobacco products and 0.9% had ever used the products.
The main reasons of use were “curiosity” (41.6%), “less harmful
to health” (28.7%) and “cleaner than traditional cigarettes”
(22.0%).

Most (84.6%) respondents had ever heard about waterpipe
tobacco and 9.7% had ever used. The most common reasons
for them to use waterpipe tobacco were “curiosity” (69.8%),
“social gathering”(15.7%) and “introduced by friends” (12.6%).
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Opinions on future tobacco control policies

A majority (81.1%) of respondents agreed to increase the legal
age for purchasing cigarettes from the current 18 to 21 years
old, and it was agreed by 67.3% of current smokers.

More than half (51.7%) of respondents agreed that children
born in and after a specific year should never have access to
cigarettes.

Over 60% of respondents supported a total ban on tobacco
sale (61.2%) and total ban of smoking (64.3%) in Hong Kong.
The measures were also supported by 36.9% and 35.2% of
current smokers respectively.

Most (62.4%) respondents agreed to ban smoking if smoking
prevalence in Hong Kong decreases to 5% or lower.

It has been ten years since the last significant update on
Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance in 2007. Majority (77.9%) of
respondents thought that the Government should carry out
another amendment on the ordinance.

To advocate for appropriate measures and raise public awareness
duly, COSH released the preliminary findings of specific topics in
different occasions. Reports will also be produced to disseminate

the survey results.
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Focus Group Study on Perceptions of
Tobacco Packaging among Children and
Youth

Plain packaging is recommended by World Health Organization to
reduce attractiveness of tobacco products, enhance the general
public’s knowledge on smoking hazards and increase smokers’
intention of quitting. To investigate the reactions and perceptions
of primary and secondary school students on cigarette packets,
COSH and the School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong conducted the Focus Group Study on Perceptions of
Tobacco Packaging among Children and Youth in February
to March 2017. Four types of cigarette packets with the same
pictorial health warnings but of different sizes and packaging
were adopted and showed to a total of 35 primary 4 to secondary
3 students from six schools who participated in the study.

The four types of cigarette pack included (1) pictorial health
warning covering 50% of cigarette packet area in ordinary
packaging, (2) pictorial health warning covering 85% of cigarette
packet area in ordinary packaging, (3) pictorial health warning
covering 85% of cigarette packet area in drab brown plain
packaging, and (4) pictorial health warning covering 85% of
cigarette packet area in lime green plain packaging.

Results of the study showed that:

e While many students perceived the tobacco packet with 50%
pictorial health warning was terrifying, some secondary school
students thought that this packet was colourful and might
raise curiosity about smoking.
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e Students thought that the packet with 85% pictorial health
warning raised the perceived harmfulness and addictiveness
of smoking. Most students felt the enlarged warning was
smoking-deterring.

e Students thought that both packets in plain packaging were
linked to negative perceptions, included scary, disgusting,
smoking is addictive and harmful, etc. They perceived the
packets were less colourful and less attractive. Comparing to
the plain packet in lime green, the students thought that the
plain packet in drab brown was more harmful, more deterring
and less attractive.

Study on Perceptions of E-cigarettes
and Waterpipe among Young Adults in
Hong Kong

COSH collaborated with a scholar of Department of Population Health,
School of Medicine, New York University (a former scholar of School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong) to conduct a study to
understand the perceptions of Hong Kong young adults on e-cigarettes
and waterpipe and the related marketing impact. The study consisted
of in-depth interviews with e-cigarette users and waterpipe smokers,
and an online survey targeted young adults in Hong Kong.

The face-to-face interviews with 20 ever e-cigarette users (included
9 former users and 11 current users) and 20 waterpipe smokers
(4 former users and 16 current users) were conducted during
July to September 2016. All waterpipe smokers stated having first
tried waterpipe with friends at bars and nightclubs, while most
e-cigarette users started using due to curiosity, purpose of quit
smoking and thought it was allowed to be used anytime and
anywhere. Both interviewed waterpipe smokers and e-cigarette
users were attracted by the two products’ novel design, appealing
flavours and the large amount of vapour produced. However,
they generally claimed that they had limited knowledge about
the ingredients of the two products. Most waterpipe smokers
claimed that they were exposed to the products’ advertisement in
waterpipe lounges whereas e-cigarette users were on internet.
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Online survey was conducted from November 2016 to March
2017. Invitation emails were sent to a pool of Hong Kong residents
randomly selected via telephone with 1,186 respondents aged 18 to
35 years old, including 811 non-smokers and 375 current smokers,
completed the survey. The key results were summarized as follows:

e Among the young adults, the prevalence of e-cigarette ever
use was 16.7% and waterpipe ever use was 30.4%, while the
current use rates were 4.8% and 13.4% respectively.

e About one-third of respondents who had never used
e-cigarette (33.5%) and waterpipe (34.7%) were susceptible to
the use of the respective products.

e When comparing with traditional cigarettes, respondents
perceived using e-cigarettes and waterpipe and their secondhand
aerosols as less harmful, less addictive and less popular.

e Young adults were exposed to e-cigarette and waterpipe
marketing mainly through internet (34.0% for e-cigarettes and
20.9% for waterpipe), social media (32.6% for e-cigarettes and
27.0% for waterpipe) and bars/nightclubs/restaurants (20.1%
for e-cigarettes and 29.1% for waterpipe).

e Majority of respondents agreed to ban the sale of e-cigarette
(90.2%) and waterpipe (88.0%) to minors. About half of the
respondents supported a complete ban of e-cigarette (46.3%)
and waterpipe (45.0%).
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Aims and Strategies

To uphold sustainable development, COSH devises internal and
external strategies to promote a sense of responsibility regarding
environmental protection. To achieve this, COSH has adopted the
following environmentally friendly policies:

® Enhance efficiency of energy consumption;
® Reduce paper consumption;
® Reduce waste and recycle; and

® Enhance awareness on environmental protection.

Environmental Protection Strategies
Enhance Efficiency of Energy Consumption

The Secretariat conserves energy by ensuring that staff members
switch off lights, air-conditioners, computers, the monitors of
computer, photocopiers, printers and other electrical appliances
immediately after use.

Energy efficiency is one of the considerations in purchasing
electrical appliances. IT equipment such as computers, the
monitors of computer and photocopiers with automatic energy
saving functions have also been used. Instead of using traditional
light bulbs, COSH has used compact fluorescent lamps.

Reduce Paper Consumption

To disseminate updated smoke-free information to the public,
promotional materials such as posters, leaflets and brochures are
produced. COSH also maintains frequent communications with
the community and government departments. To reduce the
consumption of paper, the following measures are in place:

e Use of e-mail and intranet for internal and external
communication and transfer of document instead of
memorandums, letters and hardcopies, where possible;
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e Utilization of electronic-fax system and electronic document
management system to reduce the amount of printing;

® Reduction of the size and quantity of the printed promotional
materials and use of environmentally friendly paper;

® Most of the tobacco control information, promotional materials
and publications have been uploaded to COSH website for public
access in order to reduce the demand for hardcopies;

e Use of “Print Preview” function to check the layout and style of
document before printing to avoid wastage; and

® Use of both sides of paper to reduce consumption.
Reduce Waste and Recycle

COSH supports waste reduction and recycling and joins the
"Computer and Communication Products Recycling Programme”
launched by the Environmental Protection Department. The
unserviceable computers and computer accessories are delivered
for recycling. In addition, recyclable printer toner cartridges have
been used.

Unwanted papers such as drafts of documents or documents
with printing errors have been collected for recycling. Recycling
boxes have been placed at convenient locations in the office to
encourage staff members to recycle waste paper.

Enhance Awareness on Environmental Protection

Staff have been informed on the aims and reminded to comply
with the green measures via staff meetings, email reminders and
notices.

Where applicable, service providers and working partners are
encouraged to follow the principles of environmental protection,
eg use of eco-friendly materials and submission of document in
electronic format.

COSH will continue to make every endeavor to comply with the
green measures.
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Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018

To the Council Members of Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health

(incorporated in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Council
on Smoking and Health Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Hong Kong Council
on Smoking and Health (“the Council”) set out on pages 116 to
137, which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 March 2018, and the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2018, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Information Other than the Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Council members are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Council Members and
Those Charged Governance for the Financial
Statements

The Council members are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control
as the Council members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council members are
responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Council members either intend to liquidate the Council or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Council’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 17(5) of the
Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s
internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Council members.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council members’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

BrEMEIRIN - HMIEREE BB T5EIME  We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

STEIE - BT EXEEEIRSE - B3FEFK  among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

IR R AT 88 Al R BB 4% il ) (E (] B KRG o audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

T‘i}&iﬂ.

TR EETAISEEFT  FS.Li&Co.
BEBHESETED  Certified Public Accountants

B 201856 H26 B Hong Kong, 26 June 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

BE2018F3 A31 HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BiiEE
(%) (HKS) Note
A INCOME
BRI TR BT Subventions from the Government of the
2 Ah Hong Kong Special Administrative
—RERL Region General subvention 23,869,886 22,917,565
RITA B UA Bank interest income 56 61
FETRA Sundry income 10,661 3,256
23,880,603 22,920,882
X EXPENDITURE
BEAERL(L AR Y Approved establishment 3 5,656,869 5351,334
IHREET Project staff 4 2,008,251 1,829,555
EBEREEER Publicity and promotion expenses 12,559,540 12,081,237
2ZEH Conference expenses 185,043 103,220
DEEELTY Reference books and periodicals 8,027 8,121
WAEHRS ZEMRERE Office rent, rates and management fee 2,909,615 2,908,136
e kER Warehouse rent and expenses 217,937 200,299
HERREER Repairs and maintenance 15,007 9,940
BREIENEHR Cleaning wages and fees 57,216 55,184
e Depreciation 13,252 17,499
Rz Insurance 73,383 68,893
EE Electricity 40,856 39,907
BRMEANER Telephone and communication expenses 46,242 52,444
BIHSER Recruitment expenses 28,364 48,180
BIl®kEREEA Staff training and development expenses 3,250 3,500
EE - BERZEER Legal, professional and audit fees 26,100 25,800
BEE= Postage 9,270 14,690
Nl Fe 3 B Printing and stationery 58,879 63,626
AT H Sundry expenses 31,725 29,223
23,948,826 22,910,788
FEE (BE)/ Btk (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 5 (68,223) 10,094
AEERE(GRH)/ WA TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/
INCOME FORTHE YEAR (68,223) 10,094
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A& AR 3=
Statement of Financial Position

R 201843 A31H
At 31 March 2018

b
(E®) (HKS) Note
IRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
R SRk Property, plant and equipment 7 16,496 26,390
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
e RFERNFIA Deposits and prepayments 8 843,223 823,230
IRITRIREET Bank and cash balances 380,915 719,561
1,224,138 1,542,791
W REEE Less: CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEfT & R Accrued charges 1,010,469 1324516
FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 233,773 165,473
EREIFEB I AFE Adjusted surplus for the year
KRR refundable to the Department of Health 9 9,971 14,577
EREFEE ZERHR Accumulated surpluses refundable
to the Department of Health 10 203,640 203,640
1,457,853 1,708,206
 RBAE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (233,715) (165,415)
FAE NET LIABILITIES (217,219) (139,025)
FER: representing:
RiEEE ACCUMULATED DEFICITS (217,219) (139,025)

ZEEMN2018F 6 H26 BB RBEBMMNE  The financial statements on pages 116 to 137 were approved and
116 BEZE % 137 BRI IEMmE © authorized for issue by the Council on 26 June 2018.

& S
RB1E % 554 MH thijifs 22+ MH REELtL
B3 BlEE HBE
Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH Ms Yolanda NG Yuen-ting, MH Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
Chairman Vice-chairman Executive Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity

BE2018F3 A31 HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

M5
(B®) (HKS) Note
REEE Accumulated deficit
LEESERZER Deficitbroughtforward (139,025)  (134542)
REE (B8E)/ Bir/ (Deficit)/Surplus for the year/
AEEZE(ZH)/ WA Total comprehensive
(expense)/income for the year (68,223) 10,094
FEREIEER 2 KB AE  Adjusted surplus refundable
to the Department of Health 9 (9,971) (14,577)
ABEAZER Deficitattributable tothe Coundl ~ (78,194)  (4483)
BATEE BB Deficit carried forward (217,219) (139,025)
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HEREBR
Cash Flow Statement

BE2018F3 A31 HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

B 5T
(B®) (HKS) Note

EBEBCIRERE Cash flows from operating activities
NFEE (ER)/ B (Deficit)/surplus for the year (68,223) 10,094
R Adjustment for:
A EHBA Interest income (56) 61)
e Depreciation 13,252 17,499
LEESEERZ Operating (deficit)/surplus before working
2B (B18)/ B capital changes (55,027) 27,532
me RFENRIEZ (Increase)/decrease in deposits and
(12m)/ prepayments (19,993) 7,595
FER B (Ojd)/ 18 (Decrease)/increase in accrued charges (314,047) 166,188
FREEHEZEN/ OBd) Increase/(decrease) in provision for
annual leave entitlements 68,300 (10,047)
BIERBAT(EM)/ EAEZ  Netcash (used in)/from operating activities
2 (320,767) . 191,268
KERSZEERE Cash flows from investing activities
A - s R purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,358) (2,969)
B HALE Interest received 56 61
REFHERLFHRE | Netcashusedininvesting activities (3,302) __ (2908)
BEFHZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BERNROIEEE Surplus refunded to the Department
of Health (14,577) (10,060)
 BEEPAERIFRE Net cash used infinancing activities _ (14,577) (10,060)
B MREEEF Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
CriA)/ #n cash equivalents (338,646) 178,300
FURe RRSFEET Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 719,561 541,261
FERAE LIRS FEET Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 380,915 719,561
ReRRSFEEFIN Analysis of the balances of cash
and cash equivalents
R1T MR 417 bank and cash balances 380,915 719,561

123




¥R 25 Reports

B R ERac YAt

Notes to the Financial Statements
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General

The Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (“the
Council”) is an organization incorporated under the Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance on 1
October 1987.

The office address of the Council is at Unit 4402-03, 44"
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

Principal accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certificate Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting year
of the Council. The adoption of these amendments
to HKFRSs had no material effect on the results and
financial position of the Council for the current and
prior accounting years.

The Council has not early adopted new and revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current
accounting year. Explanation of this is included in
Note 14.
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2. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

The preparation of the financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in
which the estimates is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Revenue recognition

()  Government subventions are recognized
as income over periods necessary to match
them with the related costs they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis when
there is reasonable assurance that the Council
will comply with the conditions attaching of
them and the subventions will be received.
Government subventions received before
the revenue recognition criteria satisfied are
recognized as a liability.

(i) Bank interest income is recognized as it accrues
using the effective interest method.
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2. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currencies translation

The Council’s functional currency and presentation
currency are Hong Kong dollars. Transactions arising
in foreign currencies are converted at exchange
rates approximating to those ruling at transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period
are translated at rates of exchange approximating to
those ruling at that date. All exchange differences are
dealt with in surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses

At the end of each reporting period, where there
is any indication that an asset, including items of
property, plant and equipment, is impaired, the
recoverable amount of the asset should be estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognized to reduce the asset
to its recoverable amount. Such impairment losses are
recognized in surplus or deficit. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss should not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined has no impairment
loss been recognized in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to surplus or deficit in
the year in which the reversals are recognized.
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2. Principal accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less any subsidies received or receivable,
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment less subsidies received
or receivable and accumulated impairment losses over
their estimated useful lives using a straight-line basis
at the following rates:
Leasehold improvements  over unexpired period of lease
25 percent per annum

25 percent per annum

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment

Assets held under operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases are charged to surplus or
deficit on a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Deposits

Deposits are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Accrued charges

Accrued charges are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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2. FESTTBER#)

(i

(j)

(k)

RERBESEE
IREERERERMS @  RE MR
FEERRENMNFAK=EA R

HAERITEN ©

BEMFENFRIZEBFERERE
BRAR - BEREHR - A2E5
BRERENRGAELENBHFR
YR FFG R34

BREAL

RAMBHREAME - BRAEALER
HEUNTERNALTRERE

1

()  TFIALSHETRRE KR
RERNSERE  ERBAL:

mE)

(@) FEHISHRESAE
b) HEASHEEAXEN =

© AREGZIBEHEEKE -

Principal accounting policies (continued)

(i)

(j)

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits
with banks within 3 months to maturity from date of
deposit.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, related
party includes a person and an entity as defined below:

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Council if that person:

(@) has control or joint control of the Council;
(b)  has significant influence over the Council; or

(© is a member of the key management
personnel of the Council.
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2. FEETBE® 2. Principal accounting policies (continued)
(k) BEEAL(E) (k) Related parties (continued)

(i) & NIMERI—IEEGDE |Jﬁ (i) An entity is related to the Council if any of the
HAEBKERRENEEH following conditions applies:

@ ZEBAAgNHEASSH (@) The entity is a post-employment benefit

MECERMRESR *'J/m& plan for the benefit of employees of either

M2 RRERIEREl o BAR the Council or an entity related to the

eEIZTE TET/\,\EJJ Council. If the Council is itself such a plan,

HWiEEHEASFHE the sponsoring employers are also related

to the Council.

(b) ZEBBWI()MIEALTE (b) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
il L [F 1 ) by a person identified in (i).

© BMOQFEBALTEHER (© A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
ﬁﬁﬁgﬁj}j@ﬁjmg fig over the entity or is a member of the key
ZEEBTEEKE o management personnel of the entity.

d ZEBXHEHMABEEET (d) The entity, or any member of a group of
ERIK B R RIAAG R which it is a part, provides key management
FEEBABRS - personnel services to the Council.

3. MEBREHR 3. Approved establishment

(BH) (HK$)
e MoEBh Salaries and allowances 5,446,807 5,219,695
SREB N Mandatory provident fund contributions 145,597 143,049
FREME/ (BERRE) Provision for annual leave entitlements

made/(written back) 64,465 (11,410)

5,656,869 5,351,334
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4, IHHET 4. Project staff
() (HKS)
e Salaries 1,923,551 1,750,209
SRTEE K Mandatory provident fund contributions 80,865 77,983
FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 3,835 1,363
2,008,251 1,829,555

5. AFE (BE)/ 2R

REE(BR)/ BHREHRTIIER

5. (Deficit)/Surplus for the year

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year is stated after charging the

followings:
—FE—tF
(B%) (HKS) 2017
B TR * Staff costs * 7,718,040 7,231,290
T REFLEERERESTE  Rentals of land and buildings
held under operating leases 2,637,656 2,620,656

* BEXNEERRFRARESEMERLEE

226,462 7 (2017 4F + 221,032 7C) °

6. ZEGHENME

rEefAREEKEBRNAFERNGRER
A1 SR (AR A% U R BN = (2017468 : ) -

* including contribution of HK$226,462 (2017: HK$221,032) to
defined contribution provident fund scheme.

6. Council members remuneration

None of the Council members received any remuneration
in respect of their services to the Council during the year
(2017: Nil).
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7. 1% - MR KRERE 7. Property, plant and equipment
HEWE e WAR
MREIR REE B i
Leasehold Furniture Office
(%) (HKS) improvements and fixtures equipment Total
5% Cost
R2016%F 3 A31H At 31 March 2016 36,305 111,376 536,445 684,126
NE Additions - - 2,969 2,969
R2017F3 A31H At 31 March 2017 36,305 111,376 539,414 687,095
NE Additions - - 3,358 3,358
7201843 A31 H At 31 March 2018 36,305 111,376 542,772 690,453
EZBTE Accumulated depreciation
R201643 A31 H At 31 March 2016 36,305 105,787 501,114 643,206
BZE2017F3H31H  Charge for the year ended
IFFEEHR 31 March 2017 - 2,222 15,277 17,499
R2017%F3 A31H At 31 March 2017 36,305 108,009 516,391 660,705
BHZE 20183831 H  Charge for the year ended
IFFEEHR 31 March 2018 - 1,800 11,452 13,252
201843 A31 H At 31 March 2018 36,305 109,809 527,843 673,957
R T R B Net book value
R20184F 3 A31H At 31 March 2018 — 1,567 14,929 16,496
MR2017%F3 A318 At 31 March 2017 - 3,367 23,023 26,390
S o .

8. RERFEANFKIE 8. Deposits and prepayments
TEEIg R —F &I E 2 &S BB 547,552 The amount of deposits expected to be recovered after one
TC(20174F : ¥ 5441527T) © FE{TFIA year is HK$547,552 (2017: HK$544,152). The prepayments in
7 ¥ 295,671 70 (2017 FF = 7% 279,078 7T ) sum of HK$295,671 (2017: HK$279,078) are expected to be

KER—FANEHLAER -

recognized as expenses within one year.
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9. BREFEFZEHERER

HRNFEETTAREEFTBREELRER
REFRMENDRAR  REDE -
HEREREOARERBAFTENERMT
AR RITE - Hit - R EEEREE
EEZ BB TRIEFHEE / BER
B M BERE ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&?ﬁ% il

9. Adjusted surplus refundable to the

Department of Health

As the Department of Health does not recognize the
provision for annual leave entitlements as expenses
until actual payment is made, and regards additions to
property, plant and equipment as expenses during the
year of acquisition without recognition of write-off and
depreciation, accordingly, for the purpose of calculating

HBRZE - #eE RRENRE the surplus refundable to the Department of Health,
the provision/provision written back for annual leave
entitlements and write-off and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment have been excluded, and additions to
property, plant and equipment have been deducted.

(B%) (HKS)
NFEE (ER)/ B (Deficit)/Surplus for the year (68,223) 10,094
e Add: Depreciation 13,252 17,499
FRPEE Provision for annual leave entitlements 68,300 -
B W MBI RERERIARE  Less: Additions to property, plant and
equipment (3,358) (2,969)
FlREMEIR Provision for annual leave entitlements
written back - (10,047)
FEREIFREZRNLHARALR Adjusted surplus refundable
to the Department of Health 9,971 14,577

10. BREIRIAE 2 RIEHAER

ZN 4
BRI

BEREHZE1998F3 A31 HERE
SREEE BREFRE -

10. Accumulated surpluses refundable to the
Department of Health

The management of the Council considers that the
accumulated surpluses up to 31 March 1998 will be
refunded to the Department of Health upon request.
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N cREEREMERE 11. Financial assets and liabilities
(@ =REERSESER (a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities

(B¥) (HKS)
TREE Financial assets
MENVEEE - I SHAX AN B : Current assets — at amortized cost:
e Deposits 547,552 544,152
RITRIRE T Bank and cash balances 380,915 719,561
928,467 1,263,713
cRIAaE Financial liabilities
B EE - SR A ME © Current liabilities — at amortized cost:
i ANE-4= Accrued charges 1,010,469 1,324,516
FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 233,773 165,473
JERBIFEZEZAEE  Adjusted surplus for the year refundable
KRR to the Department of Health 9,971 14,577
EREFEEZ Accumulated surpluses refundable to the
ZRAHR Department of Health 203,640 203,640
1,457,853 1,708,206
(b) HEREREENEFERBE (b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies
EHTREEY AU T TEFEEKR In the normal course of the operation, the Council
BN B ~ A2 e AN 7 am K (B AR does not expose to significant foreign currency risk,
[B\fg o E RGN T interest rate risk and commodity and price risks. Other
risks are described below:
(i) EEmRE (i) Creditrisk
rgzEERBER LREIR The Council’s credit risk is primarily attributable
TER EHREFRERES to cash at bank and is insignificant because the
BEAFARZIRIT - IAGEER counterparty is a bank with high credit rating.

BETEA -
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1. eEEREREE @)

MHEREENBERBE(E)

12.

(b)

(c)

S8 B
nr

=

(i)

reeFHEERFMBEH
MBESHFTER - ARRAESR
FMZ BTG - WA

20185 K% 201738318 @ A&
TERMBEZFBELERSR
HE—FLUR ZEeHmEaE
ZIEEERERES X 2 KA
RRERE -

REEE

R2018F M2017FE3B3NBHATA
BREEREHMBECEERAESERE
BETESAEZR - SEEETIERA
RIS MEARENEFEREMG

5o

GERNPESS

RBMEMKR  ASRETAIREHEN TN

BFEEHEMARARINHNRERE

11.

12.

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)  Liquidity risk

The Council’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the contractual
maturities of all the Council’s financial liabilities,
whose carrying amounts are equal to total
contracted undiscounted cash flows, are due
within one year.

(c) Fairvalues

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2018 and 2017. The fair value is estimated as
the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
current market interest rate.

Commitments under operating leases

At the end of the reporting period, the Council had the
following future aggregate minimum lease payments under

NREZENT non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and
buildings:
- 2PIC- — T —
(BH) (HK$) 2018 2017
F—FNK Not later than one year 2,641,056 2467656
EEFFERER Later than one year but not later than five years 34,000 2,437,056

2,675,056 4,904,712
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13. BRAEALRS 13. Related party transactions
EFEARNGEEMEATFIETNRE During the year the Council undertook the following
EERHIAT - transactions with related parties in the normal course of its

operation:

(B (HK$)

FEEEAB R IR Remuneration for key management personnel
WMHIE TA&EF Short-term employee benefits 1,660,800 1,705,792
BERk 12 A Post-employment benefits 18,000 18,000

1,678,800 1,723,792

14. E B EERERZIERT 14. Possible impact of amendments, new
ERAIRRETR FEZ%L standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effect

BERGSEASER/MRAFE MARER The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and
B REAMB @K AKNG ZIBIER] new standards which are not yet effective for the current
KR BErEAgEE T accounting year and which have not been adopted in these
BB o financial statements. These include the following which may

be relevant to the Council.

BB RIS ERFE N - o T A T HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments 1

BB EERE 165 - THE 2 HKFRS 16, Leases 2

1R820184F 1 A 1 b,z # 16,2 Ea1RIRTI £ © 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2018
220194 1 A 1 A2 (4 Fi16 < S5 R EXC 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2019,
BEBUBHEEREIR  tMTA HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments
reERERFSRAETEMBRELL The management of the Council does not anticipate that
FoREAIRE FLEWTEK o the application of HKFRS 9 will have a material effect on the

amounts recognized in the Council’s financial statements.
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14. ©REMEERERZ1EF

MEARERAREEE ZTE
(&)

BEMBHERERE 165 - HE

BRI RELERFE 165R 2016 F 5 AR
- MREBSIERE 1759 - HE - &
BB BHRERELZE D) - 2FEF4
¥ BETLZHELEREHE 55 (2E
EHEZEC)-BEFISY  AKEHE -
EBERREE (BEEFELZEE) - 2EE 27
9 B A REEAREEAR ZHEE o
ZERFHYIER  5tE - 2V REERE
HRE - W BRAEARAZBHEER
BERBE ZENBELTEEAMIE
MEENHERERNE - REEEERE
MGHAHE -

REERG AR AHABERNEEH
EEAENRREE(EERE) MK
AEREREENENSEE(AIAER
REE) RIFAERABREENAELS
APEAE 40 RIREMENTER - P ME
REGHEELNYE - BER&REER - &
A EREEERERERARRATER
TREREE - HERBHEREMNKR

Do FMARAD RIEAEERENFE
M REEAEEENTTERS - AHEA
TRARE TEHRLERENTEHER
& PN EEREEIRANEELTF
fRE) — TR Bak b R B 5 M 5| BUR 2R
ENRERE - AEA-RBEHTEHE
BENBEERSEEREEENTE

14.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effect (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17, Leases,
HK(FRIC)-Int 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15, Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize
assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes
two elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of
low-value assets and short-term leases.

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and
the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognize the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset.
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14. Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effect (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases.

HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can
choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach.

The Council expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16
upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose
to take advantage of the practical expedients available
and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted.
As disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, at 31
March 2018, the Council had future aggregate minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
of approximately HK$2,675,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS
16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the
amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to
be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts
relating to leases of low-value assets and short term leases,
other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new
leases entered into before the date of adoption.
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Dr TANG Kam-hung, MH
Ms Pauline TANG
Mrs Gloria TIEN

Mr Eddie TING
MrTim TIU
MrTSANG Hin-hong
Dr Thomas TSANG
Ms Elizabeth TSE, JP
Ms Fion TSE

Ms Jenny TSOI

Dr TSUI Tak-yi

Mr Paulo VONG

Dr WANG Man-ping
Ms Wei WANG

Ms Snow WENG
Prof Jonathan WINICKOFF
Mr Alfred WONG
Ms Carmen WONG
Ms Chris WONG

Dr Christine WONG
Ms vy WONG

Ms Joey WONG

Mr John WONG

Mr WONG Ka-luen
Ms WONG Ka-yin
Ms Ki WONG

Ms Lillian WONG

Dr Martin WONG

Prof Patrick WONG, BBS, JP
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MrWONG Sai-wing
Ms Sharon WONG

Dr WONG Tak-cheung
Mr Tiger WONG

Mr WONG Wai-chun
Mr WONG Wai-kit

Ms Yo WONG

Mr Clement WOO

MrWU Chi-biu

Ms Daphne YAN

Mr Jim YAN

Mr Christian YANG

Ms Olive YAU
Dr Wilson YEE

Ms Maggie YEONG
Mr YEUNG Chiu-hoi
Dr Henry YEUNG
Ms Joyce YEUNG
Ms Vanessa YEUNG

Ms Mandy YIP

Ms Robynn YIP

Mr Ming YIU

Mr YU Kwok-keung
Ms YUE Shin-man

Ms Kitty YUEN

MrYUEN Siu-lam
Ms Jenny ZHANG
Mr ZHOU Yong
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BURFEBFY Government Departments

Central & Western District Council
Department of Health

Eastern District Council
Education Bureau

Hospital Authority

Islands District Council
Kowloon City District Council
Kwai Tsing District Council
Kwun Tong District Council
North District Council

Radio Television Hong Kong
Sai Kung District Council

Sha Tin District Council

Sham Shui Po District Council
Southern District Council

Tai Po District Council

Tobacco Control Office, Department of Health
Tsuen Wan District Council
Tuen Mun District Council
Wan Chai District Council
Wong Tai Sin District Council
Yau Tsim Mong District Council

Yuen Long District Council

##4 Organizations

ABWE Cheung Hong Baptist Church Neighbourhood
Elderly Centre

ABWE Lai King Bradbury Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
ABWE Un Chau Estate Baptist Church Elderly Centre

Asbury Methodist Social Service Neighbourhood
Elderly Centre

Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control

Association for Engineering and Medical Volunteer Services
(The Endeavor)

Association of Hong Kong Nursing Staff
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Auxiliary Medical Service Officers'Club Limited
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Baptist Oi Kwan Social Service Jordan Elderly Centre

Baptist Oi Kwan Social Service Tai Po Baptist Church
Au Cheung Sau Fong Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Baptist Oi Kwan Social Service Tsing Yi Neighbourhood Elderly

Centre
Build King Civil Engineering Limited

Cancer Information

Caritas District Elderly Centre — Yuen Long (Tin Chak Centre)

Caritas Elderly Centre — Sai Kung

Caritas Institute of Higher Education

China State Construction Engineering (Hong Kong) Limited

China State Construction International Holdings Limited

Chinney Construction Co. Ltd.

Chiu Chow Overseas Food Trade Merchants Association Ltd

Christian Family Service Centre

Chung Sing Benevolent Society Fong Wong Woon Tei

Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Chung Sing Benevolent Society Gan Low Khoon Choo Social

Centre for the Elderly

Chung Ying Theatre Company
Clear The Air

College of Nursing, Hong Kong

Construction Industry Council

Division of Nursing and Health Studies, The Open University of

Hong Kong

Eating Establishment Employees General Union

Elderly Commission

Elderly Health Service of Department of Health

Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Central and

Western District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of Hong Kong Eastern

District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of Islands District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Kowloon City District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations (Kwai Tsing District) Ltd.

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations in Kwun Tong District Ltd.
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Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Sai Kung District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations Sham Shui Po District
Limited

Federation of Parent-Teacher Association Southern District, H.K.
Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Tai Po District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations, Tuen Mun

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations, Wanchai District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations Wongtaisin District Limited
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of Yuen Long District Limited
Fraternity Taxi Owners Association

Fung Kai Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Harriman Property Management Limited

HKSKH Tai Wo Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Hong Chi Pinehill Integrated Vocational Training Centre

Hong Kong Academy of Medicine

Hong Kong Alliance of Patients'Organizations Limited

Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society

Hong Kong Association of Youth Development

Hong Kong Buddhist Association Buddhist Cheung Miu Yuen
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Hong Kong College of Anaesthesiologists

Hong Kong College of Community and Public Health Nursing
Hong Kong College of Community Medicine

Hong Kong College of Critical Care Nursing

Hong Kong College of Education & Research in Nursing
Hong Kong College of Emergency Medicine

Hong Kong College of Emergency Nursing

Hong Kong College of Family Physicians

Hong Kong College of Gerontology Nursing

Hong Kong College of Medical Nursing

Hong Kong College of Mental Health Nursing

Hong Kong College of Midwives

Hong Kong College of Nursing & Health Care Management
Hong Kong College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists
Hong Kong College of Orthopaedic Nursing

Hong Kong College of Paediatric Nursing
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Hong Kong College of Paediatricians

Hong Kong College of Perioperative Nursing

Hong Kong College of Physicians

Hong Kong College of Radiologists

Hong Kong Construction Association

Hong Kong Construction Industry Employees’ General Union
Hong Kong Dental Association

Hong Kong Disaster Medicine Association

Hong Kong Doctors Union

Hong Kong General Building Contractors Association
Hong Kong Institute of Family Education

Hong Kong Men'’s Health Society

Hong Kong Nutritionists Society

Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women'’s Association Limited
Hong Kong Professional Chefs General Union

Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association

Hong Kong Thoracic Society (Limited)

Hong Kong Tuberculosis, Chest & Heart Diseases Association

Hong Kong Young Women'’s Christian Association Cheung Ching

Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
Hospital Authority
Institution of Dining Art

Integrated Centre on Smoking Cessation, Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals

International Church of the Foursquare Gospel Kin Sang Church

Elderly Centre
Kai Shing Management Services Limited — World Trade
Management Services Office

Kwai Tsing Safe Community and Healthy City Association
Kwok Fung Consulting & Training Company Limited

Kwun Tong Healthy City Steering Committee

Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong
Life Education Activity Programme

Link Asset Management Limited

N.T. Taxi Owners & Drivers Fraternal Association

New Territories Taxi Merchants Association Limited

New World Construction Company Limited
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New World First Bus Services Ltd. & Citybus Ltd.

North District Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations
NT West Elder Academies Cluster

NTWJWA-SSDL Pak U Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Occupational Safety and Health Council

Organizing Committee, Yau Tsim Mong Federation of
Parent-Teacher Associations

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital
Pak Sha Wan Correctional Institution
Po Leung Kuk

Po Leung Kuk Fong Tam Yuen Leung Health Enhancement Centre
for the Senior

Po Leung Kuk Lo Yau Yuk Sheung Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
Pok Oi Hospital

Pok Oi Hospital Day Care Centre for the Elderly (Tuen Mun)

Pok Oi Hospital Mr Ng Hung Mow Memorial Family Multiple
Intelligences Centre

Pok Oi Hospital Mrs Lee Ho Siu Fong Memorial Children

and Families Development Centre

Pok Oi Hospital Mrs Wong Tung Yuen District Elderly Community
Centre

Psychiatric Day Hospital (Yung Fung Shee Memorial Centre)
Public Opinion Programme, The University of Hong Kong
Quit-Winners Club

Rhenish Rejoice Centre for the Elderly

Rhythm Garden Lutheran Centre for the Elderly

SAGE Rotary Club of Hong Kong Northwest Neighbourhood
Elderly Centre

Shamshuipo Kaifong Welfare Advancement Association
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Shan King Integrated Children & Youth Services Centre of Seventh-
day Adventists
Shine Skills Centre (Kwun Tong)

Sik Sik Yuen Ho Kin District Community Centre
for Senior Citizens
Sik Sik Yuen Ho Wong Neighbourhood Centre
for Senior Citizens
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Southern District Healthy and Safe Association
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Steering Committee on Healthy City in the Central

and Western District
Tai Po District Federation of Women
Tai Wo Motors Ltd.

The Association for Hong Kong Catering Services Management Ltd

The Association of Hong Kong Professionals

The Association of Licentiates of Medical Council of

Hong Kong

The Chinese Rhenish Church Hong Kong Synod —

Shatin Rhenish Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
The College of Dental Surgeons of Hong Kong
The College of Ophthalmologists of Hong Kong

The College of Surgeons of Hong Kong

The Federation of Medical Societies of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Academy of Nursing
The Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society

The Hong Kong College of Orthopaedic Surgeons

The Hong Kong College of Otorhinolaryngologists

The Hong Kong College of Pathologists

The Hong Kong College of Psychiatrists Limited

The Hong Kong Jockey Club
The Hong Kong Medical Association

The Joint Council of Parent-Teacher Associations of the

Shatin District Limited
The Kowloon Motor Bus Co. (1933) Ltd.

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

The Neighbourhood Advice-Action Council Shamshuipo District

Elderly Community Centre

The New Voice Club of Hong Kong

The Patients and Healthcare Professionals Rights Association

The Pharmaceutical Society of Hong Kong

The Practising Pharmacists Association of Hong Kong

The Society for the Aid and Rehabilitation of Drug Abusers (Adult

Female Rehabilitation Centre)

The Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Hong Kong

The Yuen Yuen Institute — Fanling Social Service Centre
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Tin Shui Wai Women Association Limited

TSE Ching-fung District Councilor Office

Tsuen Wan District Parent Teacher Association Federation Limited
Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee
Tuen Mun Children and Juvenile Home

Tung Wah College

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals — Integrated Smoking Cessation
Centre

United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service

United Friendship Taxi Owners & Drivers Association Ltd.
Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services

Wong Tai Sin District Healthy & Safe City

Yan Chai Hospital 35" Term Board of Directors Cheung Ching
Supported Hostel

Yan Chai Hospital Mrs. Annie Chan Social Centre for the Elderly
Yan Oi Tong
Yau On Lutheran Centre for the Elderly

Yuen Yuen V-Learn Women Centre
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Aberdeen St Peter’s Catholic Primary School
Alice Lan & Vera Shen Education Fund Delia Pei Kindergarten

Alice Lan & Vera Shen Education Fund Gordon Pei
Kindergarten

Aplichau Kaifong Primary School

Assembly of God Leung Sing Tak Primary School
Australian International School Hong Kong
Baptist Rainbow Primary School

Buddhist Lam Bing Yim Memorial School
Buddhist Lim Kim Tian Memorial Primary School
Buddhist Tai Hung College

Buddhist To Chi Fat She Yeung Yat Lam Memorial School
Caritas Ma On Shan Secondary School

Carmel Alison Lam Primary School

CCC Chuen Yuen College

CCC Heep Woh Primary School (Cheung Sha Wan)
CCC Kei Long College

CCCTai O Primary School

CCC Wanchai Church Kei To Primary School
Chan Sui Ki (La Salle) Primary School

Cheung Chau Sacred Heart School

Chiu Yang Primary School of Hong Kong
ChoiWan St Joseph’s Primary School

Christian Alliance S C Chan Memorial College
Chun Tok School

CMA Secondary School

CNEC Lui Ming Choi Primary School

Creative Kindergarten (Aegean Coast)

Dr Catherine F Woo Memorial School

Evangelical Lutheran Church Of Hong Kong Nam Cheong
Kindergarten

Fanling Government Secondary School

Fanling Lutheran Secondary School

FDBWA Cheung Chuk Shan Kindergarten
FDBWA Szeto Ho Secondary School

Five Districts Business Welfare Association School

Fu Yiu Kindergarten
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Fung Kai Liu Yun Sum Memorial School

GCCITKD Cheong Wong Wai Primary School
Greenfield Kindergarten (Sheung Shui Centre)

Heng On Baptist Nursery School

HHCKLA Buddhist Ching Kok Lin Association School
HK Sze Yap C&IA San Wui Commercial Society School
HKCWC Fung Yiu King Memorial Secondary School
HKTA Shun Yeung Primary School

HKTA Wun Tsuen Ng Lai Wo Memaorial School

HKU SPACE Community College (Kowloon East Campus)
Hoi Ping Chamber of Commerce Primary School

Hoi Ping Chamber of Commerce Secondary School
Holy Family Canossian College

Hong Kong & Macau Lutheran Church Primary School
Hong Kong Baptist Convention Primary School

Hong Kong Christian Service Pui Oi School

Hong Kong College of Technology (Jockey Club
Undergraduate Campus)

Jordan Road Government Primary School
King's College Old Boys' Association Primary School

Kowloon City Baptist Church Hay Nien (Yan Ping)
Primary School

Kowloon City Baptist Church Ka Fuk Kindergarten
Kowloon Tong Bishop Walsh Catholic School

Kowloon Tong Government Primary School

Kowloon Tong School

Kwai Ming Wu Memorial School of The Precious Blood
Li Cheng Uk Government Primary School

Li Sing Primary School

Ling To Catholic Primary School

Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial Secondary School
LKWFSL Wong Yiu Nam Primary School

Lok Sin Tong Ku Chiu Man Secondary School

Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School

Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School

Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School (Branch)
Lok Sin Tong Leung Wong Wai Fong Memorial School
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BEEZTPFPE Lok Sin Tong Wong Chung Ming Secondary School
LETIHE /P2 Lok Sin Tong Young Ko Hsiao Lin Secondary School
BELER N2 Ma On Shan Ling Liang Primary School

FE LR E R Melody Anglo-Chinese Kindergarten

RHENER Mu Kuang English School

ERNE Ning Po College

B ERT Notre Dame College

FAMERITAEPE NT Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District Secondary School
FLREENHER (45EA) Peace Evangelical Centre Kindergarten (Ngau Tau Kok)
MERES A KRR TER Pentecostal Church of HK Tai Wo Nursery School

T EERETIRAENE Pentecostal Gin Mao Sheng Primary School
REBKREENE Po Leung Kuk Chee Jing Yin Primary School
RERETE IR HEE Po Leung Kuk Choi Koon Shum Kindergarten
REBHERE/NE Po Leung Kuk Fong Wong Kam Chuen Primary
REBSEL NS Po Leung Kuk Fung Ching Memorial Primary School

(RE B 7 25 I Po Leung Kuk Gold & Silver Exchange Society
Pershing Tsang School

Po Leung Kuk Hong Kong Taoist Association Yuen Yuen
Primary School

RREEBERMAGEZ)E

REBEUEERE Po Leung Kuk Lee Shing Pik College

RE BRRMEEIR AL ER Po Leung Kuk Madam Chan Wai Chow Memorial School
REBRIINE Po Leung Kuk Riverain Primary School
REBASENE Po Leung Kuk Stanley Ho Sau Nan Primary School
REBHRRNE Po Leung Kuk Tin Ka Ping Primary School

REBEKE /N2 Po Leung Kuk Wong Wing Shu Primary School
REEAHEER Pope Paul VI College

FEZWEMNE Precious Blood Primary School (Wah Fu Estate)

Queen Elizabeth School Old Students’ Association
Primary School

PRk B A 2

2CE4gHE Queen's College Old Boys' Association Secondary School
B3R E Rosaryhill School

BHEENE Salesian Yip Hon Primary School

BERET KEEEERN School of Nursing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
BAERNEEIESR School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong
BARBNLE LS School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong
JBIT/NER Shanghai Alumni Primary School

CHET /)2 Shau Kei Wan Government Primary School
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Shek Lei Catholic Primary School

Shek Lei St John's Catholic Primary School
Sheung Shui Rhenish Church Kindergarten
Shun Tak Fraternal Association Yung Yau College
Shung Tak Catholic English College

Si'Yuan School of the Precious Blood

Sin Ching Kindergarten

Sir Ellis Kadoorie (S) Primary School

SKH Fung Kei Millennium Primary School
SKH Good Shepherd Primary School

SKH Holy Carpenter Secondary School

SKH Holy Cross Primary School

SKH Kei Hau Secondary School

SKH Kei Yan Primary School

SKH Li Fook Hing Secondary School

SKH St Michael's Primary School

SKH Tin Wan Chi Nam Primary School

SKH Tseung Kwan O Kei Tak Primary School
SKH Tsing Yi Estate Ho Chak Wan Primary School
SRBCEPSA Lee Yat Ngok Memorial School
St Francis of Assisi's Caritas School

St Hilary’s Kindergarten

St Hilary's Kindergarten (Hung Hom)

St Margaret's Co-educational English Secondary
and Primary School

St Paul’s Catholic Day Nursery (Tai Wai)

St Paul’s College Primary School

St Stephen’s Church College

Stafford English Kindergarten

Stewards Pooi Kei Primary School

STFA Leung Kit Wah Primary School

STFA Wu Siu Kui Memorial Primary School
Sung Kei Kindergarten

Tai Po Old Market Public School (Plover Cove)
Tak Nga Secondary School

Tak Sun School
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The Association of Directors & Former Directors of
Poi Oi Hospital Limited Leung Sing Tak College

The ELCHK Faith Lutheran School

The Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care,
Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

The Mission Covenant Church Holm Glad No. 2 Primary School

The Nethersole School of Nursing, Faculty of Medicine,

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Tin Shui Wai Government Primary School

Tong Mei Road Government Primary School

Tseung Kwan O Catholic Primary School

Tsing Yi Trade Association Primary School

Tsuen Wan Trade Association Primary School

Tsz Wan Shan St. Bonaventure Catholic Primary School

Tun Yu School

Tung Chung Catholic School

Tung Koon School (Sheung Shui)
Tung Wah College

TWGHSs Chan King Har Kindergarten

TWGHs Hung Wong Kar Gee Nursery School

TWGH:s Lee Ching Dea Memorial College
TWGH:s Li Chi Ho Primary School

TWGHSs Nickon Kindergarten

TWGHs Sin Chu Wan Primary School

TWGHs Wong Yee Jar Jat Memorial Primary School

Xianggang Putonghua Yanxishe Primary School of

Science and Creativity

Yan Chai Hospital Choi Hin To Primary School

Yan Chai Hospital Law Chan Chor Si Primary School

Yan Chai Hospital Nina Lam Kindergarten

York International Kindergarten

Yuen Long Church (CCC) Chan Kwong Kindergarten

Yuen Long Long Ping Estate Tung Koon Primary School

Yuen Long Long Ping Estate Wai Chow School

Yuen Long Merchants Association Primary School

Yuen Long Po Kok Primary School
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List of Smoke-free Support Stations

EEREERERAR -EEHS

MR BRI AP
BERFRERBRAR
MEEBRABR AR - EXABHER

RAMEEEBARAR] - BHIEE—H

RAYEEEBRAR -BERL
RAMEEEBRARA] - REFL

RKAYEEEBRAR - REIEAE

RAMEEEBRAR - ENEERE

BRMR CDAE%E ) MFRE
PEREMERATF
EERRERS L - BEERERS

R R AR AR
BEREPXAEEFEARBEREEEERSMR
HEBRERE (FB) BRAT]
HEE2HREEMR (BE)BERAF

HHETREBBRAR
BkEE P RFH O
BT ARAR]

BEE

BRI EMNBEE ML ERER AT - Hi

EEMERRAT - KETERE
BRERF T LERAT
BEEE

BEET S5

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited — Fortune
Metropolis

Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control
Belle International Holdings Limited
Build King Holdings Limited — Avenue of Star

Cayley Property Management Limited — Belvedere Garden
Phase |

Cayley Property Management Limited — Cavendish Centre
Cayley Property Management Limited — Eastern Centre

Cayley Property Management Limited —
Southeast Industrial Building

Cayley Property Management Limited —
Yardley Commercial Building

Pierre CHAN Office

China Agri-Product Exchange Limited

Christian Family Service Centre — Medical & Health Services
Computer And Technologies International Limited
CUHK JC School of Public Health and Primary Care
DHL Express Hong Kong

DHL Global Forwarding (Hong Kong) Limited

Easy One Financial Group Limited

Florient Rise Customer Service Centre

Flyer King Ltd.

GAL Graphics Consultants Ltd.

Harbourfront Landmark Premium Services Limited

Henderson Land Group Subsidiary The Reach Management
Limited — The Reach

Hon Hing Enterprises Limited — Wing Hing Industrial Building
Hong Kong Air Purifier Center Limited

Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society

Hong Kong College of Midwives
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EAEEY Hong Kong Medical Association

AbERETE Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association
RERBER AR - REIEER Hong Yip Service Company Limited - Tang Court
ERERR Hospital Authority

MEYRFPOEEBRAR] Hutchison Logistics Centre Management Limited
S BAR AT - EALT :L:Jﬁ(cjmsgon Property Management Company Limited — China
EBHE i~education

B MESIEER AR - B E International Property Management Limited — Baguio Villa

Kai Shing Management Services Limited — East Point City
(Commercial)

B EERBER AT - RAEWES

BB EBEREER AT - FTEES Kai Shing Management Services Limited — Metropolis Plaza
R EERT Kwai Chung Hospital

iz - B i Leader-Sunnic Joint Venture

=2 DHFER (D) Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School (Branch)
BETREFREFTLSBER Lok Sin Tong Leung Wong Wai Fong Memorial School
HEEZNE Lok Sin Tong Primary School

L2 T IG{PRRERL Lok Sin Tong Yeung Chung Ming Primary School
REEEAER AR (RIE/)\E) Main Shine Development Limited (Verdant Villa)

BB (EM) BRAF MaxiPro (Asia) Limited

B EEBRAR (EEKEMESEKE)  Metro City Management Limited

— FTEBSL — Hf (A Member of Henderson Land Group) — Metro City Phase ||

Metro Harbourview Management Limited

(A member of Henderson Land Group)

FEER _EEAMEAR AT (BEE) Nan Fung Group — Hon Hing Enterprises Limited (Green Park)
Nan Fung Group — Hon Hing Enterprises Limited

(Marvel Industrial Building)

BEFEEEARAR(EEKXESRENKE)

R

AOKE - ZEMPXERAR (FEXNE)

B EE _EEEARAT (BEAR) I(\Iizr; i?ggjlgt:]z)— Hon Hing Enterprises Limited
Nan Fung Group — Hon Hing Enterprises Limited
(Shiu Fung Building)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited

(Aquamarine Garden)

MEKE - EZELCEXBARARKEX

Y

)

MEEE-REERARAF (2R

b

X - . N Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited
MEEE REFEEERAT(SEILHL) 7 mroup m e .
(Golden Dragon Industrial Centre)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited
(Nan Fung Commercial Centre)

MEEE-REZERERAR] (BEFFETL)
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R

HEEE - RRERERAA (REIEFL)

i
U

S8 - RRERARAR CKFREAE)

MEKE-HEEEARAR(BEAE)
HEER - HEERERAF

(ERE85%)
MESE - HEEEBRAA
(Queen'’s Cube)
HEEE - -HEEEFRAT
(EEXRE)

HEEE - e EEARAR
(The Wellington)
HEEE-BEMEERERAA

CREE)

HURE - BENEERARAT
(P 2 3745)

SURE - BEYEERERAT
(I ERES)

DHRE

EE R EEES O
FALHmERR AR
BEXEERARAQA]

AERZESHERGMERLEHTERES

F-ANFRESNMEERAR AR
F-AFEEHMEEEBRAA
-2E5ES
F-AFRESMEEREABRAR
- ’im/E% 1 4
F-ARFEEHMEEEERAA
- Rim/E% 2 1
EMYEEEBRAR - AP LE
ENMEERERAF - HEF L
EMPREEBR AR - RiE
EMPEERBRAR - RAEF L
MIEZ R

NEREEE [E8E | ATREEE TAUERE

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited
(Tak Fung Industrial Centre)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited
(Wing Hang Insurance Building)

Nan Fung Group — New Charm Management Limited
(Nan Fung Tower)

Nan Fung Group — New Charm Management Limited
(No. 8 Wyndham Street)

Nan Fung Group — New Charm Management Limited
(Queen’s Cube)

Nan Fung Group — New Charm Management Limited
(Winfield Building)

Nan Fung Group — New Charm Management Limited
(The Wellington)

Nan Fung Group - Vineberg Property Management Limited
(Aqua Blue)

Nan Fung Group - Vineberg Property Management Limited
(Nan Fung Sun Chuen)

Nan Fung Group - Vineberg Property Management Limited
(Tseung Kwan O Plaza)

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital

Pok Oi Hospital Community Health Care Center
Rainbow Dessert Company Limited

Richform Holdings Limited

Sai Kung District Council Social Services & Healthy and Safe
City Committee

Savills Property Management Limited

Savills Property Management Limited - King Palace Plaza

Savills Property Management Limited - Kings Wing Plaza 1

Savills Property Management Limited — Kings Wing Plaza 2

Sino Estates Management Limited — Argyle Centre Phase |
Sino Estates Management Limited — Empire Centre

Sino Estates Management Limited — One Mayfair

Sino Estates Management Limited — Tsim Sha Tsui Centre
Smoke Terminators Society

Smoking Cessation Program in Workplace, Lok Sin Tong
Benevolent Society, Kowloon
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Spa Collection Group
DAFHT AR B2 (/NERER) St. Louis School (Primary Section)
Steering Committee on Healthy City in the Central and
Western District

FTEEEBRBERAA - REE Synergis Management Services Limited — Fairland Gardens

MEEERBBERAR -2ETEAE

FRREZFETAREERATEERES

Synergis Management Services Limited — Gold King Industrial

Building
TEEEBRFABRAR - AIE/EERE Synergis Management Services Limited — Hollywood Terrace
FEBEREERAR - EE Synergis Management Services Limited - King Hin Court
e BEMEBEEERAR The Coronation Estates Management Limited

The Graces — Providence Bay Property Management Co. Ltd
EREERY -TEH The Hong Kong Jockey Club — Retail Department
BENEehEZIBREANEHEREK The Hong Kong Tuberculosis Association Chinese Medicine
A O Clinic cum Training Centre of The University of Hong Kong
HEVEBNER The Office of Miss So Lai Chun District Councillor
BEBRE (TR HESM - EIESM - The University of Hong Kong (Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,
NHEESRT) School of Nursing, School of Public Health)
Z 2Bt g ARIEH O The Yuen Yuen Institute — Fanling Social Service Centre
Bl Z & fm 22 0y The Yuen Yuen Women Vlearn Centre
LEEEER Tsuen Wan Trade Association Primary School
HREE =T (R ERRTE) Tung Wah Group of Hospitals (Chinese Medicine Services)

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals — Integrated Smoking Cessation
Centre

RE =B - MUEER A IRIEH D

Urban-Wellborn Property Management Limited — Sereno

EHMEEEBRAR - KREE

Verde
ERMEEEERAA] Urban Property Management Limited
BEWYMEBR AR - MBEEES- 1057 Urban Property Management Limited — 8-10 Caldecott Road
BEWOEEEER AT - BIRE Urban Property Management Limited — Aldrich Garden
ERMEEREARAG - E5HE Urban Property Management Limited — Beverley Heights
EMMEERBR AT - M H1E26-365% Urban Property Management Limited — Black’s Link 26-30
BERYEERBR AR - M N1E62-705% Urban Property Management Limited — Black’s Link 62-70
S AR A ] - R — LPJ}::&S}Q |Property Management Limited — Blessings Garden
EMYEEIRBRAR - FEMN Urban Property Management Limited — Ching Wah Court
EWMEEEARAR - BERL Urban Property Management Limited — Comfort Centre
EWMEERBRAF - BERE Urban Property Management Limited — Flora Garden
ERMEEEBR AR - BER Urban Property Management Limited — Fung Fai Court
BRI ERBRAR - BIHERE Urban Property Management Limited — Grand Villa
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List of Smoke-free Support Stations

BRMEERBRAR - EIRE
BEUYEREEBRDR - BEL
BEUYEREEBRAR - BIRAE
BHUMEEEBRAR - HHE
ERYEEEBRAR] - REL
ERYEEEARAR] - ERILU—R
ERYEEEBRAR] - FEY
BRMEERBRAR - BEEE
BUMEEEBRAR - BET
BUMEEEBRAR - KEH
EUYEREEBRLR -EEE
BHUMEEEBRAR - RE&E
EUYEEEBRAR - EERE R
ERYEEEARAR - FERBE
BRMEEEABRAR - BRED
BERERGEE

T EBEEERBRAE]
REEEERAT]
REMERRAT]

ot

ot

BRMEREEARAB(EERXMESRERE)

BrrREEAR AR
HEYEEEBRAGF - RER 995

BEYEREEERAR - FERL
BREMEEEBERAR - EEERHS
w2 R e

BMERERERES FKTH & RISE

BAIERELEERAR

Urban Property Management Limited — Handsome Court
Urban Property Management Limited — Hung Fuk Court
Urban Property Management Limited — Hung Tak Building
Urban Property Management Limited — Illumination Terrace
Urban Property Management Limited — Ka Lung Court
Urban Property Management Limited — One Beacon Hill
Urban Property Management Limited — Pok Hong Estate
Urban Property Management Limited — Ronsdale Garden
Urban Property Management Limited — Scholastic Garden
Urban Property Management Limited — Shing Loong Court
Urban Property Management Limited — South Wave Court
Urban Property Management Limited — Tung Chun Court
Urban Property Management Ltd. — No. 1 Robinson Road
Urban Property Management Ltd. — South Hillcrat

Urban Property Management Ltd. - Yin Lai Court

Waihong Environmental Service Group

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Wang On Group Limited

Wang On Properties Limited

Well Born Real Estate Management Limited (A Member of
Henderson Land Group)

Western Harbour Tunnel Company Limited

Whampoa Property Management Limited — 99 Cheung Fai
Road

Whampoa Property Management Limited — Chun Fai Centre
Whampoa Property Management Limited — Rambler Plaza
Women Service Association

Worldshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social
Services

WTS Bright Orchid Women's Association Limited
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List of Premier Smoke-free Restaurant

HREFEZEEE Top Premier Smoke-free Restaurant
BreEEEERERAR]

Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited

BERKE Lung Fung Cafe
FTRFARRLOK Neway Karaoke Box Ltd.

T XL ERRBAERRAA Stage Catering Services Limited
RNEHFREHE Tai Hing Catering Group

SMNBEBREREEBR AR

Taste of Asia Group Limited

SBREIZES INEEE Top Premier Smoke-free Outdoor Restaurant

Rosie Jean's Café

EHREFEREE Premier Smoke-free Restaurant

82 Eighty Two Bar
DN 1] Akabashi Ramen
Al EEEEE Ali-baba Restaurant
Aziza
TS RIEEE Beef King
BN E Chef de Singapore
— R EREMBE KR Chez than noodle
1523 $I 4 BT 55 Chiu’s Kitchen
Chow Chow Café
I FEMHmARAR Chung So Si Fong Dessert Ltd.
sl Couple & The Bao
ERERE Das Bier
EUWRERERIE DMG Fortune Vegetarian Shop
INIF R Eggplant Thai Viet Cuisine
WE—# Fang SiYiFan
Food Oriental
FEARMEH GBS (BB)5) Forest Angel
AN mE (REE) Forest Angel (Fuk Sing Building)
BEEE Fukuzen-Bento
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List of Premier Smoke-free Restaurant

o BOnBEE
HREKE

T EIREZR

PABH

TR R A E

(F
SRERMENIRERALR
BRKE

BiERY

MBI EE

N

L] 222RRRBH O
Z
BARD{E A SR EH o

R E AR AR - BPIEk (25 ]
"Cheers Bakery”

AR AR AT - HE BB REH L
“Cheers Café”

R EER A A - EEERT "Cheers Café”
AR B A R AR - bR EERT “Cheers Café”

BB AR A - =AU “Cheers Café”

DR

REARBEIH
155%
—SHE
B/

183 Cafe

RER

Golden Restaurant

Goodday Café

Good taste house

Great Noodle Gourmet Ltd.

Have a Date

Hing Li

Joyous Restaurant

King Lam Chinese Noodles Restaurant
Lai Sing

Lai Sun

LHGroup

Like Cafe

Lok Sin Tong Meal Delivery Service Centre
Mak Ming Noodles

Master Ming Dessert

MentalCare Connect Co, Ltd. —"Cheers Bakery”
Tuen Mun Hospital

MentalCare Connect Co., Ltd. — “Cheers Café”
Education Bureau Education Service Centre

MentalCare Connect Co,, Ltd. - “Cheers Café”
Kwong Wah Hospital

MentalCare Connect Co,, Ltd. - “Cheers Café"
North District Hospital

MentalCare Connect Co,, Ltd. - “Cheers Café”
Wong Tai Sin Hospital

Mikura

Mong Kee BBQ Restaurant Ltd.
New Hennessy Restaurant
Nittaya Restaurant

Number Fifteen

One Po Dian

Pak Mei House

Pizza Go Lucky

Pok Oi Café

RACHA MOO YANG

Second Bar

Sp.Ace Cafe & Kitchen Limited
Stand-up-eating
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List of Premier Smoke-free Restaurant

BESHE Super Star Group
KiGE Tai Ji Restaurant
Lisb i -3 Tapas Brew
LFEIN Taste in Mind

The Association for Hong Kong Catering Services

EAEBERGE
e - Management Ltd.

The Oyster House
g . % ThirsTea
TicTacToe
=)l Wan Chuen Siu
BED CERIEEEEARD) With your mind
Yaki Biru

N\TTRAER
PNRR(PEREAFIE)
IR (PIRKEH)
ANSSPNE-S2

AN ==

JIIBR R

M ELE A

SCEEHERR (R ANIK)
KELZ (FURAR)
KELZ (RPHEE)
ERCIATIEIEE (F—DE)
AL ] BIAE (48)5)
KERZEN

SHEBEHE
G RN
R4 BHEYR
R

)| K%
H3 R

B2 LM
R
SR
SRIRAC T
FRIRBH E I

ER
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BEREBEEG 2 HAEE
Terms of Reference of Standing Committees

A ITHREES

TR BRI AR B 7R
ERHER -

i3

BEESMEZT

ERMZEE
BE -

i3

TRA MEB) 2 IR

EEWERMNENE  LAASTRIEK
EHRE o

EEZBEZEMRLERE -

Z - EHEES

ER(RE (RREE) GO RER
2k (RIETR) RODM B IRIEEE
ZBITIER

R RAE B EEEENEREZ
178

(B

IR I EARTT AR E
52 SR8 e SR~ R ST IE R o

A HBEREERES

MABRLITEAAE ARG ERE
BRI 2 A E R AR S S EE
EEITAZER -

RENABA 2 HBSEERE) - KA
E{EREMEHRIBIES °

A. Executive Committee

To advise COSH on the strategic planning of COSH
programmes and initiatives.

To consider and endorse the budget of COSH projects
and activities.

To oversee the functioning of COSH secretariat, in
particular staffing and financial matters.

To oversee the information security management of
COSH.

B. Legislation Committee

To monitor the implementation of various tobacco
control measures stipulated in the Smoking (Public
Health) Ordinance and the Fixed Penalty (Smoking
Offences) Ordinance.

To review and recommend to COSH appropriate
action on legislative matters.

To consider ways and means to promote public
awareness of the legislative requirements and
encourage their compliance.

C. Education and Publicity Committee

To consider ways and means that can best educate the
general public on the harm of smoking and passive
smoking, and to promote a smoke-free lifestyle in the
community.

To plan and organize territory-wide publicity
campaigns to de-normalize smoking and promote
smoking cessation.
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3. REIRMITEDRERTLFREZ 3. To plan and implement education projects to prevent
HEEE - children and youth from taking up the habit of
smoking.
4. EBEESEYREE B BERE
EREL 8% SEER L85 4. To oversee the production of publicity materials such
FER o as TV Commercials, posters, leaflets, souvenirs and

annual reports.
5. REHAEREEES IR - WD
BRI E T E o 5. To evaluate the education and publicity campaigns
and to initiate improvements where appropriate.

CHE zzl% g\é . .. .
T e = D. Community Liaison Committee

1. B[R St R AR AR RS - M (P LT , ith district and :
TS B > 10 B2 T o . To communicate with district and community groups

on COSH's tobacco control works and initiatives.

2. EEZESHEMBEAEEETF LrH

2. To serve as a focal point for community liaison on

E S
b matters related to COSH and tobacco control.
B BAAGA EEE
3. ETHTiI”:”'%H%&DVE B REATIRR 3. To partner with various community groups in the
BB REE °

planning and implementation of tobacco control
programmes and activities.

X BRERFEZES

1. &%&Wﬁﬁ%ﬂ&k EﬁfiﬁZﬁﬂ

E. Information and Research Committee

BRSRERECERGAR 1. To collect and collate all information related to
smoking and health and to disseminate such
2. RIEAEMFEEERERE - information through appropriate means and networks.
3. BAEBHMRIRIARERAMEMR 2. To identify appropriate themes of research and survey
= projects to be carried out.
4, EITMBEITIE o WSCEEIE S 3. To provide advice for the design of research and
TR ERIERTEE . 5Tt surveys and the subsequent presentation of results.

BB RAE BRI -
4. To commission out research projects; and to invite
5. AERSHRER  REZBEr submission of research proposals on targeted research
TE o topics; to examine research proposals and recommend
projects for funding to COSH.
6. REINMABEERERRENSME o
BT TIEY o 5 To publicize the research/survey results and
recommend follow-up actions having regard to such
results.

6. To initiate and organize scientific conference, seminars
or workshops on smoking and health research.
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BAE TMEKXESR LEE
20175128 F-+=3kiREE

7 7

EARERBEREZAEG

HONG KONG COUNCIL ON SMOKING AND HEALTH

FNE THEXREXK LEF
FENE T AR

IR PR MEBIR T - FER T OORENMEC  BAREC BRBEC MKE
' EEKPERSR
*ERARBARLEGESMR
ERAREARRESE

1. BIE

2015 FEFEBMIRIERA105% SHR FREMNE—' o
AT EBNREXTBETF—BEHEZL T B1F 2015
FHE 641,300 ZIREE - BRITAZHIREEESEERE
E > thANMEEERET BESERBZEE - EEEHRE
—¥HREE? TERNEBEESIE 7,000 AFET o Ik
ETENSEAE R+ =Er EENEEEREEERLEN
0.6%) MBS - REFEIERMS RASTHEER Y o IRIEIRSZ L
AL EEEBEERT B REEHLERHEES
THIKEE o Nl » HBREL 3.0%NRESE SEFEMRIRS
BIAERRTS ' ©

MEAFR] LBERTEE 18 BIEEMIENEE > =&
HEARREERE - EABREREERME (RCT) 18
M7 —E=EEHg R TRNEEMNEMERET RS
FEBYRGRY > A3 AZEAE T FRIBHEIR (AT BIIKIR - LARS AT
HPAEREEME - 18 BHNZHET » BIEEFINR
TEESANEENREREERIENZIE

MELBNERE BRREERNLAESSBMAZE £
2EBRTEPEEFNMETBRNB LR TEC - HiZE
BETAIELL BN EEAEEBAEREE » BREEE
R IRAEARLL - BESHIMIERX " o B 2009 £ (2011 Fik

5N BERERRERZES T —HREBASHIESRER
HEESRSIFEN TMIEAREK LEE - B 2009 FEE
2014 £ > fE3H @ IBE T #BiB 5,000 ZIREESMEEE *" >
MmiEBEYEEAHNRIEE I LUER/ NEREE RS2
RIS o

MUERFSAENIBIR S AUESR » R E ARG TR B8R B AU AR
75 © o BB A 4H4E MPOWER RBEHHR) “O” KK TR {HmMIE
WEh) > BEIREEIR EBMN A AR RIEERE " o HhE
RBEME Mt S WAERTS— 15 > B BNRERFSTF R T
DMER - BRTEREREIN > BIERLHENREENERES
LEARFS (65.0%) » fIE TR ESAMIERT ' - WENRIE
REETBREREE THSRAER » BEAZSHREEN
MEBRERE - TEENEE—EREE R RTEIRS
KRE BB EIRIPERE o UFRIAZEEET @ BLREENRFENK
LML - WEN IREEERENRES > £ 12 BBAM
IHAUERIRTAEME R FRISIN ' o RITHI—IBRIZTIR SN REE -
AEENMNREEHILIEHERENEE B I SERINAE
(43.6%%t 15.3% > p 18 <0.001) "* o



£2015 % » HEERELREZER - BEARBEESR B
BRBAHBEESM ~ 18 BEEHT M 15 @B ERM
FRNE MEAREK LE > UEEHERE » WET T —E
= AL BIPEI H BR ER ST 0 LGHME T BENREEZIRE
BIMERAR (1833 183) RHEMMIERTS (EBEN4E) - %2
mERE (BrREE48) » SR 8BmE/ N mFM—RmE
BE (HIRAB) B -

2. HiE

21 BEFE

20156 H20HE9 R 24 AR » ZEGHTEE2HB 18&
BT H5 70 BIBEFE > BIEERALBAMIBEYROETT
MIESERREEEO > LIREREESILEE - B 66
B EEE AR AN S (Cluster randomization) (518
FEAEE 22 BIREEY) S EBBENMELEEEE
DECEIFEENAE - BrEBSAELERAE -

EFFERESES L > RBIIRNREHEES S AELEET
R —SREHIEE > WEPEMPISIILEERER !

1. Fm 18 BN EBEMNE ;

2. EREA=ERASRREELD—EHMUL ;
3. EERFAKREBEFX ;

4. —SEiHRMRABAERE 4 ppm BLLE ;

ZE2EERRE > MIEHEE SRR EERIEES HEKY
ReliRNz - RS2 EENZTERER @ RUEHES S
thPIERERRE - WIRBMEDBETHRETE - §528
BRRET NS EBEREREARATNSEBE NI USMLE -
WAANAIEBFTAER] ©

e A EAERE% 50 (Block randomization) sRHE(R =1EEF
Az BFIRBRENASTE - BE2EBETENETEMRERE
FA http://www.random.org (—1& &4 FEi%EEEa9481L8) HIBE
HEEHINAE » BRI ANA 36 M IMEL > AR EMHERIT
PEMVBED BT - BEBENTEABRSEREEEH—KE
MERMNEER S EZEE > MAEEHESEREESNERA
BADHEIER - BETHEARERHA BT RIEREEDAE
BB ©

ZEEHRIE 2016 F 2 Ak 3 BEM T AhEE K MHUIERR
K BEEETE - HA 5 R =ER RERIIAETIBBEY)
E2AENZ2EERMT - ZRIVEEBE 10,000 7TTHIFEY)
1855 o T2 THEARK ) SEEFR 67 B2FEF > il
INEEEYEEAFEN2EE (BH=11) BXHZETHEHE
2MBEER - WEESEEBRT 25,000 FTTAVEMNIREEES ©
DERFEDHIESEEBE 15,000 TN RS K&
71 10,000 TTHYZREIFREFAE S5 ©

2.2 MIETTEERIE

EHENE  2EEERERERIIEEN R SRS R g wE
NEEBRENAERY - TIEEEGHEER W—D1E) »
MIEEE S AWARD® B A A2 BEIRHAIEEHEEMN
BiEAEHE > EREHERENE— R EANEERE
FFi#E1T ©« AWARD /75845 - (1) HRMRERAIESE (Ask) ;
(2) FRRFELEEEERSERENEZE (Warn) ; 3) &
FEIREBEBR / PARK=ZE L RAAEUE SR RNER
(Advice) ; (4) BNIRIEEZIREMIERTS (Refer) ; K& (5)
EEL LD ER (Do-it-again) - EZLBEEIEBFS—RAM EE
EENRNBELEEEER  E1EHE [EMaREERE
—EZNE =2 ERREEREMZREREMIET ) WERERE
Heaa o BIRAAINELE ¢ (1) RIREN ZF/E5 | Ha9HER R
BHIFR 5 (2) TRAERES I ABRIERNEWE R ; (3) AL
IhMIENET R 5 K (4) BEISEEREN EREEBFREMIE
AR - 2BEEGNE R TERNEERERZWINRAET
F8 ©

2EEGRENETBRAOMERT | HEENEHEMR
% RE=AEGERBTL ; BiREER 18 EMEHE
AR ; BERRAEARERT ; REBABEE DEMEL
%7? 16 °

RIEHES G AMERG FRSBEEBNSERERBNE
K (BIENERSERS ~ Ut ARR) - REERBHRE (0
MR S EERAEXERNMEE TR ERMHE) - 1
R2BERTBBZESREMBRL I (BEERBNYS) &
RIGEERIRIERB IS - 2EEBRIWEIRBHEENE
i 0 AMPIETE RSN TRAIMIEDFIRT
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R EE : 2B EETRRE HEFHE N E—HY AWARD
MIEHENEREEEFRER - 2BEE TR TEOAER
Fi%IETRARS R (AWARD I R) » BEFRERINEIANEIRF -
A E TR G — (BB EERIER I

e 2EESRWEIFE/[BE (S0R) IIMESS KE
IKREREZEEERALBERN THEARK LLBN 12858
BOAIE/ M

FFefZAE : LIRS BEGWS|A TIRMZEME) © (1) EE2M
ZESEMEETEMERY MEAFR EFE58; (2)
BAEZ MBI ; M Q) ELIFSABESEL g ESE
FRMEFIMNIBHNSEE - £R— 58 LIESEIBIIFAZUERN
2EEQERHEBHRIMITSEEERIARETR » FIE=(E
BR7NERF@BEYEEAH R P ESHRRNERSF AR
B o

PRE2BEEIN2MEEERN— = ZREARETEE
RELEHEHRIER R - TBENKEEEEHENSEEERN
— MM {E A BEERIERTER INRIANET TR » MAE=F/NER
Ry RIRETTEHE o IEMAE T REEGERESERILTA
BHER | TMEREEFEVE—EASREERE) - 882
BEHEENBANEEREFRIRSZ 7 ROKER 1 BES
S o MDARBERNEBNSEE » ERIIBKIDERE - 1E
—ERFMNERNEFRER » BRREETEECRLARE
W2BEEGREFSNEDCEAH - EEREMEEGAH
S2EENFHHN—EERKT R OKPRIPIRYEKT o FRIEEIE
AR EE TS A 500 TTHIRTIRE) ° BIEFAEBEIR
ERRTHE > IHTER 220 4 REEIRIEN 2B E OIERIMNER
7B 100 JTIREALRED

MENEREREIE | R=ER&NMEA BERER B S
BETRATERARENAIER - REMLEREE : (1) &£
YMESRFZBIMIER ; (2) HEARLE AL RESE—F
S EBILER § R (3) =B8R K7<ME A BrERER BRRE(E
FAAUERRFSRVIBN ©

FIE2BEENEGFEHIAOFERREF SRS T
it (4888 =1,306) o FHMLLE T BBtk H IR BRI TR =@ 3T
HERNEERRBER » TRAAREBONE (RRKFHY
SRERLANENEGRERNRETR) KEBERDITE
(BEBRFr A R ESR) AstBEBHHENEY R ELER
PUER K EMBRZTAER ©

RPERS T 2EENRERR ~ AUETE © REEA  AUE
AYBEFRREE ~ AUERFAIH ISR ~ AUEHB) T AR AMESR
RIERYIFM ©

3. %

RENE THEAREI B 70 5BEEH T > B 60 ZiBiAEE
IR AEEE S 39 JRBIFBUNABNE TSN T IREN
WEEE > WIBET 1,306 EHEREEDILLE - KOHB
191,000 E MR BTKE MIEAREK) WBEEA - 59
495 12,600 RS EHENAENE AN A THZEAR
K1 BEESPIIEEEA - MIESESEAAE RS
T8 8,200 BIREEF 17,600 FIERIER ©

EEEMIERN 1,347 BIRJEEF > 29 A (22%) RKFELZM0LE
BENERK > 12 A (09%) IBESINLLE - REHEIBET 1,306
fiI (97.0%) 28E - THEARK) LLBENFEEAREFER
TAIEAREK] BEE (81.7%) » F (AR EF L
(10.9%) > LH2EEREE /B (3.4%) 15X (B—) -

=] —

HMEEAE TMEARR HRE (45 =1,306)">

BEE( 81.7%
HEH 10.9%
EHER/FR L

KA 0.8%
BE/MAR T os%
EEE 0.6%
BEES | os%
B5 | o
FEE | 0%

AR BRI RS o
PSREAESN—IE o

ERFAE2MLEEEREN 1,306 R2EEY »F 1,226 3 (93.9%)
FIE2 EPEH B ERIAZE 0 67 2 (5.1%) 28 MHEAR
SEEHF 13 B (1.0%) BES HPEE S RERIATSHEL
TEBFTREN 2 BE S HIEAIEMERA DT © £ 1,226 B2
PEMHBEHBMENEEEE T » 402 8 (32.8%) WDOEE
FHEE N4 416 B (33.9%) WHEEBREBEAE » M 408
£ (33.3%) A HECEIHERA o



®&— SFEEQRADSE (B =1,306)

ABE (%) Ry JERATTAR FEENAE B4 g4
(A 2Bk =1,306) (A 2k =80) (A2 =402) (A& =416) (A2 =408)
Fie > FHIEREEE) R 419 +14.7 40.0+13.3 40.8 + 14.9 424 +147 42.8+149
el
B 1,065 (81.5) 74 (92.5) 317 (78.9) 328 (78.8) 346 (84.8)
gegc 241 (18.5) 6 (7.5) 85 (21.1) 88(21.2) 62 (15.2)
YEIRARST
By 436 (33.4) 27 (33.8) 157 (39.1) 129 (31.0) 123 (30.1)
B2/ FE 749 (57.4) 47 (58.8) 214 (53.2) 249 (59.9) 239 (58.6)
HAth 66 (5.1) 3(3.8) 21(5.2) 23(5.5) 9(4.7)
TR EIE 55 (4.2) 3(3.8) 10 (2.5) 15 (3.6) 27 (6.6)
BETFX
—Z5L 651 (49.8) 34 (42.5) 199 (49.5) 211 (50.7) 207 (50.7)
Ner=l 490 (37.5) 39 (48.8) 159 (39.6) 147 (35.3) 145 (35.5)
FRIENIE 165 (12.6) 7 (8.8) 44(10.9) 58(13.9) 56 (13.7)
HERE
BEERIESHSE 17 (1.3) 3(3.8) 6(1.5) 2(0.5) 6(1.5)
INBIRE 101 (7.7) 7 (8.8) 21(5.2) 29 (7.0) 44 (10.8)
PR 271 (20.8) 12 (15.0) 89 (22.1) 71 (17.1) 99 (24.3)
EPEE 499 (38.2) 29 (36.3) 170 (42.3) 161 (38.7) 139 (34.1)
KEH 267 (20.4) 27 (33.8) 88 (21.9) 85 (20.4) 67 (16.4)
FRSBIR 151 (11.6) 2(2.5) 28 (7.0) 68 (16.3) 53 (13.0)
MEBER
B4 45 (3.4) 2(2.5) 21 (5.2) 13 (3.1) 9(2.2)
B ZE 908 (69.5) 67 (83.8) 282 (70.1) 282 (67.8) 277 (67.9)
= 51 (3.9) 2(2.5) 21 (5.2) 12 (2.9) 16 (3.9)
KEEim 50 (3.8) 1(1.3) 9(2.2) 26 (6.3) 14 (3.4)
RIK 119 (9.1) 6 (7.5) 35(8.7) 32(7.7) 46 (11.3)
B 133 (10.2) 2(2.5) 34 (8.5) 51 (12.3) 46 (11.3)
KESAWA (BK)
/L4 10,000 192 (14.7) 10 (12.5) 59 (14.7) 53 (12.7) 70 (17.2)
10,000-19,999 401 (30.7) 29 (36.3) 140 (34.8) 113 (27.2) 119 (29.2)
20,000-29,999 271 (20.8) 17 (21.3) 91 (22.6) 97 (23.3) 66 (16.2)
30,000-39,999 127 (9.7) 9(11.3) 35(8.7) 45 (10.8) 38(9.3)
40,000 5L 106 (8.1) 10 (12.5) 36 (9.0) 27 (6.5) 33(8.1)
TheBis 209 (16.0) 5(6.3) 41(10.2) 81 (19.5) 82 (20.1)
FEEER
REAHRER 497 (38.1) 27 (33.8) 144 (35.8) 146 (35.1) 180 (44.1)
BEALEER 112 (8.6) 6 (7.5) 48 (11.9) 16 (3.8) 42(10.3)
BEEEE 155 (11.9) 10 (12.5) 8 (14.4) (12.3) 36 (8.8)
HAEMAERE 166 (12.7) 10 (12.5) 2(12.9) 5 (15.6) 39(9.6)
HEWMWARE 215 (16.5) 23(28.8) (15 2) 79 (19.0) 52(12.7)
Hith 17 (1.3) 2(2.5) 7(1.7) 3(0.7) 5(1.2)
TR EIR 144 (11.0) 2(2.5) 32(8.0) 56 (13.5) 54(13.2)

167




168

FrE2BENERANER

S2EETIFRSNIR (REE=1475%) » RZYBEE
7B (81.5%) ~ B (69.5%) HEBFULNHBEIZE
(79.4%) o —# LU ERHSEECE (574%) - —FHNSEE
BEL—RTL (49.8%) N8 A KEWAEIEE 20,000 7T
(45.4%) - BB =2 —HNSBEENEENLE (38.1%) (%
_) o

3.1

3.2 RERR

2EEMRIGESERENTFIFRA 185 5% (IBEE =555 °
AN—FHLBEET 18 RATFHBRIE (41.9%) (B =) - &
EEFISHRE 234 E (F2EE=146) » EH451%
MNELEBEEEHRES5-14% > 374%MNWBBEESHRE 1524
T (B=Z) o 9E—¥ (49.1%) WREENRE LT KBIZEA
i (TRIERREE1581 Heavy Smoking Index<2) (EIPH) - #8
B—¥ (528%) N2EEZEHAME (FLERESRD 24 /)
BF) ©36.1 %M EEER—FRIE€ME (Bf) - —FULE
(50.7%) W2EEREESIMLEEERMN 30 XAAE (B7X) °

B=
ERE2EENERATRSXRIESSE
(48%k =1,306)"
mIEHENE W EHESEE 0 WHBE oW EREE o ER
50% -
404
40% - 363 37'537.4

353

30% -

20% -

10%

0% -

15-24

RS BRI SN

[ [T

ERSEENERHAERES TRBEREENTSLE
(#8285 =1,306)"

-
ERSHEMGBERAREER (488 =1,306)"
WEEENM O WMEERSE  WERA O wmEREE  ow BE

60% -

538 515 529

50% -

40%

30% 4

20%

10% -

0% -

<17

18-25

B TEENE mHRE W ERE

B fEREREE

u RS
60% 7

50% -
40% -
30%

20%

R BUE RS ©

10% -
0%
i (HSI<2) FE(HSI=3-4) BE (HSl=5-6)
" RARBIRIHERTE S o

& A

BESEENEGASHYESMENE AL
(488k =1,306)"

HEIEBENE W ERREE  WHRE 0 W EHEA w2

60% -

50%

30% -
20%

10% -

0% -

RHBE—ERR

RBEAERR  RBE—EFR PR —FA RRESAME

" BRARBIR RS o




Bl

.
\

RSB RN B RERE EENIERNLLG
(4881 =1,306)"

HIHENE W EETEE  WHRE W HARE B

FIAE

78R 308RA 608 R

RS BRI S)

3.3 EFENMENSEEEERENRNR

HABZ2BENBESHEZTIHEN TR HP 4023
(93.9%) » BB RRAEN T BENMENSEE 265 (6.1%)
RIFMTENBEE - KZHWSEE (808%) EETAH
ERRFSHAE - TEEAERERERZ 82.1% » JFMZEMAERIRS
61.5% - HEr2BE HARERBEARIERT (17.1%) BB
8B (21%) (&2 o

R EEGENENER

BEH S R
wmw ETE (EBEne)
AH=028  (A#260  (AB=402)
SEETRIZREME 346 (80.8) 16(61.5 330 (82.1)
HAREERRE 73(171)  4(154) 69 (17.2)
AR
S 9(2.1) 6(23.1) 3(07)

3.4 — x> E&/\_\,ﬂﬂﬁ %%ﬁﬁ&ﬁmﬁ%

B R EE

FIERBRESTREEN— Z s ZRNEARESEERE
IEEN RIS EZRRBE (BIEIEHZEAE) 4 73.0% ~ 68.5% ~
68.7%71 72.8% o F=1EF FEEENAE - AR EAHENERA
IR R DR 66.7% ~ 65.6%7F] 72.3% o F71E S BENIR
BRI 72.9% ~ 71.9%7H] 72.3% o RAABAR BRI 45t
BrRAREER (Bt) -

&t

—~ ZRANERRERIERFREER
(4881 =1,306)"

—_—

B JHRRAE B

u HENE

m EREE W HRE

85% -
80% -
75% -
70% -

65% -

60%

—faR —fER =f@R ~MER
| ASHUBRIRTES o
SR KA EBE B H RS HIEE
RIFARERADH > —ERNERARKRESMER (FBE

Tt XANTZEERERE) 2144% (5% EBEREA 125%
£ 163%) o E¥EEAE (14.0% ; SN EBER A 106% =
17.4%) #EEL > TFEN4E (18.9% ; 5% EBERTA 15.1%
£ 22.7%) BERSIIAIEZE (p E=0.06) > MBS (8.9%;
5% ERBER A 62%F 11.6%) NMIERABEERE (p@E
=0.02) > EAERAABRBSHANERZRBERE (AAK
FRINERIEN B EEWDAREME) « FI > EHENAERM
ERATES NS B E4 (p E <0.001) o RBFEEBEZDHT >
FHENAH (284% ; 5SNEBER A 23.0% = 33.8%) B
MIBRBBESHEEEE4E (13.6% ; 95%ERBERM A 9.5%
ZF 17.7% ; p 8 <0.001) FIHERAE (193% ; 5% EBERE A
14.8%Z% 23.8% ; p 18 =0.01) » MRS ES4EEE BAES 5T
2 FRPSAERRENER] (p & =0.07) (B/\) °

169




170

RIEABERBDN » NMEBNEEAIEES 13.0% (95%5%E
B4 11.2%%F 14.8%) o THEN4H (17.2% ; 5% 5B &
7 13.5%% 20.9%) HIAEXBESREREEBEE (94% ;
95 % E %8 & A 6.6% = 12.2% ; p {8 =0.001) % BB 4B
(11.5% ; 95% =3B @74 8.4%Z 14.6% ; p {& =0.02) o f555
BEANHRBRAZENEZEFBE (pE=031) - TEEZED
W EEUBIAESR (B)\) ©

SIPAN

BRImEAIER
AREMAHRTRERS) (ZE B K/ ERRE)

HEEENE W ERIEE  WHRE W R4 2R
35% -
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%

5%

0% -

=fBA(ARERDH)
(#2%1=1,306)

=188 (ERERAH)
(4%=897)

MER(BRERAH)
(4281=1,306)

BB (REERAH)
(481=951)

18R B ANEREM LA IZERIFIEE

E=EAK > 188 ZL2EEERRSEME (BFEIFAFRE)
B 97 RBEESNTEMEEREESE (51.6%) » BiEA
ABYLERZ 88.7% o RIFBEEMON » EEZBEMIERSD
6.6% o TEENAE (10.2%) WIZBRIERBRSIEEEE
2 (3.8%) FIHERAE (4.2%) (p B34 <0.001) - 2R HAE
MERAAVERRE L - TEERD TR TELBIER
(BH) -

HANERE 170 K28 E (BFEIFMZHE) BHREMIIH
& > EFEY 89 A (52.4%) SINILiEE T EVEERAE - 1RiE
BERRDN  BELERERS 6.8% - TEENHEMZE
MIEZ (9.0%) BREES I RSA2 8 548 (5.0%) AEARAE (5.1%)(p
B934 0.03) - B HENEXBNENHIRAE (pE=0.95) °
FTREREITETEALBER (Bh) -

Bl

B R EEERER
CaEEMAhRERERS ) (ZEB KER)
WEEHENE W EEREE  mHRE W EHEA B
25%
o 197
150 15.0 153
- 102 9%
66 59 58
59% 38 42
0%
=EA(ARERD) ZER(ERERNM) AER(AREEAN)  AMEA(TEERMM)
(48%1=1,306) (4B#1=897) (48%1=1,306) (##=951)
= BB 75188 RIREE
REAERRADN » EHRMIEE R > 22.3%7H 24.2%89%48

S2BEEE AR RNMEB RS S LR A ERRRE—4 T
F CRDIRE) » BEEFTFEE (p (& >0.05) o RIETEEZRZS
i R EREA (363%) BIEXTE=EA (p & =0.04) &
PREES I T EEN4E (28.0%) (B+)

B+

IR — £ TN L9 EE
CAmERAH REEERAH) (SEARAER)

HEIEBENE W ERIEE  WHEBEE W R4 BiE
70% A 65.6
60%

50%

40%
30% 1 29233 45
o0 | 187

10%

=BA(aRERDH)

=BARRERNT) AMEA(REEENN) EA(RRERMM)

(48%1=1,306)

(@%=897) (48%1=1,306) (48%=951)

' MBS T OEEN TR BEEEDER o



BERYENSBEH BN AREAANET67%  B4+—
R 37,2060 LIS BEH JI1E =85 B MBS B IEE T —%
T HIRER o E=EAR 0 TEWAE (37.6%) H9HE ) .
AT AT (32.7%) AIHBEAE (36.5%) FAML (p &% RUBARBHIEAESR (HE=102)"
>0.05) o FiA 4B RITE BB B HO B AR, (E B8 E -
40.0% ; RIFER AT © 32.7% ; H984A  36.0%) (B+—) o

AHEHE 61.8%

BERAMIEREY 42.2%
T RETEAR 102%
(B RERTRARE) '
PUNE IR AE SR D —F 8 _ERIEEER HES

CaRERAIMTRTEERS ) (ZEAKRAER) By

INEEE

BEEENME W ERSEE  WHRE W AR e

80%

| KA AR RS ©
2RETEESN—EER -

60%

4 376 5367
40% 327282

EMRAERER THMBRERA ERAMERTH 149 228
Eh o RERIWERRAERZ MFEIC1(53.7%) M MEBEAE)

20%

i 0, =] —
e ZEA(RRERAN) BB EEERAN ANER(RREESN  NMERRBERDN) (46'3 /0> ( + _) °
(K8%1=1,306) (4B%1=897) (48%1=1,306) (##1=951)
| AR IR EA FRA BN o BE+=
RS BIERIE T

REERAMERBHNERR (48 =149)"*

EEEENAET > 873NN EEEMHBERE T RIERTS
HiE > Hep 71.5% %% 7 AUERBIRBI EENE o ERTA

VS R MR BB SR 251 B B EE D > 5 40.6% EEM e B
FEIRES o TUER SRR | (1) ESEEE (61.8%) ; N
(2) B4 R 5 B RUBEEY) (42.29) 5 (3) [R5 T ELE

10.1%

(BDE % / FUERS /TR AEIZ) (40.2%) ; 7l (4) $15% (23.5%) ARG
([B+=) o

10.1%

| REBEIRH RS ©
I2RETEESN—EER -

REEE AR

2EETEG AR RNEAREMEEZ RNV
TGN DRI A 7.52 9 ~ 7.16 HF1 7.30 9 o EAEARIALL > FRr
BHANNTFIIEDE=EBRREE TR (EEh8EN4E | B 7.68
DFRBRE7509 0 pE=002; BHEEELHE: 734 DB
F 67943 p{E <0.001 ; HERAH | H742 D TEE7.09 5>
p {E=0.03) - TFENETHB=—([EAFE T > BHREESE

171



172

AMBRANRIERE - EGAANES Z2BHNFIEEsER
FEETHENEATEBEELRR (R768 D T HEE728%9 ' p
8 <0.001) > MAEBEEEHE (H734 9T N EE721 D pfE
=0.31) MHERMAE (H 742 D TFEE7.25 7 > p E=0.44) 12
BEZEE - FHENANGERSEEREEEENRATE
B3 (p {8 =0.02) =@ (p<0.001) EEEMZERE o [
EE=EAREHENAENRAERESEEMNEN LA
BEZER (p=0.03) (B+M) o

&+

AIEEE AR |

By —— IPBNE o WRIEE = HRE  —— R4

EETHENMENHRE BHRFBEEEER (p £=0.04)
(B+x) °

El+h

R 2 R S0

By —— IPENE - HEE e ARG

8.10
789
7.90 787
77
_ 7.70 775
5
& 750 74 741 755
&
74

b 733
e i_ %M
712 720

—— fHESEE

"HOE 109 0L 10 BE ; FREHIEHFRESN o

FLVER R TSTA

2EEHNERBERNNEEFHIESNERN 712 H1g
MEI=EAK 7.20 RMANEA B 7.75 7 o BAE4AFAELL > £8)
EN AN RATNMEARARENER (EBENH H7.07
DEAETSS D pE=001; HEH 7143 LHET7.89
7 p 8 <0.001) o R EBEHE=EBF/NEBNFITD
BERTDELETNBERRRENER (K195 D 708 5 EHE
733 91 7.77 53 > p BRI 0.05 F1 <0.001) ° 7£751E 3 K »

7.08

830 w69

8.10 17815 a0 650 0 1' 2 3 4 5 6

7.90 \ / ' A
s 7703768 7.65
3 75 %““‘~————_*m . SEPIRREHAEAS T RERY p &:
S 3 RGE=ERMEL | EMEAEAMEL

7.10 7.09 721

690 \ B4 0.43 0.01

6.79
e s ; ; T T T : fEsE R &4 0.05 <0.001
A HERA 0.91 <0.001
MEPIRLEIHEA T 2R p (& BAERURA T RENp &
THEAA ET L Ay R
EGE=EAMEL | BREAESEL il S e 4L g orh
THENHE 0.02 <0.001 Bz 0.92 0.65 0.61
Gy EhN=F:| <0.001 0.31 ={ER 0.06 0.18 0.56
HERAE 0.03 0.44 ~NEB 0.16 0.04 0.48
FAARu R T REN p @ _ TEOE 105 0 0 BHE » 10 B 5 BCHIRHATESN o
TEENA TEEAA e R
HERSE R R

i 0.02 0.08 0.62 )
- IEE S ERIE
=@B <0.001 0.03 0.11
~EA 0.63 0.85 0.81 SEEIEELE « =08 RAE L REENIES S 0T

A% 6.11 73 ~ 5.96 9F0 6.11 73 o EAEARAALL » FTAAERIAF
HREZ@EARESAE TR  AMREMERSHAERZEL
BR8] (p 8 =0.003) o FIA4BINF9DEE=EA
B&5E > FNMER RN BEZAL - TEENAAN TS
DEZEBAMANESFISNEREREEMNERAE FiEp@E
<0.001) (B+7X) °



AVE B fE ERYEEA

By —— IPENE o BETEE - HRE —— R4

/ 68
—ah 653

6.90

6.70

6.50

2 630

= 6.49

& 610
R
590

570

550 + T T d
0 1 2 3 4 5 6

A
EPNBERA T REN p &
Bigl=(E AL BigENEBAALL

FEHENAE 0.21 0.06
ErERIE RS 0.003 0.20
HRA 0.06 0.52
BARBIIRA T AR ERY p fE:

TEHENE FEeEN A e DS

HGEBEAE HHERA HHERA

BiR 0.66 0.72 0.96
=EA <0.001 <0.001 0.46
~NER <0.001 <0.001 0.88

"HOE1049 ORI 10 RE ; BRESRIRIEI o

Z1ER RN BRI E S EL

BEEHAENZEEER > 50.1%H 55.9% 2 EE D
AE=EEMANEERELE—REAME - T=EHRE
BF > BIRGFE R S4H (42.5%) #ELEE > =EENAE (502%)
HERAE (55.9%) WEHMEXIARS (p B2 514 0.03H]
<0.001) o 7E7N1E B BRHERS » $IR4AR (62.7%) WESAIEEMA
R EBE N4 (54.2% »p E=0.01) M52 EE4H (48.6% »
p {& <0.001) (B++t) °

PR ERMIEE TSN > 41.6%H 493%MBBENRIE=EA
MABEEREZRL—REAME - HEHENAE (ZE8 :
38.7% > p {&=0.008 ; /@A : 44.7% > p f& <0.001) &K
BE4E (36.9% » p & <0.001 ; 43.2% > p {& <0.001) AHLL »
HHRME (Z@A 1 48.7% ; 7~ES [ 57.9%) MWERMIEZE
BRREE s (Bl+t) °

B+t

ERMELLR (ZEA KRNEARE)

B EREE

B TEENE W OHRE W AR B

80% A

55,9988
502 50.1

42.5

60% -

40% -

20% -

0% - T

SEA(GEEAES)  SEAMKRENEE)
(42%1=1,306) (4a%=1,121)

ANER (BEEREE)
(48%=1,306)

ANER (HHEREE)
(4881=1,136)

ERRZEHE  —(EREENERMERRERZ © (1) FABRES]
HHER (67.4%) 5 (2) 27T THIEXFS LEE (35.8%) ;
M (3) EEHKABIEEE (20.4%) (B+/\) °

&+

BENERSREAMIENZEENMIERE
(482 =730)"2

TR BERR 67.4%

27 HEARRLE 35.8%

ZRRABIRER
EERE

it A | BN

TR
MEBSSRHNTERN
THEARRIMEE | Rk
REMARERREFHE
INERZR

2

BEYMBF

| REFBEEBHRTESD o
‘SBEMERSN—EER

173




174

“EARZRERMMESEZ: (1) LB (233%) ; 2) &
K /BEZNE (19.0%) ; 3) FRESTEREL (11.4%) (B
+) c HE—F2EELLHIR NBEERIE) BB MEECK
(43.6%) - EfhF BHERBIERD 1828/ BBR /1B
(19.7%) ~TEERREFIFH) (19.5%) & (BI=+) °

B+

& —+

BENEA ERAENRBERR (48 =730)""

BENERBEESMIEN 2 BEMERANS A
(485 =730)"*

ErEE 23.3%
Bk TR
ERRETERRE
DEERS

RO/ BRNAERE

SEHMANRESR

0.4%

BEEMERGHY
SZEHEGNEY 04%
2EE8/ ¥ 03%

SEMHERRNMEEY 0.1%

BERE 436%

BIg /B ER 19.7%

BREPiEH 19.5%

RIEM 164%

EAZE 15.5%
HOARE

BEEEm

RS

| SRERBRIR RIS ©
IBEEAEELZR—EER

B —+—

| REBEIRI RS ©
I2REEESN—EER -

FLIEIBFE P9 35215

R7NE B BEERER - 2BEDATEAREBRETIHRIFE
EREMFIR : (1) PRk (23.8%) ; (2) EL(B / 12 (20.7%) ;
(3) KZ (145%) M (4) KB (11.8%) « LA > =D —
(318%) WE2EEXRTAERIAANULEREZF (B
)

BEAEARERREPERIM R LR (B8 =951)"*

23.8%

20.7%

TRk
BEAR
MEHES

BEHRES 31.8%

| RIS
‘BREWEESPEASR




FUIEHB) TREYERREE
ENRIE#

FENERRER > KEEWBEE (79.7%) HEET B
EREIRIER (B=+2) - T BREBERIERR 758 2 &
B4 FHENAEEL2BERHRIER A ESN IR
JE (EFEN4H 1 909% ; BMIEEEBE4E  746% ; HIRAR :
76.4% ; EEIENHBRE T B SHLEERR p E <0.001 > EF)
AR BAB EEECAY p B <0.001 ; FE4E B4R B4 BB 4R
EEERRY p 1B =0.64) > WG INMPIARERNE S (FSENAE !

86.8% ; FHREEREAHE & 70.3% ; HFAMH © 71.3% ; TEEN4E

ERRSAD AR ELERAY p (& <0.001 > T EhEE /AR B BRAR LEER
89 p {& <0.001 » K2 RSB HERABLLEM p £ =0.81) ©

—

AMBE RS REERREERIEIER -

u IHENE B EEREE u HERE B JRR%AE i

100% 1
86.1 09 8.8

80% 4 751 776

750 757
60% -1

40% -

20%

0% -

AREAEEREN DRI ARt eI EIRIERAEN

(te3-951) (8%-150) /AR
(t83=758)

' SBREUESN—EER -

2 REBIRIHRTES

* ERIRBR BRI ©

* BRIERENRIARIN S B o

E—+=

NEBARSEEREREHNRNERNERER
(4885 =193)"2

57.5%

BEST | 05%

' SEREMEESN—EER -
? ISP R AR BB RS ©

ERBREBERIERR 193 Z2EED (203%) » REEMN
—EEEZ: (1) Tty (57.5%); (2) M&Edk] (17.1%) # (3)
MmE (83%) (B =+=) o

HEFRENER

BINR 7B B BsR IR IERFIRIER 951 R2EEF » 92.6%[F)
BERRENIEXRZEEMN o HEIRAE (91.2%) /AL > £ &)
HENMAEELHN2BEEDAIEREE (94.9% »p {E=0.008)([E
—+m) -

B —+m

NEBRFSEEHEERENER (% =951)

i
e

rEEm B OERRESR M

100% -

\10
80% -
60% -
40% -
20%
0%

TBENA [7Eks :.“H JFRZEAR 2

| RES IR R R SR RIS ©

=] 2A,
4., FIFE

20156 520 HE 9 B 24 B » £5E MIEXE
R LEEAEESS 18 @ T H 70 BB EES) » E1hA 99
ZHRBEIEBFEBNET | EIMABRERINMELBIERE
MIERIBERIEE S NAIETE - MIEEHE %M 786
8,000 HIRIEE - HBiE 6,800 & IMEEINEIAMIEN S FER
1,306 BIRIEE2INT TMIEARS LLE > EF 1,226 Bk
EESINT FHARKERBERBIAE - RIBFABEERDNT > 2
BEENBERRENEXRT =[BRS 144% > MELRFS
13.0% > BUEMLEEAS (2012 EN=E8 BRBSHE
F410.6% > 2013 4 9.6% > 2014 74 9.9%) o FMLATH
EEEABLL 5 2015 EMERBHEXNE RS @ AJERRAHE
BENMEH T REMERBN2EENHEXRS °

175




176

PRZCAEREET » bR 7/ NEERIRSHZENS RS RO A Ky
FEENRIEEFEAAERFEEIEINAEE » 155 2L 181Z
BENAERL T 2HBARNME o Lo FEENERMIE
RBWSBEEEZES > THENENAKZEA (87.3%) £
FIREENEMEHEHERT - HRAETRBL 0% REBE
A E BT IR M RIAUERRTS (29.1%) » BB FIERE
thiEshEE (5.0% % 28 2% MFEREARR) " o (X —E
THEREE RS AR EREEBIERRBEET » 46.4%8
EEEBMMEENBEEEERE ° o 1582015 FF
FEMEPHETEE) BEn 0 68%IRIEEEIRE NAERT
BEHRKRED (96%) BFFERZ KRS o BB TERRE
T 624%W FEE NN REE RZIZET T MMEZNMIE
BRFZ MBI ESEIHE > R T EEE NI LS REAEEEAE
1B INIRIEE H FEBERFVIBZIRE o XAFTHRSH >
EEHEM/NAEERNIRES LG (25.1%H 3.6%) BER
HABIRAZE4AE R (55.7 %40 36.1% MR IEE R RESFE AR
9) ' o HAEMNIAIEF AR Z DA 2 ERMERENEERE
B e LEHEERATSHENENSBEEN B2 ENRE
BRFSFIRHAERAZ £ > AR S PIAERN SR FMIE o
A TEIT) M TRER S 22FFERAMIERBHMEE
ZREA  AZHBEERTEE T BAGHEFHRELA
RE T FAREENMIEZ AR - EEEBINRIEEFRE
AR > FERSETHE TAENIIIFE » RE2INA
ERRFS IR ERIERL o RIRPIIASEEFRERRE LFE (W4
uh sk BIRFEE) AR HAIERTS ©

BMBIR > AHWERA (RE—RRIEEENBEAE/)\RF)
RO ZE 45 RARLE - EIRI5E A AWARD ME RS M ZRE S
SEER (BRAEMH) BEEIMNIRERER @A TMEKR
F X 2010 FEAELINAEZZBE MmN B EhAE/) 'l -+
MR ZEAE R —2° o ISR » BR T 2015 4 (52.8%) tb
2010 £F (684%) BRIV EEZRLEAMIZEI  EMX
EEEMZEE (2010 £/ 2015 ) EFMMLAIHTE A DR
MRIEITA o BN EFERLNVRTER > ERESEEH
RERASEERAEEFENANE « B FEERITEZ
RMERHRERS - EEERNENAXNNBERREE - £
RIEBRBBREAERZN ETSENNHEEZEIENRTE
BEMTEHENNER (FIM0 : R EE E A E g
BIELORINERTS) » R EMER A SN e AETEE
B (BIANEERMALEREEN) RS T2 » BIREES NN TER
B B R BRI EREMIEE SRR AE T TEEHE

BEFEIENE  TFENMENBEERSEN—ERMN @A
MEFREMIRMNERAE - AREEFINSEEEL
EEMETE g ETIRAEE > TS EEHE
NARERERE T ARG o

5. 45w

RBIEME > $VE TRIERRR) LB & EHEANE
B LIRS T AR E RS KMEIRIIREES ML
B MEAFR LBETFRET (EE2NTamAERE
FRFREESEMIEREEER - RSHUHNBEE (79.7%)
BB T RMENRIBAEE K (MNREESER « MIERE R
MBEAENEF) > WERAHRERED) - ITERERE
FENHTIEEEEIE IIAER > BRAREETTLIHARIB
dl#RAYH & (2 R AR TS B Sl & L 5 BN EIRA RIMERRTS ©
SHEHHBENENRIEE ZAVERTS AL INAUEARTSRI &
X WREAKRESHIER o RREZIEITRABELURA
EREAESE « T/ URKEES T REMBMER

BIEIFE BRERET AR N EE S HRUERIRRL

6. HRIREEREEMARSE

BEpRat Bt f4RSE - NCT02539875 (https://clinicaltrials.gov/)

7. 2EXR

1. Census and Statistics Department. Thematic Household
Survey, Report No.59: Pattern of Smoking. Hong Kong:
Census and Statistics Department, 2016;

2. Lam TH. Absolute risk of tobacco deaths: one in two
smokers will be killed by smoking: comment on “Smoking
and all-cause mortality in older people”. Arch Intern Med.
2012; 172(11):845-846.

3. Lam TH, Ho SY, Hedley AJ, Mak KH, Peto R. Mortality and
smoking in Hong Kong: case-control study of all adult
deaths in 1998. BMJ. 2001; 323(7309):361.

4. McGhee SM, Ho LM, Lapsley HM, et al. Cost of tobacco-
related diseases, including passive smoking, in Hong
Kong. Tob Control. 2006; 15(2):125-130.

5. Census & Statistics Department. Hong Kong Annual
Digest of Statistics 2001. Hong Kong SAR Hong Kong SAR
government; 2001.

6. Cahill K, Perera R. Competitions and incentives for smoking
cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011(4):CD004307.

7. Cahill K, Perera R. Quit and Win contests for smoking
cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008(4):CD004986.

8. Chan SS, Wong DC, Cheung YT, et al. A block randomized
controlled trial of a brief smoking cessation counselling
and advice through short message service on participants
who joined the Quit to Win Contest in Hong Kong. Health
Educ Res. 2015; 30(4):609-621.

9. Chan SSC, Wong DCN, Lau LMM, Lai VWY, Lam COB, Lam
TH. “Quit to Win 2010” and smoking cessation. Hong Kong:
Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health; 2013.



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

8.

Chan SCC, Wong DCN, Cheung DYT, et al. “Quit to Win 2012”
and smoking cessation. Hong Kong: Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health; 2014.

Li WHC, Cheung DYT, Lam COB, Kwong ACS, Lai VWY, Lam
TH. The 4th “Quit to Win" Contest — Effectiveness of Small Cash
Incentive on Smoking Cessation. Hong Kong: Hong Kong
Council on Smoking and Health; 2015.

Wang MP, Li WCH, Cheung DYT, Wu Y, Lam OB, Kowng
AC, Lai VW, Chan SS, Lam TH. Brief advices on smoking
reduction vs. abrupt quit for smoking cessation in Chinese
smokers: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Nicotine Tob
Res. 2017 (In Press)

World Health Organization. Tobacco Free Initiative. Geneva:
World Health Organization, 2015;

Borland R, Balmford J, Bishop N, et al. In-practice
management versus quitline referral for enhancing
smoking cessation in general practice: a cluster randomized
trial. Fam Pract. 2008; 25(5):382-389.

VS

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Haas JS, Linder JA, Park ER, et al. Proactive tobacco
cessation outreach to smokers of low socioeconomic
status: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;
175(2):218-226.

Suen YN, Wang MP, Li WH, et al. Brief advice and active
referral for smoking cessation services among community
smokers: a study protocol for randomized controlled trial.
BMC Public Health. 2016; 16:387.

Tindle HA, Daigh R, Reddy VK, et al. eReferral Between
Hospitals and Quitlines: An Emerging Tobacco Control
Strategy. Am J Prev Med. 2016; 51(4):522-526.

Paul CL, Wiggers J, Daly JB, et al. Direct telemarketing of
smoking cessation interventions: will smokers take the call?
Addiction. 2004; 99(7):907-913.

Trinidad DR, Perez-Stable EJ, White MM, et al. A nationwide
analysis of US racial/ethnic disparities in smoking behaviors,
smoking cessation, and cessation-related factors. Am J
Public Health. 2011; 101(4):699-706.

HPIREPTA S2EIE « RRBIERAEHE S WA EINTIE » QEEERESE  SRIRE - KBARE - ZFITREHEBR
E R EREES SRR RIEMREREEEHEBNANIWHE - &% » RFIRKSFIE2EEANARAEIREETEMNEIE o

177




The 6" “Quit to Win” Contest w
December 2017 COSH Report No. 23 C SH

EARERPEREZTAE S

HONG KONG COUNCIL ON SMOKING AND HEALTH

The 6™ “Quit to Win” Contest -
Effectiveness of Active Referral Intervention on
Smoking Cessation
MP WANG', YN SUEN’, Christina OB LAM', William HC LI, Derek YT CHEUNG?,
Antonio CS KWONG?, Vienna WY LAI®> & TH LAM?

' School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong
?School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong
* Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health

1. Introduction

Smoking prevalence in Hong Kong was 10.5% in 2015, which
is one of the lowest in the world. However, there were still
641,300 daily smokers and the smoking prevalence has been
decreasing slowly in the past decade. Most of the current
smokers are heavy smokers with low intention to quit and
have high dependence on tobacco. Smoking will kill half of
them eventually’ and causes about 7,000 deaths each year
in Hong Kong>. Smoking also accounts for a large amount of
medical costs, long-term healthcare costs and productivity
loss of over HK$5.3 billion a year (0.6% of Hong Kong GDP)**.
Smoking is a highly addictive behaviour and it is hard for
smokers with strong nicotine dependence to quit without
assistance. However, in Hong Kong, only about 3.0% of the
current smokers had ever used the existing smoking cessation
(SC) services'.

The “Quit to Win" (QTW) Contest is a major campaign to
promote smoking cessation in all 18 districts and motivate
a large number of smokers in the community to quit in
Hong Kong. It provides a golden opportunity to conduct a
randomized controlled trial (RCT) to test different brief and low
cost SC interventions so as to generate new evidence for future
evidence-based interventions to reach, recruit and help a large
number of smokers to quit. With the participation from the 18
districts, the campaign also strengthens the dissemination of
smoke-free messages and community supports to SC.

Cohrane’s Quit and Win model posits that smokers
participating in the contest will have a higher motivation
to quit with incentives provided and better social support®.
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Studies found that quitting contests or incentive programmes
had reached many smokers and showed a significantly
higher quit rate for the Quit and Win group than the control
group’. Since 2009 (except 2011), Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health (COSH) has been collaborating with
the Schools of Nursing and Public Health of The University
of Hong Kong (HKU), to organize the “Quit to Win" Contest.
From 2009 to 2014, over 5,000 smokers were recruited from
the community®". Small cash incentives and lucky draw
prizes were provided to participants whose abstinence was
biochemically validated.

SC services substantially increased quit rate and the WHO has
urged to promote SC services"”. “O” of the WHO MPOWER
strategies stands for “offer help to quit” which suggests
a proactive approach' to encourage smokers to quit. SC
services in Hong Kong, like most SC services in mainland
China and elsewhere, were under-used. Apart from the low
prevalence of SC services used, most smokers (65%) were
unwilling to try the services even they were aware of them'.
Existing SC services mostly relied on smokers’ initiative to
seek assistance for quitting, but the intention to quit was low
in most smokers. Active referral may overcome the barriers of
some smokers in actively seeking for help. Previous studies
suggested that active referral of smokers to SC hotline services
might increase the likelihood of smoking abstinence at
12 months compared with no active referrals'. A recent study
has also reported that individuals who used the community-
based referral were also more likely to quit than those who did
not (43.6% versus 15.3%, p<0.001) .



In 2015, COSH, HKU, 18 District Councils and 15 district working
partners collaborated to organize the 6 “Quit to Win”
Contest to promote SC in the community. A 3-armed RCT was
conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of the active referral
to existing SC services including the SC Hotline (1833 183) and
other SC services (Active Referral group), or brief advice (Brief
Advice group), compared to a self-help booklet with general
SC advice (Control group).

2. Methods

2.1 Recruitment

From 20 June to 24 September 2015, participants were
recruited from 70 recruitment sessions of the QTW Contest,
including promotional and game booths in public areas or
shopping malls, throughout 18 districts in Hong Kong. Sixty-
six recruitment sessions were included in the cluster RCT with
each recruitment session was a unit of cluster of randomization
(22 recruitment sessions for each intervention group). All
participants in a recruitment session were randomly allocated
to the Active Referral group, Brief Advice group or Control

group.

In all the recruitment sessions, the trained SC ambassadors
measured smokers’ level of exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) and
screened participants’ eligibility for the Contest:

1. Hong Kong residents aged 18 or above;

2. Daily smokers who smoked at least 1 cigarette per day in
the past 3 months;

3. Able to communicate in Cantonese (including reading
Chinese); and

4. Exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) of 4 parts per million (ppm)
or above.

The SC ambassadors then explained and invited smokers to
join the RCT. Written consents from eligible participants for
voluntary participation in the trial were obtained. The baseline
questionnaire was subsequently administered following with
the delivery of the intervention. Eligible participants who were
unwilling to join the RCT could still join the QTW Contest, but
were excluded from the RCT analysis (Non-trial group).

Block randomization was used to ensure the number of
recruitment sessions for the 3 RCT groups was balanced. The
primary investigator, who was not involved in the recruitment,
randomly generated blocks, with each block size equaled to 3,
6 and 9 containing random permutations of the 3 groups using
the website http://www.random.org (a website for generating
random integers). The primary investigator combined all
the blocks and generated a list of group allocation for all
recruitment sessions. The recruitment staff was informed
about the group allocation one day prior to the recruitment

activities. The trained SC ambassadors were unknown about
the group assignment until they attended the recruitment. All
outcome assessors were blinded to the group assignment.

COSH organized a lucky draw and a publicity programme
in February and March 2016, respectively. A total of 5
participants, whose abstinence were biochemically validated
at 3 months, won the lucky draw prizes (each of HK$10,000
gift voucher). Among the 67 participants who joined the
publicity programme, the biochemically validated quitters
(n=11) had been interviewed by COSH and a champion was
selected to receive a prize of travel voucher at HK$25,000 to
Australia, where the 1 and the 2™ runner-up winners received
a cash prize of travel voucher at HK$15,000 to Singapore and
HK$10,000 to Thailand, respectively.

2.2 Interventions and follow-up

Active Referral group: Participants received brief SC advice
and were actively referred to existing SC services in Hong
Kong. Brief advice was delivered using the AWARD model?,
face-to-face at baseline (~1 minute) and via telephones at
follow-ups. The AWARD model consists of the following
components: Ask about smoking history; Warn about the high
risk with the use of the health warning leaflet; Advise to quit
as soon as possible and to quit within 3 months (to become
eligible to win the prizes); Refer smokers to SC services; and Do
it again. Participants also received an A4 color double-page
printed leaflet which contained highlights of the risks of 1/2
smokers and 2/3 young smokers died due to smoking, (1) a
full list of diseases related to active and secondhand smoking,
(2) 10 scary pictures featuring smoking-induced diseases,
(3) information on the benefits of quitting, and (4) messages
encouraging participants to quit and call the integrated
SC hotline managed by the Department of Health (DH).
Participants received brief booster advice at 1 and 2 months.

Participants were also assisted to make early appointment in
the following SC services in Hong Kong: DH, Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals Integrated Center on Smoking Cessation, Hospital
Authority Smoking Counseling and Cessation Centre in 18
districts, Pok Oi Hospital Chinese Medicine Smoking Cessation
Services and Youth Quitline of The University of Hong Kong ™.

SC ambassadors introduced the SC services to participants
using a pocket size SC services information card containing
brief information (e.g. hotline, address and operation hours)
and highlights (e.g. provision of assistance by experienced,
professional SC nurses or physicians) of each SC service.
Participants who consented for the transferal of their contact
details (telephone numbers and names) through COSH to their
selected SC service providers, received proactive phone calls
from the service providers for telephone SC counseling or
booking a SC clinic appointment.
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Brief Advice group: Participants only received the same
brief SC advice using the AWARD model and the health
warning leaflet as the Active Referral group did. They were
verbally encouraged to book an appointment with SC service
providers by themselves (R of AWARD) but did not receive the
SC information card. Participants also received brief booster
advice at 1 and 2 months.

Control group: Participants received very brief, minimal
general SC advice (<30 seconds) and a 12-page self-help SC
booklet, which was designed by COSH and routinely used in
QTW Contests.

Non-trial group: The following participants joined the QTW
Contest and were classified as the “non-trial group” (1) chose
to participate in COSH’s publicity programme, which had
other prizes; (2) refused to participate in the RCT; and (3) were
recruited from the workplace where additional incentives were
provided by the employers. The non-trial participants received
the same intervention received by the RCT participants in the
same recruitment session. All of them could receive the same
monetary incentive after passing the biochemical validation
for abstinence at 3 and 6 months.

All participants were assessed for their smoking status and
quitting progress through telephone interviews at 1 and 2
months, followed by a booster advice (Active Referral group
and Brief Advice group only), and then at 3 and 6 months
for assessment only. The booster interventions included the
message of absolute risk of death due to smoking (“one in
two smokers are killed by smoking.”). About 7 calls and 1
voice message were made before a participant was treated
as unreachable. Self-reported quitters (did not smoke, even
a puff, in the past 7 days) at 3 and 6 months were invited to
participate in the biochemical validations. HKU staff assessed
self-reported quitter’s exhaled CO level and saliva cotinine level
in the biochemical validation and all validated quitters could
receive a cash incentive of HK$500. To boost the retention rate,
participants who completed all 4 follow-up interviews could
receive another cash incentive (HK$100).

The primary outcomes were the self-reported 7-day point
prevalence (PP) quit rate at 3 and 6 months. The secondary
outcomes were (1) biochemically validated quit rates, (2) rate
of smoking reduction by at least half of the baseline cigarette
consumption and (3) self-reported SC service used at 3 and 6
months.

The socio-demographic and smoking characteristics at
baseline of all participants (N=1,306) were described. We
compared the primary and secondary outcomes among the
3 groups. We adopted the intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis
(@assuming that non-respondents at the follow-up did not
change their baseline smoking behavior) and complete-case
(CC) analysis (excluding participants who were lost to follow-
up) to calculate the self-reported and biochemically validated
quit rates and other outcomes.

We also reported participants’ reasons to quit, methods to
quit, withdrawal symptoms experienced, self-efficacy in
quitting, perceived social support for quitting, use of SC aids
and perception of follow-up calls.

3. Results

In all the 70 recruitment sessions of the 6" “Quit to Win”
Contest, 60 trained SC ambassadors and 39 staff from NGOs
participated in the on-site promotion and recruited 1,306
Chinese adult daily smokers to participate in the Contest.
About 191,000 people passed by the recruitment booths.
Besides, about 12,600 people made inquiries about smoking
cessation or participated in the game booths. The recruitment
staff approached over 8,200 smokers and over 17,600 non-
smokers in all the activities.

Of the 1,347 screened smokers who intended to quit smoking,
29 (2.2%) did not meet the inclusion criteria, and 12 (0.9%)
refused to participate in the Contest, making up a final of
1,306 (97.0%) participants in the Contest. The recruitment
booth of the QTW Contest was the leading source of
information about the QTW Contest for the participants
(81.7%). The second source was community centers (10.9%)
and few participants knew it from leaflets/posters (3.4%)
(Figure 1).

Figure 1

Sources of knowing the 6™ “Quit to Win” Contest
(N=1,306)"*

Recruitment booth 81.7%

Community centers 109%

Leaflets/posters 34%
Family members 0.8%
Colleagues/friends 0.8%
Websites 0.6%
TV ads 0.5%
Radio 0.2%
Newspaper/magazine 0.2%

' Missing data were not displayed.

? Participants could choose more than one option.

In the 1,306 eligible participants, 1,226 (93.9%) consented to
participate in the RCT. Sixty-seven (5.1%) participants in the
publicity programme and 13 (1.0%) participants who refused
to join the RCT or were recruited from a specific workplace
were combined and analyzed in the non-trial group. Of the
1,226 participants in the RCT, 402 (32.8%) were allocated to the
Active Referral group, 416 (33.9%) to the Brief Advice group,
and 408 (33.3%) to the Control group.



Table 1 Socio-demographic characteristics of all participants (N=1,306)

n (%) Total Non-trial Active Referral Brief Advice Control
(N=1,306) (N=80) (N=402) (N=416) (N=408)
Age, mean + SD, years 419+14.7 40.0 £13.3 40.8 + 149 424 +14.7 42.8+ 14.9
Gender
Male 1,065 (81.5) 74 (92.5) 317 (78.9) 328 (78.8) 346 (84.8)
Female 241 (18.5) 6 (7.5) 85 (21.1) 88 (21.2) 62 (15.2)
Marital status
Single 436 (33.4) 27 (33.8) 157 (39.1) 129 (31.0) 123 (30.1)
Married/ Cohabited 749 (57.4) 47 (58.8) 214 (53.2) 249 (59.9) 239 (58.6)
Others 66 (5.1) 3(3.8) 21(5.2) 23(5.5) 19 (4.7)
Missing 55(4.2) 3(3.8) 10 (2.5) 15 (3.6) 27 (6.6)
Child
1 or more 651 (49.8) 34 (42.5) 199 (49.5) 211 (50.7) 207 (50.7)
No 490 (37.5) 39 (48.8) 159 (39.6) 147 (35.3) 145 (35.5)
Missing 165 (12.6) 7 (8.8) 44 (10.9) 58 (13.9) 56 (13.7)
Education level
No formal education 17 (1.3) 3(3.8) 6 (1.5) 2(0.5) 6 (1.5)
Elementary education 101 (7.7) 7 (8.8) 21 (5.2) 29 (7.0) 44 (10.8)
Junior secondary education 271 (20.8) 12 (15.0) 89 (22.1) 71 (17.1) 99 (24.3)
Senior secondary education 499 (38.2) 29 (36.3) 170 (42.3) 161 (38.7) 139 (34.1)
Post-secondary or above 267 (20.4) 27 (33.8) 88 (21.9) 85 (20.4) 67 (16.4)
Missing 151 (11.6) 2(2.5) 28 (7.0) 68 (16.3) 53(13.0)
Employment status
Student 45 (3.4) 2(2.5) (5.2) 3(3.1) 9(2.2)
Self-employed/ employed 908 (69.5) 67 (83.8) 282 (70.1) 282 (67.8) 277 (67.9)
Unemployed 51 (3.9) 2(2.5) 21 (5.2) 2(2.9) 16 (3.9)
Housewife 50(3.8) 1(1.3) 9(2.2) 26 (6.3) 14 (3.4)
Retired 119 (9.1) 6 (7.5) 35(8.7) 32(7.7) 46 (11.3)
Missing 133 (10.2) 2(2.5) 34 (8.5) 51(12.3) 46 (11.3)
Monthly household income (HKS)

Less than 10,000 192 (14.7) 10 (12.5) 59 (14.7) 53(12.7) 70(17.2)
10,000-19,999 401 (30.7) 29 (36.3) 140 (34.8) 113 (27.2) 119 (29.2)
20,000-29,999 271 (20.8) 17 (21.3) 91 (22.6) 97 (23.3) 66 (16.2)
30,000-39,999 127 (9.7) 9(11.3) 35(8.7) 45 (10.8) 38(9.3)

40,000 or more 106 (8.1) 10 (12.5) 36 (9.0) 27 (6.5) 33(8.1)
Missing 209 (16.0) 5(6.3) 41 (10.2) 81 (19.5) 82 (20.1)
Housing condition
Public rental housing 497 (38.1) 27 (33.8) 144 (35.8) 146 (35.1) 180 (44.1)
Public housing (purchased) 112 (8.6) 6 (7.5) 48 (11.9) 6(3.8) 42 (10.3)
Home Ownership Scheme 155 (11.9) 10 (12.5) 58 (14.4) (12 3) 36 (8.8)
Private housing (rental) 166 (12.7) 10 (12.5) 52 (12.9) 65 (15.6) 39 (9.6)
Private housing (purchased) 215 (16.5) 23 (28.8) 61 (15.2) 79 (19.0) 52(12.7)
Others 7 (1.3) 2(2.5) 7(1.7) 3(0.7) 5(1.2)
Missing 144( 1.0) 2(2.5) 32(8.0) 56 (13.5) 54 (13.2)
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3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of all
participants

The average age of participants was 41.9 (SD=14.7) years and
most participants were male (81.5%), employed (69.5%) and
had received junior secondary or above education (79.4%).
More than half (57.4%) were married and about half had at
least 1 child (49.8%) and monthly household income less than
HK$20,000 (45.4%). More than one-third lived in public rental
housing (38.1%) (Table 1).

3.2 Smoking profile

The average age of starting weekly smoking was 18.5 (SD=5.5)
years and about half (41.9%) started smoking before 18 (Figure
2). The mean daily cigarette consumption was 23.4 (SD=14.6),
while 45.1% consumed 5-14 cigarettes and 37.4% consumed
15-24 per day (Figure 3). About half (49.1%) had light nicotine
dependence measured by the Heavy Smoking Index (HSI<2)
(Figure 4). More than half (52.8%) had made a quit attempt
(smoking abstinence =24 hours) before, and 36.1% had
attempted in more than 1 year ago (Figure 5). More than half
(50.7%) decided to quit within 30 days since participating in
the Contest (Figure 6).

Figure 2

Age of starting weekly smoking in all participants
(N=1,306)"

B Active Referral M Brief Advice 1 Control B Non-trial Total
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! Missing data were not displayed.

Figure 3

Daily cigarette consumption at baseline in all
participants (N=1,306)"

M Brief Advice & Control B Non-trial Total
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5-14 15-24

! Missing data were not displayed.

Figure 4

Nicotine dependence (Heavy Smoking Index) at
baseline in all participants (N=1,306)’

M Active Referral M Brief Advice M Control M Non-trial Total

60% 1

Light (HSI < 2) Moderate (HSI=3-4) Heavy (HSI=5-6)

! Missing data were not displayed.

Figure 5

Past quit attempt at baseline in all participants (N=1,306)"
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Figure 6

Intention to quit at baseline in all participants (N=1,306)

B Active Referral M Brief Advice I Control B Non-trial Total
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' Missing data were not displayed.

3.3 Baseline referral status of participants who
received active referral intervention

At baseline, 428 participants received active referral
intervention. 402 (93.9%) were participants in the Active
Referral group of the RCT and 26 (6.1%) were in the non-trial
group. Most of them (80.8%) had chosen an SC service provider
at baseline and the proportion was 82.1% in the Active Referral
group and 61.5% in the non-trial group. The remaining
participants had not decided a smoking cessation service yet
(17.1%) or refused to be referred (2.1%) (Table 2).

Table 2 Referral status at baseline

RCT

(Active
Referral
group)
(N=402)

Had chosen

any smoking

cessation 346 (80.8) 16 (61.5) 330 (82.1)

services

Had not decided

a smoking

cessation service /> (17.1) 4(15.4) 69 (17.2)

yet

Refused to be

referred 921 6(23.1) 3(0.7)

3.4 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups results
Retention rate

All participants were followed through telephone interviews at
1, 2, 3 and 6 months with the corresponding overall retention
rates (including non-trial group) of 73.0%, 68.5%, 68.7% and
72.8%. At 3 months, the retention rates of the Active Referral,
Brief Advice and Control groups were 66.7%, 65.6% and 72.3%,
respectively. The corresponding retention rates at 6 months
were 72.9%, 71.9% and 72.3% and the differences were not
statistically significant (Figure 7).

Figure 7
Retention rate of 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups
(N=1,306)"
B Active Referral M Brief Advice I Control B Non-trial Total
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! Missing data were not displayed.

Self-reported quit rate at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

At 3-month follow-up, by ITT analysis, the overall 7-day PP
quit rate was 14.4% (95% Cl 12.5% to 16.3%). Compared
with the Control group (14.0%; 95% Cl 10.6% to 17.4%), the
Active Referral group (18.9%; 95% Cl 15.1% to 22.7%) had a
marginally significantly higher quit rate (p=0.06) and the Brief
Advice group had a significantly lower (8.9%, 95%Cl 6.2% to
11.6%) quit rate (p=0.02), probably because the Brief Advice
group had the lowest retention rate (as those unsuccessfully
followed-up participants were assumed to have not quitted).
The Active Referral group also had a significantly higher quit
rate than the Brief Advice group (p<0.001). By complete case
(CQ) analysis, the Active Referral group (28.4%, 95% Cl 23.0%
to 33.8%) had a significantly higher quit rate than the Brief
Advice group (13.6%; 95% Cl 9.5% to 17.7%; p<0.001) and the
Control group (19.3%; 95% Cl 14.8% to 23.8%; p=0.01) while the
difference between the Brief Advice and Control groups was
not statistically significant (p=0.07) (Figure 8).
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At 6-month follow-up, by ITT analysis, the overall quit rate was
13.0% (95% CI 11.2% to 14.8%). The Active Referral group (17.2%;
95% Cl 13.5% to 20.9%) had a significantly higher quit rate
than the Brief Advice (9.4%; 95% Cl 6.6% to 12.2%; p=0.001)
and Control groups (11.5%; 95% Cl 8.4% to 14.6% p=0.02). The
difference between the Brief Advice group and Control group
was non-significant (p=0.31). Similar results were observed
using CC analysis (Figure 8).

Figure 8

Self-reported quit rates at 3- and 6-month follow-ups,
by intention-to-treat and complete-case analysis

B Active Referral M Brief Advice 1 Control M Non-trial Total

35% 9

3-month ITT
(N=1,306)

3-month CC
(N=897)

6-month ITT
(N=1,306)

6-month CC
(N=951)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Biochemically validated quit rate at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

At 3-month follow-up, among the 188 self-reported quitters
(including non-trial group), 97 (51.6%) participated in the
biochemical validation and 88.7% passed the test. By ITT
analysis, the overall validated quit rate was 6.6%. The Active
Referral group (10.2%) had a significantly higher rate than the
Brief Advice (3.8%) and Control groups (4.2%) (all p<0.001). The
Brief Advice and Control groups had similar quit rates. Similar
results were observed using CC analysis (Figure 9).

At 6-month follow-up, 89 out of 170 (52.4%) self-reported
quitters (including non-trial group) participated in the
biochemical validation and all passed the test resulting in an
overall validated quit rate of 6.8%, by ITT analysis. The Active
Referral group (9.0%) were significantly higher than the Brief
Advice (5.0%) and Control groups (5.1%) (all p=0.03). The Brief
Advice group had a non-significantly lower rate than the
Control group (p=0.95). Similar results were observed using CC
analysis (Figure 9).

Figure 9

Biochemically validated quit rates at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups, by intention-to-treat and complete-case
analysis
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(N=951)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Smoking reduction rate at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

By ITT analysis and excluding quitters as reducers, 22.3% and
24.2% of all participants reduced daily cigarette consumption
by half or more at 3 and 6 months and the difference was not
signifcant (p>0.05). By CC analysis, the reduction rate in the
Brief Advice group (36.3%) was significantly higher than the
Active Referral group (28.0%) at 3 months (p=0.04) (Figure 10).

Figure 10

Rate of smoking reduction by half or more at 3- and
6-month follow-ups, by intention-to-treat analysis and
complete-case analysis'
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' Quitters were excluded in the numerator but included in the denominator.



By ITT analysis and including quitters as reducers, 36.7%
and 37.2% of all participants had reduced daily cigarette
consumption by more than half at 3 and 6 months respectively.
At 3-month follow-up, the reduction rate in the Active Referral
(37.6%) was similar to that in the Brief Advice group (32.7%)
and Control group (36.5%) (all p>0.05). Reduction rates at 6
months were also similar in all groups (Active Referral: 40.0%;
Brief Advice: 32.7%; and Control: 36.0%) (Figure 11).

Figure 11

Rate of smoking reduction by half or more at 3- and
6-month follow-ups, by intention-to-treat analysis and
complete-case analysis'
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6-month ITT
(N=1,306)

6-month CC
(N=951)

' Quitters were included in the numerator and denominator.

Smoking cessation services used

In the Active Referral group, 87.3% had chosen an SC service
provider during the study period and 71.5% of them received
proactive contacts from the SC service providers. Among
251 participants who received proactive contact from the SC
service providers, 40.6% used the service for quitting. The 4
most commonly used services were: (1) face-to-face counseling
(61.8%), (2) medicine (prescribed by physicians) (42.2%), (3)
nicotine replacement therapy (i.e. gum/patch/inhaler) (40.2%)
and (4) acupuncture (23.5%) (Figure 12).

Figure 12

Use of smoking cessation services (N=102) "2

Face-to-face counseling 61.8%

Medicine

(prescribed by physician) 422%

Nicotine replacement therapy

(gum/patch/inhaler) 40.2%

Acupuncture
Telephone counseling

Group counseling

! Missing data were not displayed.
? Participants could choose more than one service.

Among the 149 participants who received proactive contact
but had not used the SC service during the study period, busy
schedule (53.7%) and time mismatch (46.3%) were the 2 most
commonly reported reasons (Figure 13).

Figure 13

Reasons for not using the smoking cessation services
(among non- service users, N=149) "*

Busy schedule 53.7%

Time mismatch

No interest 10.1%

Perceived it not

useful 10.1%

Inconvenient
location

! Missing data were not displayed.
? Participants could choose more than one reason.

Perceived importance of quitting

The overall mean scores of perceived importance of quitting
at baseline, 3- and 6-month follow-ups were 7.52, 7.16 and 7.30,
respectively. Compared with the baseline, the mean scores of all
the groups dropped significantly at 3 months (Active Referral:
from 7.68 to 7.50, p=0.02; Brief Advice: from 7.34 to 6.79,
p<0.001; and Control: from 7.42 to 7.09, p=0.03). The Active
Referral group had a continuous drop after 3 months but the
Brief Advice and Control groups rebounded after 3 months.
The difference of mean scores between baseline and 6 months
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was significantly different in the Active Referral group only
(from 7.68 to 7.28, p<0.001) but not in the Brief Advice (from 7.34
to 7.21, p=0.31) and Control groups (from 7.42 to 7.25, p=0.44).
Significant difference was observed between Active Referral
and Brief Advice groups at baseline (p=0.02) and 3 months
(p<0.001), and between Active Referral and Control group at
3 months (p=0.03) (Figure 14).

Figure 14
Perceived level of importance to quit smoking'
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Within-group pair-sample t-test (p-values):

Baseline versus Baseline versus

3 months 6 months
Active Referral 0.02 <0.001
Brief Advice <0.001 0.31
Control 0.03 0.44
Between group independent samples t-test (p-values):
Active referral RAecfglyrgl Brief Advice
versus Brief versus versus
Advice Control Control
Baseline 0.02 0.08 0.62
3 months <0.001 0.03 0.1
6 months 0.63 0.85 0.81

'Scale 0-10, 0 lowest, 10 highest; analysis excluded missing data.

Perceived difficulty of quitting

The overall mean scores of perceived difficulty of quitting
increased from baseline (7.12) to 3 months (7.20) and 6 months
(7.75). Compared with the baseline, the Active Referral and
Control groups had significantly higher mean scores at
6 months (Active Referral: from 7.07 to 7.55, p=0.01; Control
group: from 7.14 to 7.89, p<0.001). The Brief Advice group had
significantly higher mean scores at 3 and 6 months (from 7.08
to 733 and 7.77, p=0.05 and <0.001, respectively) compared
with the baseline score. Significant difference was observed
only between Active Referral and Control groups at 6 months
(p=0.04) (Figure 15).

Figure 15

Perceived level of difficulty to quit smoking'
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Within-group pair-sample t-test (p-values):

Baseline versus Baseline versus

3 months 6 months
Active Referral 0.43 0.01
Brief Advice 0.05 <0.001
Control 0.91 <0.001
Between group independent samples t-test (p-value):
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Advice C oerr]stlrjgl Control

Baseline 0.92 0.65 0.61
3 months 0.06 0.18 0.56
6 months 0.16 0.04 0.48

' Scale 0-10, 0 lowest, 10 highest; analysis excluded missing data.

Perceived confidence of quitting

The overall mean scores of perceived confidence on
quitting at baseline, 3 and 6 months were 6.11, 596 and
6.11, respectively. Compared with the baseline, the mean
scores of the Brief Advice and Control groups dropped at
3 months. Only the decrease in the Brief Advice group showed
statistical significance (p=0.003). The mean score in all groups
rebounded after 3 months and the scores at 6 months became
similar to those at the baseline. The Active Referral group had
higher mean score than the Brief Advice and Control groups at
3 and 6 months (all p< 0.001) (Figure 16).



Figure 16

Perceived level of confidence to quit smoking'
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Within-group pair-sample t-test (p-values):

Baseline versus Baseline versus
3 months 6 months
Active Referral 0.21 0.06
Brief Advice 0.003 0.20
Control 0.06 0.52
Between group independent samples t-test (p-value):
Active referral Rﬁ?‘tei;/rgl Brief Advice
versus Brief versus versus
Advice Control Control
Baseline 0.66 0.72 0.96
3 months <0.001 <0.001 0.46
6 months <0.001 <0.001 0.88

' Scale 0-10, 0 lowest, 10 highest; analysis excluded missing data.

Quit attempt at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

Including quitters, 50.1% and 55.9% of the participants had at
least one quit attempt at 3 and 6 months, respectively. At 3
months, quit attempt rates were higher in the Active Referral
group (50.2%) and the Control group (55.9%) compared
with the Brief Advice group (42.5%) (p=0.03 and <0.001,
respectively). At 6 months, the Control group (62.7%) had a
higher quit attempt rate than the Active Referral group (54.2%,
p=0.01) and the Brief Advice group (48.6%, p<0,001) (Figure
17).

Excluding quitters, 41.6% and 49.3% of the participants had at
least one quit attempt at 3 and 6 months, respectively. Control
group (3 months: 48.7%; 6 months: 57.9%) had a higher quit
attempt rate at both months when compared with Active
Referral group (38.7%, p=0.008; 44.7%, p<0.001) and Brief
Advice group (36.9%, p<0.001; 43.2%, p<0.001). (Figure 17).

Figure 17

Quit attempt at 3- and 6-month follow-ups
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During the study period, the top 3 reasons of having quit
attempt were: (1) smoking-related illness prevention (67.4%), (2)
commitment to the participation in the Contest (35.8%), and (3)
concerned about family’s health (20.4%) (Figure 18).

Figure 18

Reasons for quit attempts among participants who had
at least one quit attempt in the past 6 months (N=730) ">

Smoking-related illnesses prevention 67.4%

Commitment to the participation
in the Contest

Concern about family’s health 20.4%

Cigarettes are expensive 16.8%

Encouragement/Pressure from others

Receiving medical treatment
due to illness

Becoming role model of children

Useful method(s) is/are provided
by the counselor

Bonus/prize of the Contest

Inconvenient to smoke
due to fewer smoking areas

Appearance
Pregnancy

The self-help booklet

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one reason.
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The 3 most commonly used methods for quitting were: (1)
stopping purchasing cigarettes (23.3%), (2) drinking water/
eating snacks (19.0%), (3) using NRT (11.4%) (Figure 19). About
half experienced the craving for tobacco (43.6%). Other
commonly experienced symptoms included irritated/lose
temper/angry (19.7%) and difficult to concentrate (19.5%)
(Figure 20).

Figure 19

Methods of quit attempt among participants who had at
least one quit attempt in the past 6 months (N=730) >

Stopping purchasing cigarettes 233%

Drinking water/ eating snacks
Using NRT

Distraction
Receiving counselin
in clinic/hospita

Using recommendations
provided by others

Receiving counseling through hotline | 04%

Using information obtained i

from the Internet || 04%

Using self-help booklet | 03%

Joining smoking cessation activities i
held by the community

0.1%

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one method.

Social support during smoking cessation

Participants who responded to the 6-month follow-up
perceived support for quitting from: (1) friends (23.8%), (2)
spouse/partner (20.7%), (3) family (14.5%), and (4) parents
(11.8%). However, about one-third (31.8%) perceived no social
support (Figure 21).

Figure 20

Withdrawal symptoms in all participants who had at
least one quit attempt in the past 6 months (N=730) ">

Craving for tobacco 43.6%
Irritated/lose temper/angry 19.7%
Difficult to concentrate 19.5%
Increased appetite 16.4%
Cannot sleep well 15.5%

Difficult to fall asleep
Anxiety

Gaining weight
Depression
Tiredness

Respiratory discomfort

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one symptom.

Figure 21

Perceived support in the quitting process in all
participants at 6 months follow-up (N = 951) ">

Friends 23.8%

Spouse/ partner 20.7%

Family 14.5%
Parents
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Other relatives

Colleagues

Siblings

Healthcare professionals
Smoking cessation counselor

No social support 31.8%

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one reason.



Use and satisfaction of smoking cessation aids
Printed materials

Among participants who responded to the 6-month follow-
up, most of them (79.7%) read the printed SC materials
(Figure 22). Of the 758 participants who read the materials,
significantly more participants in the Active Referral group
reported that the printed materials could motivate them to
quit (Active Referral: 90.9%; Brief Advice: 74.6%; and Control:
76.4%; p for Active Referral versus Brief Advice <0.001, for
Active Referral versus Control <0.001; and Brief Advice versus
Control=0.64), and increase their quit attempt (Active Referral:
86.8%; Brief Advice: 70.3%; and Control: 71.3%; p for Active
Referral versus Brief Advice <0.001, Active Referral versus
Control <0.001 and Brief Advice versus Control=0.81).

Figure 22

Use of smoking cessation materials in all
participants at 6 months "***
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! Participants could choose more than one answer.

? Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
* Missing data were not displayed.

* Participants who had read the printed materials only.

Figure 23

Reasons of not reading the materials in all participants
at 6 months (N=193) *

Too busy 57.5%
Lost it

No interest

Perceived it ineffective

llliteracy

Forgotten

! Participants could choose more than one answer.

* Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6 months and missing data
were excluded.

Of the 193 (20.3%) participants who did not read the materials,
the 3 most common reasons were: (1) too busy (57.5%), (2) lost
it (17.1%) and (3) no interest (8.3%) (Figure 23).

Perception on the follow-up calls

Of the 951 participants who responded to the 6-month
follow-up, 92.6% agreed that the frequency of the follow-
up calls was appropriate. When compared with the Control
group (91.2%), more participants in the Active Referral group
perceived the frequency as appropriate (94.9%; p=0.008)
(Figure 24).

Figure 24
Perception on the follow-up calls in1all participants at
6-month (N=951)
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! Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6 months were excluded;
missing data were not displayed.

4. Discussion

From 20 June to 24 September 2015, the 6™ “Quit to Win”
Contest successfully disseminated the smoke-free messages
in the community by organizing 70 recruitment activities with
99 staff/volunteers from NGOs and university undergraduate
students participating in the promotion and recruitment
throughout all 18 districts in Hong Kong. Over 8,000 smokers
were approached by the recruitment staff, over 6,800 smokers
received the smoking cessation promotion leaflets, 1,306
smokers joined the Contest and 1,226 joined the RCT. By ITT
analysis, the self-reported quit rate for all participants was
14.4% at 3 months and 13.0% at 6 months, which are higher
than that observed in the previous Contests (3-month self-
reported quit rate was 10.6% in 2012, 9.6% in 2013 and 9.9%
in 2014). The overall quit rate in 2015 was also the highest
compared with the previous Contests, probably due to the
much higher quit rate in those who had been actively referred
to and had used the existing SC services.
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The findings suggested that, in addition to the small financial
incentive, motivating smokers to quit using brief SC advice
and actively referring smokers to SC services can increase
abstinence, the validated quit rate nearly doubled that of the
minimal cessation assistance. Moreover, the active referral
intervention was widely accepted by the participants and
most of them consented to be referred (87.3%) in Active
Referral group. Although only about 30% of them used the
SC service (29.1%), this was higher than that observed in other
overseas trials which only showed 5.0% to 28.2% of usage'*".
In a previous telephone survey on US smoker’s willingness to
receive different SC strategies, 46.4% smokers claimed that
they were willing to utilize proactive telephone service . The
Hong Kong Thematic Household Survey (2015) showed that
among the 68% smokers who were aware of the services and
had never tried them, most of them (96%) were unwilling
to seek SC services. Our results found that 62.4% actively
referred smokers eventually received the proactive call from
their chosen SC service providers suggesting that the active
referral plus brief advice intervention would increase smokers’
acceptance for proactive telephone services. Regarding
the SC service usage among smokers who were proactively
contacted, the proportions of smokers who reported having
used the face-to-face counseling and group counseling in
our study (25.1% and 3.6%) were far lower than the previous
study which reported that 55.7% and 36.1% smokers showed
their willingness to use them ™. The lack of knowledge about
effective SC treatments was a major barrier for SC service
use'®. The face-to-face introduction of comprehensive SC
services and the SC service information card to the smokers
in the active referral group can increase quit attempt and
quitting. However, busy schedule and time mismatch were
two main reasons of not using the referred services. Most
participants were employees and unable to attend the SC
clinic services which usually operated during weekdays from
9am to 5pm in Hong Kong. More support from the employers,
such as provision of leave allowance for attending SC services,
might increase smokers’ use of the services. Future studies
should also explore the use of online platforms (such as
website and instant messaging) to deliver SC services.

We found that the on-site brief SC advice using AWARD
model plus a health warning leaflet alone (Brief Advice group)
did not have an additional effect compared with the Control
group (general minimal SC advice and a booklet) on all study
outcomes, which was inconsistent with the previous study in
“Quit to Win” Contest 2010 using similar SC advice but with
a more comprehensive SC self-help booklet®. We found that
the participants in both studies (QTW 2010 and QTW 2015)
had similar socio-demographic characteristics and smoking
behavior, except fewer participants had past quit attempt
in 2015 (52.8%) than 2010 (68.4%). Given that the leaflet is
cheaper than a booklet, it may be more cost-effective to
use the leaflet in subsequent SC promotion campaigns.
Nevertheless, the results suggested the importance to
design and evaluate the most effective advice, leaflet and
methods of referring smokers to evidence-based SC services.
Future studies on brief advice and active referral should
test the effects of different intensity of active referral (e.g.
more intensive such as booking the SC appointment on-site

during face-to-face intervention) and the combined effects
with other cost-effective and brief SC interventions (e.g. SC
SMS messaging), i.e. cocktail interventions including several
different and very brief interventions.

It is worth-noting that the effects of the active referral and
brief advice intervention might be underestimated as the
retention rates at 1- and 2-month follow-ups of the Active
Referral and Brief Advice groups were lower than that of the
Control group. Unfollowed participants were not able to
receive the booster intervention which might then reduce the
intervention intensity.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the 6™ QTW Contest successfully promoted SC
and reached a large number of smokers in the community
who were otherwise unlikely to seek help from SC services.
QTW Contest provides an important platform to disseminate
SC messages to a vast number of smokers and non-smokers.
The majority (79.7%) of the 6™ QTW Contest participants read
our printed SC material (e.g. health warning leaflet, SC service
information card and self-help booklet) and perceived them
as effective to quit smoking. The active referral intervention
showed increased abstinence at 6 months, suggesting smokers
can be readily referred to SC services by trained community
health workers or volunteers. Early proactive contact and
referring smokers to SC service providers enhanced SC service
use, which significantly increased abstinence. Longer-term
follow-up is warranted to detect the effects of brief advice
and active referral, and cocktail interventions including
different combinations of very brief interventions, on quitting.

6. Clinical Trial Registration

Clinical trial registration number: NCT02539875 (https:/
clinicaltrials.gov/)
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1. Introduction

The prevalence of daily smoking in Hong Kong has reduced
from 23.3% in 1982 to 10.0% in 2017, which is among the
lowest in developed regions. Key tobacco control policies
were implemented to increase tobacco tax, enlarge indoor
and outdoor smoke-free areas, ban tobacco advertising,
sponsorship and promotion, and adopt health warnings on
cigarette packs. Pictorial health warnings must cover 85% of
the cigarette packs by 21 June 2018 by law.

In December 2017, the Hong Kong Council on Smoking and
Health (COSH) advocated for the tobacco endgame towards
a smoke-free Hong Kong with a smoking prevalence target
of 5% or below by 2027'. In May 2018, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR) Government launched
“Towards 2025: Strategy and Action Plan to Prevent and
Control NCD in Hong Kong” with a smoking prevalence target
of 7.8% by 2025°. However, the drop in smoking prevalence
has been slow in recent years without major advances in
control strategies. For instance, tobacco tax has not been
raised for 4 years since the small increase of 11.7% in 2014.
Seven countries have adopted plain packaging and many
regions (including Macau) have banned tobacco displays
in retail outlets. At least six jurisdictions (New Zealand,
Ireland, Scotland, Canada, Finland and Malaysia) have already
announced their endgame goal (smoking prevalence below
5%). Therefore, much stronger tobacco control measures are
urgently needed for Hong Kong to reach the above smoking
prevalence targets.

Moreover, the re-emerging waterpipe tobacco and novel
products including e-cigarettes and heat-not-burn (HNB)
tobacco, have already drawn much public interest especially

among young people and those being attracted by the
assertion that these products are safer or less harmful than
conventional cigarettes. E-cigarettes and HNB tobacco are
also promoted as effective smoking cessation aids despite
the lack of evidence. Smokers should use the proven effective
means and free cessation services instead. Widespread use of
these new products risks renormalizing tobacco smoking as
users may eventually turn to combustible cigarettes. Macau
has banned the sale of e-cigarettes since January 2018.
The HKSAR Government has not yet introduced a plan to
ban these products. Further delay would lead to increasing
growth and use of these products particularly in young
people.

New research is needed to tackle these new challenges,
along with frequent monitoring to inform and evaluate the
effectiveness of tobacco control policies. COSH commissioned
the Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey (TCPS), a regular
cross-sectional survey, to collect population representative
information on smoking and public opinion on tobacco
control. It was first conducted in 2013 and repeated yearly
through 2017. Since 2015, each survey recruited around 5,100
respondents, with over sampling of smokers and ex-smokers.
Results of TCPS have been used to advocate for introducing
more tobacco control measures by the Government, and
key findings were disseminated in publications and press
conferences for tobacco control advocacy.

This report aims to show the key findings from TCPS 2017,
and to invite more discussion and advocacy on new and
innovative tobacco control policies. The findings are divided
into 7 themes: (1) Smoking and quitting characteristics of



current smokers; (2) Exposure to secondhand and thirdhand
smoke; (3) Opinions on extending no smoking area; (4)
Opinions about health warnings and point-of-sale (POS)
tobacco displays; (5) Public support for increasing tobacco
tax; (6) Awareness, attitude and use of new or re-emerging
tobacco products (e-cigarettes, HNB tobacco and waterpipe
tobacco); and (7) Public support for new tobacco control
measures.

2. Methods

2.1 Study design and participants

Anonymous computer-assisted telephone interviews based
on a structured questionnaire were conducted by a survey
agent (Public Opinion Programme, The University of Hong
Kong) from April to September 2017. Respondents aged 15
years or above, speaking Cantonese or Putonghua, were
recruited. They were divided into 3 groups: (a) current
smokers who, at the time of the survey, consumed cigarettes
daily or occasionally; (b) ex-smokers, who consumed
cigarettes previously but did not smoke at the time of the
survey; and (c) never smokers, who had never consumed
cigarettes in their life time. Initial calls took place during
2:00pm to 10:30pm on weekdays and weekends to cover
respondents of different occupations and working hours.
Each randomly selected telephone number was called back
5 times, at different hours and days of the week, before it was
considered as “non-contact”. All respondents provided oral
consent before the interview began, and could withdraw
from the study at any time without providing any reasons.

2.2 Sampling methods and respondent selection

Telephone numbers were randomly selected from residential
telephone directories. To capture unlisted numbers, another
set of numbers were generated by a computer programme
using the “plus/minus one/two” method and appended to the
sampling frame. When a telephone contact was successfully
established with a target household, one eligible person was
selected from all eligible family members who were at home
at the time of interview, using the “next birthday” procedure.

2.3 Questionnaire development

The questionnaire used in TCPS 2017 was modified from that
in the 2016 survey. Similar to the 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
surveys, the questionnaire included: (a) core questions; and
(b) random questions. Sex, age, education level, monthly
household income, employment status, exposure to
secondhand smoke (SHS), and use of e-cigarettes and HNB
tobacco products were core questions for all respondents.
Daily cigarette consumption, intention to quit and time to
first smoking after waking were core questions for all current

smokers. Random question sets were designed for random
subsamples of respondents with certain smoking status.
Questions on health warnings, POS tobacco displays, support
for tobacco control measures, waterpipe tobacco smoking
were covered in various random subsets.

2.4 Weighting and statistical analysis

TCPS 2017 recruited 5,131 respondents, including 1,712 never
smokers, 1,715 ex-smokers and 1,704 current smokers. The
whole sample was weighted against the projected age and
sex distribution of the Hong Kong population and smoking
status in 2017 to produce population representative estimates.
Unless specified as estimation for specific population (e.g.
SHS exposure in workplace in the respondents who were
working), all percentages shown in the results section are the
estimation for the general population.

Univariate analysis of variables of interest was conducted
by smoking status. Chi-square test was used to examine
differences by smoking status. Statistical significance was set
at p <0.05. Statistical analysis was conducted using STATA
(Version 13.1, TX: StataCorp LP).

3. Results

3.1 Smoking and quitting characteristics of current
smokers

Table 1 shows that current smokers most commonly smoked
5-14 (33.8%) and 15-24 (30.6%) cigarettes per day in the past 7
days. Nearly half of the current smokers (49.1%) consumed the
first cigarette within 30 minutes after waking up. Half of the
current smokers (50.6%) had no intention to quit but 19.2%
planned to quit within the next 6 months and 27.8% after 6
months or some other time. Only 13.3% and 26.7% of current
smokers reported ever using the smoking cessation services
and smoking cessation products, respectively.

3.2 Exposure to secondhand and thirdhand smoke

One in ten (9.9%) respondents reported SHS exposure from
inside home in past 7 days, which was more common in
current smokers (18.8%) than never (9.2%) and ex-smokers
(5.1%) (p<0.01) (Figure 1). Twice as many respondents (22.3%)
reported SHS exposure at home from outside in past 7 days.
One-fourth of all working respondents (25.4%) reported SHS
exposure at work in past 7 days, doubling to 54.5% in current
smokers. Two-thirds (68.6%) of respondents reported SHS
exposure at public areas in past 7 days. Thirdhand smoke
exposure at home in past 7 days was reported by 13.3% of
respondents.
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Table 1. Smoking and quitting characteristics of current smokers by sex

Male Female Total
% % %
Daily cigarette consumption in past 7 days (n=1,429) (n=275) (n=1,704)
No consumption 9.5 11.0 9.8
1-4 sticks 121 13.8 12.4
5-14 sticks 329 38.6 338
15-24 sticks 31.7 25.0 30.6
25+ sticks 54 3.8 5.2
DK/RTA 8.3 7.7 8.2
Mean (SD) 13.2(8.6) 11.4(7.4) 12.9 (8.4)
Time to first cigarette after waking (n=1,429) (n=275) (n=1,704)
5 minutes or below 222 27.2 23.0
6-30 minutes 25.6 284 26.1
31-60 minutes 11.8 10.3 11.5
Over 60 minutes 29.6 255 29.0
DK/RTA 10.8 8.6 10.5
Intention to quit smoking (n=1,429) (n=275) (n=1,704)
Yes, within 6 months 19.8 15.9 19.2
Yes, after 6 months or some other time 27.0 31.7 27.8
No 50.7 50.0 50.6
DK/RTA 24 2.5 24
Ever use of smoking cessation services (n=469) (n=88) (n=557)
Yes 13.3 13.5 13.3
No 83.4 85.7 83.8
DK/RTA 34 0.8 3.0
Ever use of smoking cessation products (n=469) (n=88) (n=557)
Yes 25.1 32.2 26.7
No 749 67.8 733

DK/RTA: Don’t know or refused to answer. Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents; Percentages were weighted, where appropriate, by age,
and sex of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017.
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3.3 Opinions about extension of no smoking area

Over three-quarters of respondents supported designating
various public places smoke-free, including all public
transport stops (92.3%), queuing lines in public areas (91.7%),
all public areas where children are present (84.2%), pedestrian
walkways (82.7%), busy streets (81.8%), all common areas of
residential areas (81.7%) and entrances of office buildings
(within 3 meters) (76.7%) (Figure 2). Although the support
by current smokers was lower than never and ex-smokers
(p<0.01), all measures were supported by more than half
of current smokers. A vast majority (81.1%) of respondents,

Figure 1

including 60.0% of current smokers, supported to penalize
the venue manager if smoking occurred in a designated no
smoking area under their purview.

3.4 Opinions about health warnings and tobacco
advertising

Figure 3 shows that among current smokers, 77.6% noticed
the health warnings on cigarette packs in the past 30 days
and as a result, 39.6% thought of the risks of smoking, 25.4%
thought of quitting, and 8.5% smoked less.

Reported SHS/thirdhand smoke exposure in different locations
in the past 7 days by smoking status

[ Ex-smokers

[ Never smokers

%

0 .
SHS from SHS at home
inside the home from outside
(n=5,131) (n=5,131)

Il Current smokers

Total

SHS at work
(n=2,188)

THS at home
(n=1,573)

SHS at public areas
(n=2,026)

Proportion of SHS exposure at workplace were answered by the respondents who were working. Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents.
Percentages were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.

Figure 2
Support to designate specific public places as smoke-free areas/penalty for
venue manager by smoking status (n=1,596)
I Neversmokers [l Ex-smokers [l Currentsmokers Total
100 94.293.1 23 924947
90- 862862 g4y 855841 g7 849
80
70
60
% 50
40
30
20
10
0_
All public Queuing I|nes Public areas Pedestrian Busy All common Entrancesof  Penalty for the
transportstops  in publicareas  where children  walkways streets areas of office buildings  venue manager
are present residential areas  (within 3m)

Sample size (n) refers to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.
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Figure 3

Figure 5

Awareness and responses to health warnings on
cigarette packs in past 30 days by smoking status

Awareness and attitude towards point-of-sale
tobacco displays (n=1,546)

[ Neversmokers M Ex-smokers [ Current smokers Total

90
8 756

% 30 390 396
B34

%9 w4
1 B3
58 85 85
. -I . m

Noticedthe ~ Thought of therisks ~ *Thought of quitting ** Forgoing cigarettes
warnings  of smoking duetohealth  dueto health due to health
(n=1,546) warnings (n=1,546)  wamings (n=707)  warnings (n=287)

I Ex-smokers WM Current smokers Total

[ Never smokers

32 45 40'442.9

n3
08 2.0.1.9 .

Noticed displays ~ Perceived displays  Perceived displays  Perceived displays
in the past 30 days as attractive increase desire  encourage young people
to smoke to smoke

*Ex- and current smokers only.
**Current smokers only.

Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages
were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong
population.

Figure 4 shows that over 40% of respondents thought that
enlarging the health warnings on cigarettes packs would
bring favourable effects of increasing smokers’ awareness
on harms of smoking (53.8%), increasing smokers’ intention
to quit (41.6%), increasing the number of quitters (41.2%),
reducing the number of young people who try to smoke
(44.5%) and reducing the attractiveness of tobacco products
(48.5%), which were much greater than those who expected
unfavourable effects (2.9% to 13.3%).

Figure 5 shows that two-thirds (64.0%) of all respondents
had noticed POS tobacco displays in the past 30 days, 11.8%
considered them attractive, and 42.9% thought such displays
would encourage youth smoking. More importantly, 11.3%
of current smokers, 2.0% of ex-smokers and 0.8% of never
smokers reported that the displays had increased their desire
to smoke.

Figure 4

Perceived changes due to the expansion of
health warnings (n=1,546)

M Increase Nochange M Decrease [ DK/RTA
100 B 33— 4
80 . o8 . 41.6. 412 " 1
% 60
40 . y
20

Numberof Attractiveness '

0 . : :
Smokers'literacy ~ Quitintention ~ Number of
oftheharms~ of smokers Quitters rloungpeople of tobacco
of smoking whotrytosmoke  products

DK/RTA: Don't know or refused to answer. Sample size (n) refers to the
actual number of respondents. Percentages were weighted by age, sex and
smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.
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Sample size (n) refers to the actual number of respondents. Percentages
were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong
population.

3.5 Support for tobacco tax increase

Of all respondents, 81.1% supported increasing tobacco
tax next year, including 40.9% who thought the increase
should be greater than inflation. Even 31.9% of current
smokers supported an increase of tobacco tax (Figure 6). An
annual increase in tobacco tax was supported by 71.0% of
all respondents, including 36.2% who thought the increase
should be greater than inflation. About one-quarter (24.3%)
of current smokers supported an annual increase in tobacco
tax (Figure 7).

Figure 6
Support for the government to increase tobacco tax
next year by smoking status
[0 Yes, greater than inflation I Yes, as much as inflation
I Yes, whatevertheincreasing level [l No I DKRTA
100 54 49 45 53
i i E
% 1210 14.7 e -
0 : - n7
155
20 446 401 73 409
0 - A
Never smokers Ex-smokers (urrent smokers Total
(n=839) (n=865) (n=298) (n=2,002)

DK/RTA: Don't know or refused to answer. Sample sizes (n) refer to the
actual number of respondents. Percentages were weighted by age, sex and
smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.



Table 2: The retail price (HKS) of a pack of cigarettes that would make current smokers reduce the
daily consumption (at least 50%) or quit smoking by sex

Male Female Total
(n=248) (n=50) (n=298)

Reduce daily consumption by at least 50% if price increases (%) 48.1 344 46.0
*Mean price 167.9 139.5 164.5
*Median price 100 100 100
*Modal price 100 100 100
Quit smoking if price increases (%) 47.3 46.2 47.1
*Mean price 3259 174.6 302.3
*Median price 100 100 100
*Modal price 100 100 100
Either reduce or quit smoking if price increases (%) 58.2 60.3 58.5

*Only respondents who were current smokers and said they would reduce the daily consumption or quit smoking by an increase in price were included.
Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents; Percentages were weighted by age and sex of current smokers in Hong Kong in 2017

Figure 7

Support the government to increase tobacco tax
annually by smoking status

I Yes, as much as inflation
M No

[ Yes, greater than inflation

I Yes, whatever the increasing level Il DK/RTA

100 50 53 6.0 51
80 188 233 39
o 60 5. 212 B3
40 18 138 1s
20 393 364 . 36.2
0 83
Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
(n=839) (n=865) (n=299) (n=2,002)

DK/RTA: Don't know or refused to answer. Sample sizes (n) refer to the
actual number of respondents. Percentages were weighted by age, sex and
smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.

About 58.5% of current smokers would either reduce
smoking by at least 50% or quit smoking if the retail price of
cigarettes increases. The mean and median retail prices that
would encourage them to reduce smoking by at least 50%
was HK$164.5 and HK$100 respectively. The corresponding
prices for motivating them to quit was HK$302.3 and HK$100
respectively (Table 2).

3.6 Awareness, attitude and use of new or re-
emerging tobacco products (e-cigarettes, HNB
tobacco and waterpipe tobacco)

Figure 8 shows that 88.4% of all respondents and 91.9%
of current smokers had heard of e-cigarettes. Similarly,
waterpipe tobacco was heard by 84.6% of all respondents
and 89.3% of current smokers. HNB tobacco, by contrast, was
heard by only 11.1% of all respondents and 26.8% of current
smokers.

Figure 8

Awareness on e-cigarette, HNB tobacco and waterpipe
tobacco (All respondents and current smokers)

884 919 893

9% 50

E-cigarette  HNBtobacco  Waterpipe
(n=1,704)  (n=1,704)  tobacco
(n=562)

E-cigarette  HNBtobacco Waterpipe
(n=5131)  (n=5,131)  tobacco
(n=2,266)

All respondents Current Smokers

Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents; Percentages
were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong
population
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In all respondents, only 3.5%, 0.9% and 9.7% had ever
used e-cigarettes, HNB tobacco and waterpipe tobacco,
respectively (Figure 9). In current smokers, the corresponding
proportions were 24.0%, 8.9% and 36.7%. In all respondents,
the prevalence of using e-cigarettes and waterpipe tobacco
in past 30 days was 0.2% and 0.1% respectively. The
corresponding proportions for current smokers were 2.1%
and 0.6%.

Figure 9

Use of E-cigarette, HNB tobacco and waterpipe
tobacco (All respondents and current smokers)

[ HNB tobacco
367

B E-dgarettes

I Waterpipe tobacco

02 01 21

e 06 )
Past30-dayuse  Past 30-day use
(All) ()

Ever use
()

Ever use
(Al

All: All respondents; CS: Current smokers. Use of HNB tobacco in past 30
days was not assessed in TCPS 2017. Ever use of e-cigarettes and HNB
tobacco and use of e-cigarettes in past 30 days were answered by all the
5,131 respondents, including 1,704 current smokers. Ever use and use
of waterpipe tobacco in past 30 days were reported by subset of 2,266
respondents, including 562 current smokers. Percentages were weighted by
age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.

Figure 10 shows that 28.9% of all respondents and 34.7% of
current smokers perceived e-cigarettes as less addictive than
conventional cigarettes. The corresponding percentages for
perceived addictiveness of waterpipe tobacco were 39.4% and

Figure 10

43.7%. About 28.4% of all respondents and 31.7% of current
smokers did not know the addictiveness of e-cigarettes.
Similarly, about one-fourth of all respondents (24.5%) and
current smokers (24.7%) did not know the addictiveness of
waterpipe tobacco.

About 28.6% of all respondents and 22.2% of current smokers
perceived e-cigarettes as less harmful than conventional
cigarettes. About one-third of all respondents (36.8%) and
current smokers (33.7%) perceived waterpipe tobacco as less
harmful than conventional cigarettes. About one-fourth of
all respondents (23.4%) and current smokers (29.6%) did not
know the harmfulness of e-cigarettes. The corresponding
results on harmfulness of waterpipe tobacco (All: 23.9% and
CS: 28.0%) were similar.

3.7 Support for new tobacco control measures

Figure 11 shows that in all respondents, the most supported
tobacco control measure was an increase in the legal age of
purchasing cigarettes from 18 to 21 years (81.1%), followed
by plain packaging (79.3%), a ban on POS tobacco displays
(66.0%), a total ban on smoking (64.3%), a total ban on
tobacco sale (61.2%), and to “prohibit children born in 2017 or
after from smoking” (51.7%). Support was the greatest from
never smokers, followed by ex-smokers and current smokers.

Figure 12 shows support of all respondents for amending
the Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance (Cap. 371) (77.9%),
regulating tobacco industry’s profit (76.3%), setting a cigarette
quota that decreases year by year (75.7%), and banning
smoking when the smoking prevalence decreases to 5% or
lower (62.4%). At least one-third of current smokers supported
the above measures.

Perceptions on addictiveness and harmfulness of e-cigarette and waterpipe tobacco
(All respondents and current smokers)

M More addictive/harmful than
conventional cigarette

E-cigarette  Waterpipe E-cigarette  Waterpipe
(n=4,432)  tobacco (n=1,510)  tobacco
(n=1,953) (n=502)

Awareness (All) Awareness (CS)

[ Equal addictiveness/harmfulness

[0 Less addictive/harmful than

Il DK/RTA
conventional cigarette

E-cigarette  Waterpipe E-cigarette ~ Waterpipe
(n=4,432)  tobacco (n=1,510)  tobacco
(n=1,953) (n=502)

Harmfulness (All) Harmfulness (CS)

All: All respondents; CS: Current smokers; DK/RTA: Don't know or refused to answer. Only respondents who heard of e-cigarettes or waterpipe tobacco were
included. Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents; Percentages were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong

population.



Figure 11

Support for tobacco control measures by smoking status (1)

I Neversmokers [ Ex-smokers [ Current smokers
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Plain packaging
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tobacco displays
(n=1,546)
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541 55.2 517

Total ban on Total ban on Prohibit children
smoking sale of tobacco bornin 2017 or
(n=2,008) (n=2,008) after from

smoking (n=2,008)

Sample sizes (n) refer to the actual number of respondents. Percentages were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong population.

Figure 12

Support for tobacco control measures by
smoking status (Il) (n=2,008)

@ Neversmokers [ Ex-smokers I Current smokers Total

90
go] Sps 79 778739 7.
70 656647 64
60
% 4518 M7
30
20
10
0

AmendtheSmoking Regulatetobacco Seta cigarette sale Totalbanonsmokln
(Public Health) industry's profit  quota that decreases whenprevalenceo
Ordinance (Cap. 371) yearbyyear  daily smokers decreases

to 5% or lower

Sample size (n) refers to the actual number of respondents. Percentages
were weighted by age, sex and smoking status to the 2017 Hong Kong
population.

4. Discussion

TCPS 2017 showed consistent results with the government'’s
Thematic Household Survey (THS) in mean daily cigarette
consumption (TCPS: 12.9; THS: 12.4), and added that about
one-fourth of the current smokers had strong nicotine
dependence (time to the first smoking after waking up
is within 5 minutes). Our TCPS showed that about half
of current smokers (50.6%) had no intention to quit
smoking. About 28% of them ambivalently expressed
a wish to quit smoking but without a quit date. As they
reported “Yes, after 6 months or some other time”,
the proportion of intending to quit may be inflated.

The low motivation to quit in current smokers is the main
reason for the low utilization of smoking cessation service
(13.3%) and products (26.7%). More resources for promoting
smoking cessation and increasing the accessibility of the
services are needed.

As Hong Kong is a densely populated area and most people
live in multi-unit high-rise buildings, SHS exposure in homes
from smoke drifted in from outside (22.3%), workplace
(25.4%), and public areas (68.6%) is still common. The current
smoke-free legislation is still insufficient to protect many non-
smokers from SHS exposure in homes and many public areas.
Meanwhile, our TCPS showed very strong public support
for the extension of smoke-free areas in public transport
stops, pedestrian walkways, busy streets, entrances of office
buildings, etc. These findings highlight the urgent need and
demand from a great majority of the public, and we strongly
recommend the HKSAR Government to proceed quickly for
further expansion of statutory no smoking areas.

Increasing tobacco tax is the most effective measure to reduce
smoking and greatly reduce socioeconomic inequalities in
smoking® *. Our TCPS over the years has repeatedly shown
that public support for tax increase is very strong. To motivate
smokers to quit or reduce smoking, the median retail price
should be HK$100, which means almost doubling the
current price of around HK$57 per pack, and is closer to the
retail price in Australia (about HK$154), New Zealand (about
HK$133), Norway (about HK$103) and UK (about HK$94). New
Zealand, Australia, UK, and Canada (Ontario) have adopted
a long-term and continuous plan to increase tobacco tax
every year. Therefore, we strongly recommend the HKSAR
Government to substantially increase tobacco tax by 100%
next year, and adopt regular and substantial increases in
tobacco tax in the long-run.
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Our TCPS has demonstrated the different popularity in two
new tobacco products: e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco, and
re-emerging waterpipe tobacco. E-cigarettes have got a very
high level of awareness, and had been ever used by about
one-fourth of current smokers. However, very few habitually
used it for a long time. HNB tobacco is at an earlier stage of
popularity in Hong Kong. Only about 8.9% of current smokers
had ever tried HNB tobacco. Waterpipe tobacco has similar
awareness level as e-cigarettes and had been ever used by
36.7% of current smokers. Further breakdown of these figures
by age and smoking characteristics would need studies of
larger sample size. Also, the growing trend of using HNB and
waterpipe tobacco should be monitored continuously. The
majority of respondents perceived these products as less
harmful than conventional cigarettes, or did not know clearly
the harmfulness, suggesting the need for public education
about the harms of these tobacco products. The prevalence
of using these forms of tobacco has been increasing
dramatically in the US and Europe. Hong Kong would follow
and the problems would become out of control unless these
products are prohibited promptly.

Plain packaging®®’, banning POS tobacco displays®*'°and
increasing the legal age of purchasing cigarettes from 18
to 21" ™ are policies that have been implemented in other
countries, and are effective to reduce tobacco use in smokers,
ex-smokers and the younger generation. Our TCPS showed
very strong public support for these new policies. Moreover,
all these policies were supported by more than half of current
smokers. The Government and policy makers should not
yield to oppositions from the tobacco industry and related
alliances in the legislation of these policies.

Several factors support Hong Kong to implement new
tobacco control measures. First, a wide variety of tobacco
control measures has been implemented and free smoking
cessation services are available for decades. This forms a good
foundation and environment for the implementation of more
stringent policies. Second, it has one of the lowest smoking
prevalence in the developed regions and hence is faster to
achieve the endgame (<5% smoking prevalence) than other
regions. Lastly, our TCPS has shown a strong support for
those new strategies. The HKSAR Government should seize
the opportunity to implement much more stringent tobacco
control policies to achieve the Government’s goal to lower
the smoking prevalence to 7.8% by 2025.

5. Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, the term “current
smokers” refers to both daily and occasional smokers and
“ex-smokers” refers to ex-daily and ex-occasional smokers.
Yet for the purposes of this survey, it was not necessary to
distinguish between daily and occasional use. Second, all
information was collected by telephone survey which did
not allow face-to-face interaction with and verification of
smoking status by the interviewer. However, this method can
ensure anonymity and so might collect more truthful data.

Third, it was a cross-sectional survey. A cohort study or panel
survey with longitudinal data would be better in measuring
changes within the same individual over time.

6. Conclusions

TCPS 2017 findings showed very strong public support to
strengthen the existing tobacco control measures, ban or
regulate the new tobacco products and implement novel
measures. Much more resources for the social marketing
of smoking cessation, implementation of effective policies,
and continuous monitoring and evaluations are needed to
achieve a single digit smoking prevalence in the next few
years, and to reach the HKSAR Government’s and COSH's
targets. Moreover, future TCPS should assess the effectiveness
of the tobacco control efforts and provide scientific evidence
to step up tobacco control measures towards the endgame
and a smoke-free Hong Kong.
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